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Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with United States (“U.S.”) generaltgepted accounting principles
(“GAAP”) in U.S. dollars. Unless otherwise indicdtell amounts in this report are in U.S. dollard &.S. GAAP.

Any reference to 2012, 2011 and 2010 correspondasrtéiscal years ended December 29, 2012, DeceBihe&2011, and January 1, 2011,
respectively.

Forward-looking statements

In addition to historical information, this repoatd the reports and documents incorporated byerse in this report, may contain
statements relating to future events and futuralt®esrhese statements are “forward-looking” wittiie meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and applicable Carsadsecurities legislation and involve known andnawin risks, uncertainties, future
expectations and other factors that may causelaetts, performance or achievements of Cott G@tion to be materially different from any
future results, performance or achievements expdessimplied by such forward-looking statementsctSstatements include, but are not
limited to, statements that relate to projectiohsades, earnings, earnings per share, cash fleapétal expenditures or other financial items,
discussions of estimated future revenue enhanceraadtcost savings. These statements also relate tiusiness strategy, goals and
expectations concerning our market position, fuaperations, margins, profitability, liquidity acdpital resources. Generally, words such as
“anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” “endavor,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “will" “plan,” “predict,” “project,” “should” and
similar terms and phrases are used to identify dodwooking statements in this report and in theutieents incorporated in this report by
reference. These forward-looking statements reflenent expectations regarding future events gedating performance and are made only as
of the date of this report.

The forward-looking statements are not guarantéégure performance or events and, by their natare based on certain estimates and
assumptions regarding interest and foreign excheatgs, expected growth, results of operationgppeance, business prospects and
opportunities and effective income tax rates, wlsighsubject to inherent risks and uncertaintiestelial factors or assumptions that were
applied in drawing a conclusion or making an estinszt out in forward-looking statements may ineluglit are not limited to, assumptions
regarding management’s current plans and estimategbility to remain a low cost supplier, anceefive management of commodity costs.
Although we believe the assumptions underlyingeHesward-looking statements are reasonable, atlyese assumptions could prove to be
inaccurate and, as a result, the forward-lookiatestents based on those assumptions could prdaeeitaorrect. Our operations involve risks
and uncertainties, many of which are outside ofamntrol, and any one or any combination of thésesrand uncertainties could also affect
whether the forward-looking statements ultimateiyve to be correct. These risks and uncertaintielside, but are not limited to, those
described in Part I, ltem 1A. “Risk Factors” angesVhere in this report and those described frore tantime in our future reports filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and Gianasecurities regulatory authorities.

We undertake no obligation to update any infornmationtained in this report or to publicly release tesults of any revisions to forward-
looking statements to reflect events or circumsgaraf which we may become aware of after the datigioreport. Undue reliance should not be
placed on forward-looking statements.

All future written and oral forward-looking statents attributable to us or persons acting on oualeie expressly qualified in their
entirety by the foregoing.
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PART |

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Our Company

Cott Corporation, together with its consolidatedssdiaries (“Cott,” “the Company,” “our Company,Cbtt Corporation,” “we,” “us,” or
“our”), is one of the world’s largest producersbefverages on behalf of retailers, brand ownersdéatdbutors. Our product lines include
carbonated soft drinks (“CSDs"), 100% shelf stgblee and juice-based products, clear, still aratldpng flavored waters, energy products,
sports products, new age beverages, and readynotdas, as well as alcoholic beverages for bamders. Our business operates through five
reporting segments—North America (which includes L. operating segment and Canada operating segrimited Kingdom (“U.K.")

(which includes our United Kingdom reporting umideour Continental European reporting unit), MexiRoyal Crown International (“RCI”)
and All Other.

We incorporated in 1955 and are governed by thed@aBusiness Corporations Act. Our registered Ganadfice is located at 333 Avro
Avenue, Pointe-Claire, Quebec, Canada H9R 5W3 angrincipal executive offices are located at 5819 dlewild Avenue, Tampa, Florida,
United States 33634 and 6525 Viscount Road, Miasgs, Ontario, Canada L4V 1H6.

Competitive Strengths

We believe that our competitive strengths will deals to maintain our position as one of the warldrgest beverage companies on be
of retailers, brand owners and distributors andl alibw us to capitalize on future opportunitiesttive sustainable and profitable growth.

Leading Producer of Private-Label Beverages with Diverse Product Portfolio and Contract Manufacturing Capabilities

We currently have the leading private-label masgketre in each of the United States, Canada arldrtited Kingdom by annual volume of
cases produced. We also manufacture beveragesantract basis for certain customers. Our prodoeslinclude CSDs, 100% shelf stable j
and juice-based products, clear, still and spagiiavored waters, energy products, sports produets age beverages, and ready-to-drink teas,
as well as alcoholic beverages for brand ownersb®&lleve our proven ability to innovate and devedop product portfolio to meet changing
consumer demand will position us well to continoisérve our customers and their consumers. Dufidg,2ve launched more than 100 new
product stock keeping units (“SKUs”), including n#levor profiles, new package types and new prodatggory introductions for our
customers.

We market or supply over 500 retailer, licensed @othpany-owned brands in our four core geogramgoents. We sell CSD
concentrates and non-carbonated concentrates irbwountries. We believe that our leadershiptjmosiour broad portfolio offering and our
existing infrastructure will enable us to contirtogenetrate the private-label and contract maturfing markets, whether it is winning new
customers, launching new product SKUs with existingtomers, or supplying retailers who currentlf+is@nufacture.

Extensive, Flexible Manufacturing Capabilities

Our business is supported by our extensive manufagtnetwork and flexible production capabiliti€ur manufacturing footprint
encompasses 33 strategically located beverage aaartifig and fruit processing facilities, includia@ in the United States, five in Canada, six
in the United Kingdom and one in Mexico, as welbag vertically-integrated global concentrate mantifring facility in Columbus, Georgia.

We are the only dedicated beverage company proglacirbehalf of retailers, brand owners and distatsuwith a manufacturing footprint
across North America. Manufacturing flexibilitydse of our core competencies and is critical tosmarcess, as our products will typically
feature customized packaging, design and grapbiasur key customers. Our ability to produce migdtisKUs and packages on our production
lines and manage complexities through quick-linengfeover processes differentiates us from our ctiiope

High Levels of Customer Service and Strong Customer | ntegration

Our business requires a high level of coordinatiith our customers in areas such as supply chatiust development and customer
service. In addition to efficiently managing compproduct manufacturing, we have a proven trackneof maintaining high service levels
across our customer base. We also partner closglycustomers on supply chain planning and exenutianinimize freight costs, reduce
working capital requirements and increasstiore product availability. We work as partnergwatir customers on new product development
packaging designs. Our role includes providing reaexpertise as well as knowledge of category s¢hdt may present opportunities for our
customers. A high level of customer integration pattnership coupled with a nationwide manufactufootprint is critical for the development
of successful beverage programs for our customers.
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Strategic |mportance to Our Customers

We have longstanding partnerships with many oftbed’s leading retailers in the grocery, mass-rharalise and drug store channels, as
well as customers for whom we manufacture beveragescontract basis, giving our customers aceebigh-quality, affordable beverages. C
competitive advantages include:

* beverage manufacturing experti

» vertically integrated, lo-cost production platforr

*  0One-stop sourcing

» category insights and marketing expert

» supply chain and high quality consistency in praguand
* product innovation and differentiatio

For 2012, our top 10 customers accounted for 54aP#étal revenue. Walmart was the only customer éisaounted for more than 10% of
our total revenue for the period. We have estabtidhng-standing relationships with most of our i@pcustomers. As a result of our high
product quality and commitment to service, coupléith a national manufacturing footprint, we beliave will continue to play a meaningful
role in helping our customers develop strategidsuttnl loyalty with consumers.

Business Strategy

Our primary goal is to maintain long-term profitétigiand enhance our position as the market leaddrpreferred supplier of beverages on
behalf of retailers, brand owners, and distribuborhe markets where we operate. Continued lehgteis our core markets will enable us to
sustain and grow profitability as we drive for ieased penetration and share growth within our jparéuct categories. We believe that the
following strategies will help us to achieve ouago

Maintain Customer Focus

Customer relationships are important for any bussinbut at Cott, where many of our products beacostomers’ brand names, we must
maintain particularly close partnerships with oustomers. We will continue to provide our custonweith high quality products and service at
an attractive value that will help them provide ligyavalue-oriented products to their consumers.

We will continue to focus on our high levels of tareer service, as well as innovations through tiv@duction of new packages, flavors
and varieties of beverages. We believe our focusunrtustomers will enable us to leverage our mgstelationships and to develop new one
existing and new markets. As a fast follower ofowative products, our goal is to identify new prodithat are succeeding in the marketplace
and develop similar products of high quality for customers to offer their consumers at a bettiereva

Control Operating Costs

We understand that our long-term success will beaty tied to our ability to remain a low-cost sligap Effective management of our
operating costs is critical to our success. As pholur ongoing management of costs, we enterdatract commitments with suppliers of key
raw materials such as aluminum sheet metal, higttdse corn syrup (“HFCS”), polyethylene tereptdatea(“PET”) bottles, caps and preforms,
fruit and fruit concentrates. On an ongoing basisreview our fixed overhead and manufacturing clastspportunities for further reductions.
2010, we implemented modest cost reductions asowencied to reduce overhead costs, consistentthdtitost reduction program implemented
in 2009. In 2011, we transformed the Company'srmfation technology function from a nearly 100% outged, single vendor relationship to a
combination of in-house resources and mdtidor strategy, significantly reducing our totgbrmation technology spending. In 2012, we be
to vertically integrate our manufacturing capailgittin order to manufacture our products with inseal efficiency and at a lower cost.

3
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Control Capital Expenditures and Rigorously Manage Working Capital

Consistent with our status as a low-cost supplierleverage our existing manufacturing capacitynéntain an efficient supply chain. We
are committed to carefully prioritizing our capitalestments that provide the best financial rezdan Cott and for our customers, while
maintaining safety, efficiency and superior prodyeality. Our manufacturing facilities operate adiog to the highest standards of safety and
product quality. We perform regular third-party asiaf our facilities and are subject to qualitydas on behalf of our customers. We will
continue to evaluate growth and other opportunitidsle remaining mindful of our total capital exquhture targets.

In 2012, our capital expenditures were devoted ariipnto maintaining existing beverage productianifities, making equipment upgrac
and expansion in the United States, the United #ongand Canada and expenditures related to véytinegrating our manufacturing
capabilities.

Cash Flow Management

We believe that a strong financial position wilbéfe us to capitalize on opportunities in the minleee. As a result, we continuously
review and improve the effectiveness of our cashagament processes. We strive to achieve the rmtistal working capital level, rationalize
our capital expenditures and continuously driverafieg cost improvements to enhance cash flow.

Pursue Select Acquisitions

We believe that opportunities exist for us to ereaour scale, reduce fixed manufacturing costssaoaden our product portfolio. In
August 2010, we completed the acquisition of sutigthy all of the assets and liabilities of Clifés Corporation (“Cliffstar”) and its affiliated
companies (the “Cliffstar Acquisition”) for an aggate purchase price of $552.8 million, which pded us with a foothold in the North
America private-label juice market. In March of 20bur U.K. reporting segment acquired a beveragengholesale business based in Scotland
for approximately $5.0 million. The business aciiais provided increased product offerings, logiatisynergies and access to an additional
production line. We intend to continue to evaluatd pursue strategic opportunities to enhancenolwsiry position, strengthen our business
build value for our shareholders.

Principal Markets and Products

We estimate that as of the end of 2012, we prod(eiguer directly or through third party manufaes with whom we have co-packing
agreements) a majority of all retailer brand CSBd jaice sold in the United States, as well as pority of all retailer brand CSDs and sports
and energy products sold in the United Kingdom.

We have a diversified product portfolio across magverage categories, including beverages thairateend with consumer demand. In
2012, CSDs, juice, concentrate, and all other prtsdiepresented 39.1%, 24.2%, 1.9% and 34.8% arcargage of revenue, respectively. In
2011, CSDs, juice, concentrate, and all other prtsdiepresented 40.7%, 25.8%, 1.6% and 31.9% ascargage of revenue, respectively. In
2010, CSDs, juice, concentrate, and all other prtsdepresented 50.4%, 13.1%, 2.2% and 34.3% ascargage of revenue, respectively.

We believe that opportunities exist to increasessaf beverages in our core markets by leveragiisgirg customer relationships,
capitalizing on cross-selling and spiling opportunities, obtaining new customers, afacturing beverages (including alcoholic beveragesa
contract basis for new and existing customers,ceikg new channels of distribution and introducimeyv products.

Restructuring Initiatives

In 2007, we implemented the North American Realigntrand Cost Reduction Plan (the “North AmericaanBlto consolidate the
management of our Canadian and U.S. businessddddta American basis, among other objectives.db® we paid the remaining lease
termination costs incurred in connection with therth American Plan.

We did not incur any restructuring charges in 2002011, and we do not anticipate incurring anyiteatal restructuring charges related
to the North American Plan in the future.

Financial Information about Segments

For financial information about reporting segmearig geographic areas, see Note 9 to the consdalifiatencial statements contained in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Manufacturing and Distribution Network

Substantially all of our beverages are manufactimédcilities that we, or third-party manufactusevith whom we have long-term co-
packing agreements, either own or lease. We rethioth parties to produce and distribute productareas or markets where we do not have our
own production facilities, such as in continentat@e, or when additional production capacity tguieed.

Our products are either picked up by our custoraeosir facilities or delivered by us, a common iegyor third-party distributors to our
customers’ distribution centers or to retail looas.

Ingredient and Packaging Supplies

In addition to water, the principal raw materiagsguired to produce our products are aluminum cadsads, PET bottles, caps and
preforms, labels, cartons and trays, sweetenerh,asHFCS and sugar, fruit concentrates and fro#.cost of these raw materials can fluctuate
substantially over time.

Under many of our supply arrangements for thesematerials, the price we pay fluctuates along wéttain changes in underlying
commodity costs, such as aluminum in the caserd ead ends, resin in the case of PET bottles,aragpreforms, corn in the case of HFCS,
fruit and fruit concentrates. We believe that w# e able to either renegotiate contracts witlséhsuppliers when they expire or find alterna
sources for supply. We also believe there is adeqigply of the ingredient and packaging matetiaédd to produce and package our products.

Generally, we bear the risk of increases in thésoofsthe ingredient and packaging materials usgatdduce our products, including the
underlying costs of the commodities used to manufadchem and, to some extent, the costs of cangetfiose commodities into the materials
we purchase.

Aluminum for cans and ends, resin for PET botit@ps and preforms, corn for HFCS, sugar, fruitfamitl concentrates are examples of
underlying commaodities for which we bear the risknareases in costs. In addition, the contraatcéotain of our ingredient and packaging
materials permit our suppliers to increase thescth&ty charge us based on increases in their Eoshwerting the underlying commodities into
the materials we purchase. In certain cases tihaseases are subject to negotiated limits. Chaingbeg prices we pay for ingredient and
packaging materials occur at times that vary bylpeb and supplier, and take place, on a monthlgrtgry or annual basis.

Crown Cork & Seal USA, Inc. (“CCS”) supplies us lwdluminum cans and ends under a contract entet@thi 2010 with a multi-year
term. The contract provides that CCS will supply aluminum cans and ends requirements worldwidggestito certain exceptions. The cont
contains pricing mechanisms for certain materiats @presentations, warranties, indemnities amditation events (including termination
events related to bankruptcy or insolvency of eitiaty) that we believe to be customary. In 204 had fixed price commitments for a
majority of our forecasted aluminum requirements2@12 and entered into fixed price commitmentsafanajority of our aluminum
requirements for 2013 and a portion of our alumimeguirements for 2014.

PET resin prices have fluctuated significantlydueent years as the price of oil has fluctuateddamdand for synthetic fibers has increased.
Because PET resin is not a traded commodity, reglfprice mechanism has been implemented, and vezeppay prevailing market prices
our PET resin needs. Although PET resin is noadetdl commodity, at times we are able to entershtwt-term fixed price commitments.
During 2012, we entered into fixed price commitnsefior a portion of our PET resin requirements far $econd and third quarter of the year.

Corn has a history of volatile price changes. Weeekthat corn market prices will continue to flete as a result of an increase in the
demand for corn-related products such as etham@012, we had fixed price commitments for all of BIFCS requirements for 2012 and
entered into fixed price commitments for all of &iFCS requirements for 2013. We do not have volaammitments for HFCS.

The sugar market is susceptible to volatility ad.vile 2012, we had fixed price commitments foraflour sugar requirements for 2012
entered into fixed price commitments for all of sugar requirements for 2013.

Fruit and fruit concentrate prices have been, aaéxpect them to continue to be, subject to sicgnifi volatility. While fruit is available
from numerous independent suppliers, these rawrialst@re subject to fluctuations in price attritale to, among other things, changes in crop
size and federal and state agricultural program20IL2, we had fixed price commitments for a mgjasf our fruit concentrate and fruit
requirements for 2012 and entered into fixed pcm@mitments for a portion of our fruit concentrate fruit requirements for 2013.

5
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Trade Secrets, Copyrights, Trademarks and Licenses

We sell the majority of our beverages under rat&itands to customers who own the trademarks adedaivith those products. We also
own registrations, or applications to registerjoas trademarks that are important to our worldwidsiness, includin@ott®, Red Rairf and
Orient Emporium Tea Cd"™ in the United States, Canada, and the Unitegd#dm,Stars & Stripe®, Vess®, Vintage®, So Clear® , Shanstar
®, Harvest Classi® , Chadwick BaandGolden CrowrPin the United State§merge® , Red Rooster , MaéB CarteérandBen Shaw$
in the United KingdomStars & Stripe® in Mexico, andRC®in more than 100 countries and territories outsiddorth America. Moreover, we
are licensed to use certain trademarks suélégdamaica Ginger Beer™ndTing™ in the United Kingdom. The licenses to which we are a
party are of varying terms, including some thategpetual. Trademark ownership is generally oéfimite duration when marks are properly
maintained in commercial use.

Our success depends in part on our intellectugdgsty, which includes trade secrets in the formafcentrate formulas for our beverages
and trademarks for the names of the beveragesiiv@ a@rotect this intellectual property, we rgdsincipally on registration of trademarks,
contractual responsibilities and restrictions ireggnents (such as indemnification, nondisclosudecanfidentiality agreements) with
employees, consultants and customers, and on theoa law and/or statutory protections afforded&démarks, copyrights, trade secrets and
proprietary “know-how."We also closely monitor the use of our trademanikbwahen necessary vigorously pursue any partyitifrages on ou
trademarks, using all available legal remedies.

Seasonality of Sales and Working Capital

The beverage market is subject to some seasornaltioas. Our beverage sales are generally highengithe warmer months and also can
be influenced by the timing of holidays and weathestuations. Our purchases of raw materials atated accounts payable fluctuate based
upon the demand for our products as well as thiagjrof the fruit growing seasons. The seasonafityur sales volume combined with the
seasonal nature of fruit growing causes our workimgjtal needs to fluctuate throughout the yeah wiventory levels increasing in the first h
of the year in order to meet high summer demand vath fruit inventories peaking during the lastqter of the year when purchases are made
after the growing season. In addition, our accotsteivable balances decline in the fall as custsipay their higher-than-average outstanding
balances from summer deliveries.

Customers

A significant portion of our revenue is concentdsite a small number of customers. Our customelsidiecmany large national and
regional grocery, mass-merchandise, drugstore,eghtd and convenience store chains, as well asneest for whom we manufacture
beverages on a contract basis. For 2012, salesbm&t accounted for 31.0% (2011—31.6%, 2010—31.6R6ur total revenue, 36.3% of our
North America reporting segment revenue (—35.9%, 2010—35.3%), 14.9% of our U.K. reportingrsent revenue (2011—14.6%, 2010—
16.6%) and 21.6% of our Mexico reporting segmewnemnee (2011—44.7%, 2010—38.9%). Walmart was thg cmstomer that accounted for
more than 10% of our total revenue in those periSdtes to our top ten customers in 2012, 20112840 accounted for 54.2%, 55.1% and
55.4%, respectively, of our total revenue. We ekfieat sales of our products to a limited numbecustomers will continue to account for a
high percentage of revenue for the foreseeabledutihe loss of any customers that individuallynothe aggregate represent a significant
portion of our revenue, or a decline in sales &s¢hcustomers, would have a material adverse effiectir operating results and cash flow.

We supply Walmart and its affiliated companies,emahnual non-exclusive supply agreements, witareety of products in the United
States, Canada, the United Kingdom, and Mexicdudticg CSDs, clear, still and sparkling flavoredtera, 100% shelf stable juice, juice-based
products, bottled water, energy products, spoddumts, new age beverages, and readyrituk teas. In 2012, we supplied Walmart with dlite
private-label CSDs in the United States. In theneVéalmart were to utilize additional supplierdufill a portion of its requirements for CSDs,
our operating results could be materially adverséfigcted.

Research and Development

We engage in a variety of research and developawiities. These activities principally involveetidevelopment of new products,
improvement in the quality of existing productspiovement and modernization of production processes the development and
implementation of new technologies to enhance tladity and value of both current and proposed peotines. Consumer research is excluded
from research and development costs and includethar marketing costs. Research and developmetg aere $2.8 million in 2012, $2.5
million in 2011 and $3.1 million in 2010 and areluded as a component of selling, general and ddirative expenses.
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Competition

We compete against a wide range of companies thdtipe, directly and on a contract basis, andomssierages including CSDs, 100%
shelf stable juice and juice-based products, cit#irand sparkling flavored waters, energy prddusports products, new age beverages, and
ready-todrink teas, and alcoholic beverages. While CSDsG8D concentrate accounted for 63.0% of our 20%2 galume, they accounted
41.1% of our 2012 revenue. The non-CSD productergéad 37.0% of our 2012 case volume and 58.9%102@12 revenue.

We compete principally in the non-alcoholic bevesagategory, which is highly competitive in eadjioa in which we operate.
Competition for incremental volume is intense. Bn@nds owned by the four major national soft ddoknpanies, Coca-Cola, Pepsi, Nestle
Waters North America and Dr. Pepper Snapple (fasn@adbury Schweppes), control 69% of the total GBID alternative beverage category
within the United States. These companies havefigignt financial resources and spend heavily anmtional programs. They also have direct
store delivery systems in North America, which dedbeir personnel to visit retailers frequenthypromote new items, stock shelves and build
displays. We also face competition in the juiceegaty from juice brands such as Welch'’s, OceanySgpnd Mott's.

In addition, we face competition in North Ameritiae United Kingdom and Mexico from regional beveraganufacturers who sell
aggressively-priced brands and, in many casessalgoly retailer brand products. A few larger UeSailers also self-manufacture products for
their own needs and continually approach otherleesaseeking additional business.

We seek to differentiate ourselves from our comgetiby offering our customers efficient distrilmtimethods, high-quality products,
category management strategies, packaging and timgyls¢rategies, and superior service.

Government Regulation and Environmental Matters

The production, distribution and sale in the UniBtdtes of many of our products are subject td-#ueral Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act,
the Federal Trade Commission Act, the Lanham Aatesconsumer protection laws, federal, state acal Wworkplace health and safety laws,
various federal, state and local environmentalgmtiin laws and various other federal, state acal Istatutes and regulations applicable to the
production, transportation, sale, safety, advenisiabeling and ingredients of such products. iQatthe United States, the production,
distribution and sale of our many products andteel@perations are also subject to numerous simuildrother statutes and regulations.

A number of states have passed laws setting foatimivwg or labeling requirements relating to produntde for human consumption. For
example, the California law known as “Propositidi equires that a specific warning appear on awwgpct sold in California containing a
substance listed by that state as having been fmucause cancer or reproductive toxicity. This,land others like it, exposes all food and
beverage producers to the possibility of havingrtwvide warnings on their products. The detectibeven a trace amount of a listed substance
can subject an affected product to the requiremeatwarning label, although products containisteldl substances that occur naturally or that
are contributed to such products solely by a mpaiovater supply are generally exempt from the wa@rnequirement. From time to time over
the past several years, certain of our customers feceived notices alleging that the labeling iregoents of the relevant state regulation would
apply to products manufactured by us and sold bgthirhere can be no assurance that we will notibersely affected by actions against our
customers or us relating to Proposition 65 or simffailure to warn” laws.

We currently offer and use non-refillable recycéabbntainers in the United States and other caméniound the world. We also offer and
use refillable containers, which are also recyeabégal requirements apply in various jurisdicsiam the United States and other countries
requiring that deposits or certain ecotaxes or figesharged for the sale, marketing and use ddicenbn-refillable beverage containers. The
precise requirements imposed by these measuresQtmgr types of beverage container-related depesiycling, ecotax and/or product
stewardship statutes and regulations also applgrious jurisdictions in the United States and egas. We anticipate that additional, similar
legal requirements may be proposed or enacteckifutore at local, state and federal levels, botthé United States and elsewhere.

All of our beverage production facilities and otlogerations are subject to various environmentatigption statutes and regulations,
including those of the U.S. Environmental Protattigency, which pertain to the use of water resesiand the discharge of waste water.
Failure to comply with these regulations can haaréss consequences, including civil and adminisegenalties. Compliance with these
provisions has not had, and we do not expect sogtpliance to have, any material adverse effectuwrCompany’s capital expenditures, net
income or competitive position. However, as diseddselow, changes in how the Ontario Ministry & Environment enforces the Ontario
Environmental Protection Act could result in ouving to make material expenditures for environmiectapliance.
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Subject to the terms and conditions of the appléegablicies, we have coverage for product recaills product liability claims that could
result from the injury, illness or death of consusngsing our products, contamination of our prosiuct damage to or mislabeling of our
products.

The Ontario Environmental Protection Act (“OEPA”)

OEPA regulations provide that a minimum percentagebottler’s soft drink sales within specifiegtas in Ontario must be made in
refillable containers. The penalty for noompliance is a fine of $50,000 per day beginnipgruwhen the first offense occurs and continuet
the first conviction, and then increasing to $100,Per day for each subsequent conviction. Thess finay be increased to equal the amount of
monetary benefit acquired by the offender as atre§the commission of the offense.

We, and we believe other industry participants,careently not in compliance with the requiremeritthe OEPA. To comply with these
requirements we, and we believe many other indysrticipants, would have to significantly increasdes in refillable containers to a minim
refillable sales ratio of 30%. We do not expedbéan compliance with these regulations in thedeeable future. Ontario is not enforcing the
OEPA at this time, despite the fact that it id stileffect and not amended, but if it choosesrtfoeee it in the future, we could incur fines for
non-compliance and the possible prohibition of saliesoft drinks in non-refillable containers int@mo. We estimate that approximately 3% of
our Canada operating segment sales would be affegtéhe possible limitation of sales of soft denk non-refillable containers in Ontario if
the Ontario Ministry of the Environment initiated action to enforce the provisions of the OEPA iasgfails. Moreover, the Ontario Ministry of
the Environment released a report in 1997 statingthese OEPA regulations are “outdated and uratbek’ However, despite the
“unworkable” nature of the OEPA regulations, theyé not yet been revoked.

We believe that the magnitude of the potentialditieat we could incur if the Ontario Ministry oftlEnvironment chose to enforce these
regulations is such that the costs to us of nonptiamce could be, although are not contemplatdzktonaterial. However, our management
believes that probability of such enforcement imote.

Employees

As of December 29, 2012, we had 3,960 employeeshofm 2,731 were in the North America reportingrsegt, 937 were in the U.K.
reporting segment, 277 were in the Mexico reporsiegment and 15 were in the combined RCI/All Otkeorting segments. We have entered
into collective bargaining agreements covering 82fployees in the United States, Canada and Melatacbntain terms that we believe are
typical in the beverage industry. As these agre¢srexpire, we believe that they can be renegotiatetrms satisfactory to us. We consider our
relations with employees to be generally good.

Availability of Information and Other Matters

We are required to file annual, quarterly and autrreports, proxy statements and other informatiih the SEC and Canadian securities
regulatory authorities. The public may read andycapy materials that we file with the SEC at theC3HEPublic Reference Room at 100 F Str
NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. Information in the RuBleference Room may be obtained by calling thé 8E-800-551-8090. In addition, the
SEC maintains an Internet site that contains repprbxy and information statements, and otherinétion regarding issuers that file with the
SEC at www.sec.gov. Information filed with the Cdiaa securities regulatory authorities is availaileww.sedar.com.

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, quarterly reporsForm 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amedato reports filed or
furnished pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(dh@Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amende@|soeavailable free of charge on our
website at www.cott.com, as soon as reasonablyipahte after such material is electronically filith, or furnished to, the SEC. The
information found on our website is not part okthi any other report that we file with, or furntshthe SEC or to Canadian securities regul:
authorities.

We are responsible for establishing and maintaiathgguate internal control over financial reportaisgequired by the SEC. See
“Management’s Report on Internal Control over FitiahReporting” in Item 9A.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

In addition to the other information set forth mstreport, you should carefully consider the fafilog factors, which could materially affe
our business, financial condition or future resulise risks described below are not the only riks we face. Additional risks and uncertainties
not currently known to us or that we currently deerbe immaterial also may materially adverselgetfour business, financial condition or
results of operations.
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We may be unable to compete successfully in the hig competitive beverage category.

The markets for our products are extremely conipetitn comparison to the major national brand lbage manufacturers, we are a
relatively small participant in the industry. Weéacompetition from the national brand beverageufaturers in all of our markets, from other
retailer brand beverage manufacturers and fronr aihr@ract beverage manufacturers. If our compstiteduce their selling prices, increase the
frequency of their promotional activities in oureanarket or enter into the production of privatbel products or expand their contract
manufacturing efforts, or if our customers do flwcate adequate shelf space for the beveragesipgys we could experience a decline in our
volumes, be forced to reduce pricing, forgo priteréases required to offset increased costs ofrraterials and fuel, increase capital and other
expenditures, or lose market share, any of whichdcadversely affect our profitability.

We may not be able to respond successfully to comaar trends related to our products.

Consumer trends with respect to the products wesekubject to change. Consumers are seekingased variety in their beverages, and
there is a growing interest among consumers, pheldth officials and government officials regagithe ingredients in our products, the
attributes of those ingredients and health andnes8l issues generally. In addition, some researdhealth advocates and dietary guidelines are
encouraging consumers to reduce consumption of swgeetened beverages, including those sweetertbdHWICS or other nutritive
sweeteners. As a result, consumer demand has eléétinfull-calorie CSDs and consumer demand hereased for products associated with
health and wellness, such as reduced-calorie C8&isy, enhanced water, teas and certain other adooicated beverages. Consumer
preferences may change due to a variety of otletor including the aging of the general populatthanges in social trends, the real or
perceived impact that the manufacturing of our potsl has on the environment, changes in consumeogtaphics, changes in travel, vacation
or leisure activity patterns, negative publicitguking from regulatory action or litigation agdimempanies in the industry, or a downturn in
economic conditions. Any of these changes may redoasumers’ demand for our products. There camwlassurance that we can develop or
be a “fast follower” of innovative products thaspand to consumer trends. Our failure to developvative products could put us at a
competitive disadvantage in the marketplace anduosiness and financial results could be adveedfédyted.

Because a small number of customers account for aggificant percentage of our sales, the loss of oeduction in sales to any significant
customer could have a material adverse effect on ptesults of operations and financial condition.

A significant portion of our revenue is concentdaite a small number of customers. Our customelsidiecmany large national and
regional grocery, mass-merchandise, drugstore,eght# and convenience store chains in our coreatsaok North America, the United
Kingdom and Mexico, as well as customers for whoemmanufacture beverages on a contract basis. 8aléalmart, our top customer in 2012,
2011 and 2010 accounted for 31.0%, 31.6% and 3Ir&8pectively, of our total revenue. Sales to oprten customers in 2012, 2011 and 2010
accounted for 54.2%, 55.1% and 55.4%, respectieélgur total revenue. We expect that sales ofppaducts to a limited number of customers
will continue to account for a high percentage wf @venue for the foreseeable future.

The loss of Walmart or any significant customercustomers that in the aggregate represent a isigmiifportion of our revenue, or a
material reduction in the amount of business weettialte with any such customer or customers, coave fa material adverse effect on our
operating results and cash flows. Furthermore, auddche adversely affected if Walmart or any siigaifit customer reacts unfavorably to any
pricing of our products or decides to de-emphasizeduce their product offerings in the categowéh which we supply them. At
December 29, 2012, we had $225.0 million of customlationships recorded as an intangible asset.pEimanent loss of any customer
included in the intangible asset would result ip&nmment in the value of the intangible asset cebrated amortization and could lead to an
impairment of fixed assets that were used to serviat client.

Our ingredients, packaging supplies and other cos@re subject to price increases and we may be una&hio effectively pass rising costs on
to our customers.

We typically bear the risk of changes in pricegt@ingredient and packaging in our products. Thgrnty of our ingredient and
packaging supply contracts allow our suppliersltier ahe prices they charge us based on changdés itosts of the underlying commodities that
are used to produce them. Aluminum for cans and,eedin for PET bottles, caps and preforms, cartiCS, sugar, fruit and fruit
concentrates are examples of these underlying calities In addition, the contracts for certain af ingredient and packaging materials permit
our suppliers to increase the costs they chardpasisd on increases in their cost of convertingetiwslerlying commaodities into the materials
that we purchase. In certain cases those increasesibject to negotiated limits. These changéseiprices we pay for ingredient and packay
materials occur at times that vary by product amgpBer, and take place, on a monthly, quarterlgromual basis.
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We are at risk with respect to fluctuating aluminprites. In 2012, we had fixed price commitmentsafonajority of our forecasted
aluminum requirements for 2012, and entered ingedfiprice commitments for a majority of our alumimeequirements for 2013 and a portion
of our requirements for 2014. Because PET resimois traded commodity, no fixed price mechanisseen implemented, and we are
accordingly also at risk with respect to changeBHET prices. Corn, and thus HFCS, has a histowplattile price changes. In 2012, we had fi.
price commitments for all of our HFCS requiremdnts2012, and entered into fixed price commitmdatsall our HFCS requirements for 2013.
Sugar also has a history of volatile price changés entered into fixed price commitments for albaf sugar requirements for 2012 and 2013.
Fruit and fruit concentrate prices have been, ag@xpect them to continue to be, subject to sicgnifi volatility. While they are available from
numerous independent suppliers, these raw matarnalsubject to fluctuations in price attributailleamong other things, changes in crop size
and federal and state agricultural programs. 1220k had fixed price commitments for a majorityoaf fruit concentrate and fruit requireme
for 2012 and have entered into fixed price commitiséor a portion of our fruit concentrate and ffir@iquirements for 2013. If the cost of
commodities for which we have entered into fixetg@commitments decreases, we will not be ablake advantage of such decreased costs.

Accordingly, we bear the risk of fluctuations iretbosts of these ingredient and packaging matenlsiding the underlying costs of the
commodities used to manufacture them and, to soweate the costs of converting those commoditiés the materials we purchase. We
currently do not use derivatives to manage this ffghe cost of these ingredients or packagingemals increases, we may be unable to pass
these costs along to our customers through adjmssnie the prices we charge. If we cannot pass@setincreases to our customers on a timely
basis, they could have a material adverse effecuomesults of operations. If we are able to flagse costs on to our customers through price
increases, the impact those increased prices t@wiel on our volumes is uncertain.

Our beverage and concentrate production faciliteesa significant amount of electricity, naturat gad other energy sources to operate.
Fluctuations in the price of fuel and other enesgyrces for which we have not locked in long-terinipg commitments or arrangements would
affect our operating costs, which could impact puafitability.

If we fail to manage our operations successfully,uv business and financial results may be materialland adversely affected.

In recent years, we have grown our business anerage offerings primarily through the acquisitidrother companies, development of
new product lines and growth with key customers.b&keve that opportunities exist to increase salémverages in our markets by leveraging
existing customer relationships, obtaining new @ungrs, exploring new channels of distribution,adtrcing new products or identifying
appropriate acquisition or strategic alliance cdatiis. The success of this strategy with respeatdaisitions depends on our ability to manage
and integrate acquisitions and alliances into aistiég business. Furthermore, the businessesoalupt lines that we acquire or align with may
not be integrated successfully into our businegg@ve profitable. In addition to the foregoingtfars, our ability to expand our business in
foreign countries is also dependent on, and mdirited by, our ability to comply with the laws tife various jurisdictions in which we may
operate, as well as changes in local governmentatgns and policies in such jurisdictions. If feé to manage the geographic allocation of
production capacity surrounding customer demaridorth America, we may lose certain customer progoltime or have to utilize co-packers
to fulfill our customer capacity obligations, eittaf which could negatively impact our financiabudts.

Our geographic diversity subjects us to the risk oturrency fluctuations.

We conduct operations in many areas of the wanlehli/ing transactions denominated in a varietylofencies. We are subject to curre
exchange rate risk to the extent that our costsl@meminated in currencies other than those inlwvie earn revenues. In addition, because our
financial statements are denominated in U.S. dglieiranges in currency exchange rates between.$healullar and other currencies have had,
and will continue to have, an impact on our resofitsperations. While we may enter into financiahtsactions to address these risks, there can
be no assurance that currency exchange rate ftiartsawill not adversely affect our results of ogtewns, financial condition and cash flows. In
addition, while the use of currency hedging instentis may provide us with protection from advergetflations in currency exchange rates, by
utilizing these instruments we potentially forepe benefits that might result from favorable flattans in currency exchange rates.
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If we are unable to maintain relationships with ourraw material suppliers, we may incur higher supplycosts or be unable to deliver
products to our customers.

In addition to water, the principal raw materiagsguired to produce our products are aluminum cadsads, PET bottles, caps and
preforms, labels, cartons and trays, sweetenerh,asiHFCS and sugar, fruit and fruit concentraéesrely upon our ongoing relationships with
our key suppliers to support our operations.

We typically enter into annual or multi-year supplyangements with our key suppliers, meaningdbasuppliers are obligated to
continue to supply us with materials for one-yeamalti-year periods, at the end of which we miustes renegotiate the contracts with those
suppliers or find alternative sources for supplyeie can be no assurance that we will be ableheraienegotiate contracts (with similar or m
favorable terms) with these suppliers when theyrexgr, alternatively, if we are unable to renegtaticontracts with our key suppliers, there can
be no assurance that we could replace them. Wd edad incur higher ingredient and packaging suppbts in renegotiating contracts with
existing suppliers or replacing those suppliersyercould experience temporary disruptions in duilitg to deliver products to our customers,
either of which could have a material adverse éff@cour results of operations.

With respect to some of our key packaging supptiesh as aluminum cans and ends, and some of gumdgedients, such as sweeteners,
we have entered into long-term supply agreemdmts;emaining terms of which range from 12 to 60 thenand therefore we are assured of a
supply of those key packaging supplies and ingresliduring such terms. CCS supplies aluminum cadseads under a contract with a multi-
year term. The contract provides that CCS will $yppir aluminum can and end requirements worldwatibject to certain exceptions.
addition, the supply of specific ingredient andkzaging materials could be adversely affected byynfaators, including industry consolidation,
energy shortages, governmental controls, laboutksp natural disasters, transportation interraptimlitical instability, acts of war or terrorism
and other factors.

We have a significant amount of outstanding debt, ich could adversely affect our financial health ad future cash flows may not be
sufficient to meet our obligations.

As of December 29, 2012, our total debt was $665li8on. Our present debt and any future borrowingsld have important adverse
consequences to us and our investors, including:
* requiring a substantial portion of our cash floanfroperations to make interest payments on thig
» making it more difficult to satisfy debt servicedanther obligations
» increasing the risk of a future credit ratings dgvade of our debt, which would increase future delsts;
* increasing our vulnerability to general adversenecoic and industry condition

» reducing the cash flow available for share repusehato pay dividends, and to fund capital expanetand other corporate purpc
and to grow our busines

« limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reaatig to, changes in our business and the indu
» placing us at a competitive disadvantage to ourpaiitors that may not be as highly leveraged,;

» limiting our ability to borrow additional funds ageded or take advantage of business opporturstiek, as acquisitions, as tf
arise, pay cash dividends or repurchase commoR.:

To the extent we become more leveraged, the risksrihed above would increase. In addition, owaatash requirements in the future
may be greater than expected. We cannot assuréhgbaur business will generate sufficient castvflmm operations, or that future borrowi
will be available to us in amounts sufficient table us to pay our debt or to fund our other ligyideeds.

If we fail to generate sufficient cash flow fromtdve operations to meet our debt service obligatiore may need to refinance all or a
portion of our debt on or before maturity. We caressure you that we will be able to refinance efngur debt on attractive terms, commerci
reasonable terms or at all. If we cannot serviceefinance our indebtedness, we may have to tak@nacsuch as selling assets, seeking
additional equity or reducing or delaying capitgbenditures, strategic acquisitions, investmentsadiiances, any of which could impede the
implementation of our business strategy, preveiffitam entering into transactions that would otheembenefit our business and/or have a
material adverse effect on our financial condiol results of operations. Our future operatindgoperance and our ability to service or
refinance our debt will be subject to future ecoimoonditions and to financial, business and ofaetors, many of which are beyond our
control.
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Our asset-based lending (“ABL") facility, the inderture governing the 2017 Notes, and the indenture gerning the 2018 Notes each
contain various covenants limiting the discretion bour management in operating our business, whichazild prevent us from capitalizing
on business opportunities and taking some corporatactions.

Our ABL facility, the indenture governing the $2Q%nillion of senior notes that are due on Novenitir2017 (the “2017 Notes"and the
indenture governing the $375.0 million of seniotasthat are due on September 1, 2018 (the “2018sK)ceach impose significant operating
and financial restrictions on us. These restriciall limit or restrict, among other things, ouwilty and the ability of our restricted subsidisi
to:

* incur additional indebtednes

* make restricted payments (including paying dividead, redeeming, repurchasing or retiring our ehptbck);
* make investment:

* create liens

» sell assets

* enter into agreements restricting our subsidi’ ability to pay dividends, make loans or transfeseds to us

e engage in transactions with affiliates; ¢

» consolidate, merge or sell all or substantiallyohibur assets

These covenants are subject to important excepsiodsgjualifications. In addition, our ABL faciliglso requires us, under certain
circumstances, to maintain compliance with cerimiancial covenants as described in the “Covenamh@iance” section in Item 7. Our ability
to comply with this covenant may be affected byrésdeyond our control, including those descrilvethis “Risk Factors” section. A breach of
any of the covenants contained in our ABL facilitgluding our inability to comply with the finaradicovenant, could result in an event of
default, which would allow the lenders under ourlAfacility to declare all borrowings outstandinglde due and payable, which would in turn
trigger an event of default under the indentureegoing the 2017 Notes and the indenture goveriiag018 Notes and, potentially, our other
debt. At maturity or in the event of an accelemratid payment obligations, we would likely be unatiigay our outstanding debt with our cash
and cash equivalents then on hand. We would, thergbe required to seek alternative sources dfifign which may not be available on
commercially reasonable terms, terms as favorabtaiacurrent agreements or at all, or face bangyuff we are unable to refinance our debt
or find alternative means of financing our openagiove may be required to curtail our operationske other actions that are inconsistent with
our current business practices or strategy. Fatiaddl information about our ABL facility, see “Ndagement’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Ldlifyiand Capital Resources.”

A portion of our debt may be variable rate debt, an changes in interest rates could adversely affeas by causing us to incur higher
interest costs with respect to such variable rateeabt.

Our ABL facility subjects us to interest rate rigke rate at which we pay interest on amounts bardounder such facility fluctuates with
changes in interest rates and our debt leveragmrdingly, with respect to any amounts from timéinee outstanding under our ABL facility,
we are and will be exposed to changes in inteatssr If we are unable to adequately manage ourstieioture in response to changes in the
market, our interest expense could increase, whiakid negatively impact our financial condition anegdults of operations. As of December 29,
2012 we had no variable rate debt.

Our financial results may be negatively impacted bylobal financial events.

In recent years, global financial events have teduh the consolidation, failure or near failufeacumber of institutions in the banking,
insurance and investment banking industries and balstantially reduced the ability of companiegtitain financing. These events also
adversely affected the financial markets. Thesatsveould continue to have a number of differeféa$ on our business, including:

» areduction in consumer spending, which could teéswd reduction in our sales volun

* anegative impact on the ability of our customersrely pay their obligations to us or our vendrsimely supply materials, tht
reducing our cash flov

e anincrease in counterparty ri

« anincreased likelihood that one or more membemipbanking syndicate may be unable to honormitsmitments under our AB
facility; and

» restricted access to capital markets that may linitability to take advantage of business oppdias) such as acquisitior
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Other events or conditions may arise or persigttly or indirectly from the global financial everthat could negatively impact our
business.

We may not fully realize the expected cost savingsd/or operating efficiencies from our restructuring activities.

We have in the past implemented, and may in thedutplement, restructuring activities to suppbet implementation of key strategic
initiatives designed to achieve long-term sustdmgbowth. These activities are intended to maxénuar operating effectiveness and efficiency
and to reduce our costs. We cannot be assuredi¢haill achieve or sustain the targeted benefitdenthese programs or that the benefits, even
if achieved, will be adequate to meet our long-tgnowth expectations. In addition, the implemewptaf key elements of these activities may
have an adverse impact on our business, partigutathe near-term.

Substantial disruption to production at our beverag concentrates or other beverage production faciligs could occur.

A disruption in production at our beverage conaes production facility, which manufactures alrmadksbf our concentrates, could have a
material adverse effect on our business. In addigaadisruption could occur at any of our otheilitées or those of our suppliers, bottlers or
distributors. The disruption could occur for maegsons, including fire, natural disasters, weathanufacturing problems, disease, strikes,
transportation interruption, government regulatioterrorism. Alternative facilities with sufficiecapacity or capabilities may not be available,
may cost substantially more or may take a signititine to start production, each of which couldatévely affect our business and financial
performance.

Our success depends, in part, on our intellectualrpperty, which we may be unable to protect.

We possess certain intellectual property that {girtant to our business. This intellectual propergjudes trade secrets, in the form of the
concentrate formulas for most of the beverageswkatroduce, and trademarks for the names of therbges that we sell. While we own cer
of the trademarks used to identify our beveragég®rdrademarks are used through licenses frord gdrties or by permission from our
customers. Our success depends, in part, on dity abiprotect our intellectual property.

To protect this intellectual property, we rely mipally on registration of trademarks, contractesponsibilities and restrictions in
agreements (such as indemnification, nondiscloandeconfidentiality agreements) with employeessotiants and customers, and on common
law and statutory protections afforded to trademsattade secrets and proprietary “know-holm.&ddition, we vigorously protect our intellecti
property against infringements using any and ghleemedies available. Notwithstanding our effoss may not be successful in protecting our
intellectual property for a number of reasons,udaig:

» our competitors may independently develop intellacproperty that is similar to or better than o

* employees, consultants or customers may not alyidedtir contractual agreements and the cost ofreinig those agreements may
prohibitive, or those agreements may prove to lenfarceable or more limited than anticipat

» foreign intellectual property laws may not adeqlyapeotect our intellectual property rights; a
» our intellectual property rights may be succesgfdfallenged, invalidated or circumvent

If we are unable to protect our intellectual prapeour competitive position would weaken and walddace significant expense to prot
or enforce our intellectual property rights. At Betber 29, 2012, we had $45.0 million of rights &6 million of trademarks recorded as
intangible assets.

Occasionally, third parties may assert that we@renay be, infringing on or misappropriating thetellectual property rights. In these
cases, we intend to defend against claims or reggdicenses when we consider these actions apat@pintellectual property cases are
uncertain and involve complex legal and factualstjpes. If we become involved in this type of latgn, it could consume significant resources
and divert our attention from business operations.

If we are found to infringe on the intellectual pesty rights of others, we could incur significalaimages, be enjoined from continuing to
manufacture, market or use the affected produdieaequired to obtain a license to continue martufang or using the affected product. A
license could be very expensive to obtain or maybeavailable at all. Similarly, changing produstgprocesses to avoid infringing the rights of
others may be costly or impracticable.
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Our products may not meet health and safety standals or could become contaminated and we could be tige for injury, illness or death
caused by consumption of our products.

We have adopted various quality, environmentallthead safety standards. However, our products stikynot meet these standards or
could otherwise become contaminated. A failure éetthese standards or contamination could ocoourioperations or those of our bottlers,
distributors or suppliers. This could result in erpive production interruptions, recalls and ligpitlaims. We may be liable to our customers if
the consumption of any of our products causesynjliness or death. Moreover, negative publicibylel be generated from false, unfounded or
nominal liability claims or limited recalls. Any dfiese failures or occurrences could have a mhsehieerse effect on our results of operations or
cash flows.

Litigation or legal proceedings could expose us tignificant liabilities and damage our reputation.

We are party to various litigation claims and legiadceedings. We evaluate these claims and prawgetth assess the likelihood of
unfavorable outcomes and estimate, if possibleatheunt of potential losses. We may establishervesas appropriate based upon assessment
and estimates in accordance with our accountingipsl We base our assessments, estimates andsdises on the information available to u
the time and rely on legal and management judgmenitial outcomes or losses may differ materialgnifrassessments and estimates. Actual
settlements, judgments or resolutions of thesengl@ir proceedings may negatively affect our busiaesl financial performance. For more
information, see “Item 3. Legal Proceedings.”

Changes in the legal and regulatory environment itthe jurisdictions in which we operate could increas our costs or reduce our revenue
adversely affect demand for our products or resultn litigation.

As a producer of beverages, we must comply witiouarfederal, state, provincial, local and foreliaws relating to production, packagii
quality, labeling and distribution, including, ine United States, those of the federal Food, Dnahg@Gosmetic Act, the Fair Packaging and
Labeling Act, the Federal Trade Commission Act,Xherition Labeling and Education Act and Calif@ri®roposition 65. We are also subject to
various federal, state, provincial, local and fgnegénvironmental laws and workplace regulationgsBHaws and regulations include, in the
United States, the Occupational Safety and Heatththe Unfair Labor Standards Act, the Clean Adt,Ahe Clean Water Act, the
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensatidn,.iability Act, the Resource Conservation amt®very Act, the Federal Motor
Carrier Safety Act, laws governing equal employnapgortunity, customs and foreign trade laws agdlagions, laws relating to the
maintenance of fuel storage tanks, laws relatingater consumption and treatment, and various déusral statutes and regulations. These
laws and regulations may change as a result digadlieconomic, or social events. Such regulattignges may include changes in food and
drug laws, laws related to advertising, accounsitagndards, taxation requirements, competition Emesenvironmental laws, including laws
relating to the regulation of water rights and tr@@nt. Changes in laws, regulations or governmelityand related interpretations may alter
environment in which we do business, which may ichjpar results or increase our costs or liabilities

A number of states have passed laws setting faatimivwg or labeling requirements relating to produntide for human consumption. For
example, the California law known as Propositiorré&fuires that a specific warning appear on angdysbsold in California containing a
substance listed by that state as having been fmucause cancer or reproductive toxicity. This,land others like it, exposes all food and
beverage producers to the possibility of havingrtwvide warnings on their products. The detectibeven a trace amount of a listed substance
can subject an affected product to the requiremeatwarning label, although products containisteldl substances that occur naturally or that
are contributed to such products solely by a mpaloivater supply are generally exempt from the warnequirement. From time to time over
the past several years, certain of our customers feceived notices alleging that the labeling iregoents of the relevant state regulation would
apply to products manufactured by us and sold bgthirhere can be no assurance that we will notibersely affected by actions against our
customers or us relating to Proposition 65 or sinffailure to warn” laws: were any such claim #® fursued or succeed, we might in some
cases be required to indemnify our customers foradges, and our products might be required to beaaning labels in order to be sold in cert
states. Any negative media attention, adverse gitbbir action arising from allegations of violat® could adversely impact consumer
perceptions of our products and harm our business.

Proposed taxes on CSDs and other drinks could hawes adverse effect on our business.

Federal, state, local and foreign governments bawmsidered imposing taxes on soda and other suigiauks, as well as energy products.
Any such taxes could negatively impact consumeraehfor our products and have an adverse effeotionevenues.
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We are not in compliance with the requirements oftie OEPA and, if the Ontario government seeks to eafce those requirements or
implements modifications to them, we could be adveely affected.

Certain regulations under the OEPA provide thairdmum percentage of a bottler's soft drink saléthin specified areas in Ontario must
be made in refillable containers. The penalty fanscompliance is a fine of $50,000 per day begigmiuhen the first offense occurs and
continuing until the first conviction, and then feasing to $100,000 per day for each subsequentatmm. These fines may be increased to
equal the amount of monetary benefit acquired byoffender as a result of the commission of therafé. We, and we believe other industry
participants, are currently not in compliance witha requirements of the OEPA. We do not expecetmltompliance with these regulations in
the foreseeable future. Ontario is not enforcirgg@®EPA at this time, but if it chose to enforce @#PA in the future, we could incur fines for
non-compliance and the possible prohibition of saliesoft drinks in non-refillable containers int@mo. We estimate that approximately 3% of
our Canada operating segment sales would be affbgtéhe possible limitation on sales of soft dsik non-refillable containers in Ontario if
the Ontario Ministry of the Environment initiated action to enforce the provisions of the OEPA.

Adverse weather conditions could affect our supplghain and reduce the demand for our products.

Severe weather conditions and natural disasterh, asifreezes, frosts, floods, hurricanes, tornattosights or earthquakes and crop
diseases may affect our facilities and our supphaw materials such as fruit. If the supply of afyur raw materials is adversely affected by
weather conditions, it may result in increased naaterial costs and there can be no assurance éhaillbe able to obtain sufficient supplies
from other sources. In addition, the sales of @adpcts are influenced to some extent by weatheditons in the markets in which we operate.
Unusually cold or rainy weather during the summenths may reduce the demand for our products antililcote to lower revenues, which
could negatively impact our profitability.

Global or regional catastrophic events could impacbur operations and financial results.

Our business can be affected by large-scale tstraxets, especially those directed against theedr8tates or other major industrialized
countries in which we do business, major natursdstiers, or widespread outbreaks of infectiousadéese Such events could impair our ability to
manage our business, could disrupt our supplywfmaterials, and could impact production, transgarh and delivery of products. In addition,
such events could cause disruption of regionalaiyaj economic activity, which can affect consurhptschasing power in the affected areas
and, therefore, reduce demand for our products.

Our success depends in part upon our ability to reait, retain and prepare succession plans for our EO, CFO, senior management and
key employees.

The performance of our CEO, CFO, senior managearahbther key employees is critical to our succ@&splan to continue to invest
time and resources in developing our senior manageand key employee teams. Our ldagn success will depend on our ability to recaumit
retain capable senior management and other keyogegs, and any failure to do so could have a nahdiverse effect on our future operating
results and financial condition. Further, if we tai adequately plan for the succession of our CEED, senior management and other key
employees, our operating results could be adveedtdgted.

Changes in future business conditions could causeiness investments and/or recorded goodwill, indieite life intangible assets or other
intangible assets to become impaired, resulting isubstantial losses and write-downs that would negaely impact our results of
operations.

As part of our overall strategy, we will, from tin@time, make investments in other businessessél'lmvestments are made upon careful
target analysis and due diligence procedures dedignachieve a desired return or strategic obeclihese procedures often involve certain
assumptions and judgment in determining investraerdunt or acquisition price. After acquisition ovéstment, unforeseen issues could arise
that adversely affect anticipated returns or thatetherwise not recoverable as an adjustmenetpuhchase price. Even after careful integration
efforts, actual operating results may vary sigaifity from initial estimates. Goodwill accounted $130.3 million of our recorded total asset
of December 29, 2012. We evaluate the recovenabifitecorded goodwill amounts annually, or wheierce of potential impairment exists.
The annual impairment test is based on severairaotquiring judgment and certain underlying agsions. Our only intangible asset with an
indefinite life relates to the 2001 acquisitionimkllectual property from Royal Crown Company,.lnocluding the right to manufacture our
concentrates, with all related inventions, procgstehnologies, technical and manufacturing infdiom, know-how and the use of the Royal
Crown brand outside of North America and Mexic@(tRights”). This asset, which has a net book valu$45.0 million, is more fully
described in Note 1 to the Consolidated Finandiale®nents.
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As of December 29, 2012, other intangible assets %270.4 million, which consisted principally &25.0 million of customer
relationships that arose from acquisitions, $13ilBam of financing costs, $15.0 million of inforrtian technology assets, and trademarks of
million. Customer relationships are amortized atraight-line basis for the period over which weeot to receive economic benefits, which is
up to 15 years. We review the estimated usefublifinese intangible assets annually, taking imtostderation the specific net cash flows related
to the intangible asset, unless it is required nfir@guently due to a triggering event such asaks bf a customer. The permanent loss of any
customer included in the intangible asset wouldltés impairment in the value of the intangiblesessor accelerated amortization and could
to an impairment of fixed assets that were usexttoice that client. Principally, a decrease inegted reporting segment cash flows, changes in
market conditions, loss of key customers and aghamour imputed cost of capital may indicate ptg impairment of recorded goodwill or
the Rights. For additional information on accougtpolicies we have in place for goodwill impairmesge our discussion under “Critical
Accounting Policies and Estimates” in “Item 7. Mgament’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Cbadiand Results of Operations” of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K and Note 1, “Summargighificant Accounting Policies,” in the Notes tetConsolidated Financial Statements.

We may not be able to renew collective bargainingggeements on satisfactory terms, or we could expemce strikes.

As of December 29, 2012, 826 of our employees wevered by collective bargaining agreements irLthiged States, Canada and
Mexico. These agreements typically expire evergehp five years at various dates. We may not ketalvenew our collective bargaining
agreements on satisfactory terms or at all. Thigdceesult in strikes or work stoppages, which ddaipair our ability to manufacture and
distribute our products and result in a substatudid of sales. The terms of existing or renewedeygents could also significantly increase our
costs or negatively affect our ability to increaperational efficiency.

We depend on key information systems and third-past service providers.

We depend on key information systems to accuraedlyefficiently transact our business, providerimfation to management and prepare
financial reports. We have typically relied on thpparty providers for the majority of our key infieation systems and business processing
services, including hosting our primary data ceriteparticular, we are in the process of implerimgna new SAP software platform to assist us
in the management of our business and have alsgamiaed certain processes within our finance aadunting departments. As a part of the
reorganization, we have outsourced certain bagékeoffansactional finance processes. If we faduocessfully implement these projects or if
projects do not result in increased operationétieficies, our operations may be disrupted andparating expenses could increase, which
could adversely affect our financial results.

In addition, these systems and services are vuifeeta interruptions or other failures resultingrfr, among other things, natural disasters,
terrorist attacks, software, equipment or telecomications failures, processing errors, computersés, hackers, other security issues or
supplier defaults. Security, backup and disastwery measures may not be adequate or implempniperly to avoid such disruptions or
failures. Any disruption or failure of these systean services could cause substantial errors, psaug inefficiencies, security breaches, inab
to use the systems or process transactions, lagsstdmers or other business disruptions, all aElwhbould negatively affect our business and
financial performance.

Our stock price may be volatile.

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stockhaxge (the “NYSE”) and Toronto Stock Exchange KT)SThe market price of

our common stock has fluctuated substantially égast and could fluctuate substantially in tharitbased on a variety of factors, including
future announcements covering us or our key custprecompetitors, government regulations, litigatichanges in earnings estimates by
analysts, fluctuations in quarterly operating ressat general conditions in our industry. Furthereatock prices for many companies fluctuate
widely for reasons that may be unrelated to the@rating results. Those fluctuations and gene@@mic, political and market conditions, such
as recessions or international currency fluctuatemd demand for our services, may adversely dfieanarket price of our common stock.
We also face other risks that could adversely affeour business, results of operations or financiatondition, which include:

* any requirement to restate financial results inetent of inappropriate application of accountiniggiples or otherwise

e any event that could damage our reputal

» failure of our processes to prevent and detecthicatconduct of employee

» asignificant failure of internal controls overdimcial reporting
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» failure of our prevention and control systems edab employee compliance with internal policied eggulatory requirements; a
» failure of corporate governance policies and pracesl

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our business is supported by our extensive manufagtnetwork and flexible production capabiliti€ur manufacturing footprint
encompasses 33 strategically located beverage aaarifig and fruit processing facilities, includia@ in the United States, five in Canada, six
in the United Kingdom and one in Mexico, as welbag vertically-integrated global concentrate mantufring facility in Columbus, Georgia.

Total square footage of our beverage productiottitfas is approximately 3.6 million square feettire United States; 0.9 million square
feet in Canada; 0.9 million square feet in the &hiKingdom; and 0.1 million square feet in Mexitbis square footage does not include 32
separate leased warehouses and four owned warshbaseomprise 2.9 million square feet and sizédaoffice spaces and two owned office
spaces that comprise 0.2 million square feet. Lesrses for non-owned beverage production faciliéiegire between 2013 and 2020.

The beverage production facilities and square fgotmounts noted above do not include vacant cerutitized properties.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are subject to various claims and legal proecegdivith respect to matters such as governmergalatgons, income taxes, and other
actions arising out of the normal course of businstanagement believes that the resolution of thestters will not have a material adverse
effect on our financial position or results fromeogtions.

ITEM 4.  MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not Applicable.
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SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM PART I. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The following is a list of names, ages, offices dadkgrounds of all of our executive officers agebruary 27, 2013. Our officers do not
serve for a set term.

Office Age
Jerry Fowden Chief Executive Office 56
Jay Wells Vice President, Chief Financial Offic 50
Michael Creamer Vice Presiden- Human Resource 56
Marni Morgan Poe  Vice President, General Counsel and Secre¢ 43
Michael Gibbons Presiden- U.S. Business Un 54
Gregory Leiter Senior Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer akgbistant Secretal 55
Carlos Baila Chief Procurement Office 46

« Jerry Fowden was appointed Chief Executive Offindfebruary 2009. Prior to this appointment, heegras President of o
international operating segments and Interim PeggjdNorth America from May 2008 to February 2089 as Interim President of
our U.K. operating segment from September 2007 ay BD08. He served as Chief Executive Officer afder Media Group Ltd., a
media company, and as a member of its parent GaralMedia Group pls Board of Directors from 2005 until 2007. From 2atil
2004, he served in a variety of roles with AB InB2¥A. Belgium, an alcoholic beverage company, idiclg President, European
Zone, Western, Central and Eastern Europe from &0@804, Global Chief Operating Officer from 20022003 and Chief
Executive Officer of Bass Brewers Ltd., a subsigiairAB InBev S.A. Belgium, from 2001 to 2002. Mfowden was a director of
Chesapeake Corporation (now known as Canal Coipojathen it filed a voluntary Chapter 11 petitiorthe United States on
December 29, 2008. On May 12, 2009, Chesapeakeistipg businesses were sold to a group of investod Mr. Fowden resigned
from his position as a director. Mr. Fowden curgserves on the board of directors of ConstellaBBoands, Inc., a premium wine
company. Mr. Fowden has served on our board sireei2009

» Jay Wells was appointed Vice President, Chief FifsrOfficer in March 2012. Prior to joining ColNir. Wells held various senic
finance positions with Molson Coors from May 2009March 2012, including Chief Financial Officerdblson Coors Canada, a
subsidiary of Molson Coors Brewing Company, andb@ld/ice President, Treasury, Tax, and Strategiaiée of Molson Coors
Brewing Company. From September 1990 to April 2006,Wells held several positions within DeloittedaTouche LLP., includin
partner.

* Michael Creamer was appointed Vice President of &tuRResources for International and Tampa, Floridagaril 2007 and promote
to Vice President of Human Resources for Cott igudsi 2008. Mr. Creamer currently serves as our @atp Human Resources
Vice President. Prior to joining Cott, Mr. Creames Senior Director of Human Resource Operatioddaternational for Avanade
Corporation, a global IT consultancy formed asiatjeenture between Accenture and Microsoft Corpora From 1990 to 2004,
Mr. Creamer held several positions within Microsaftluding senior global human resources positi

» Marni Morgan Poe was appointed Vice President, @Gi@ounsel and Secretary in February 2010. Poitiet appointment, st
served as Corporate Counsel of the Company frorte8dger 2008 until her appointment. Prior to jointhg Company, Ms. Poe was
the co-founder and Chief Executive Officer of Lefat Dinner, Inc., a franchisor of dinner prepamatitchens, from 2006 to 2008.
From 2000 to 2006, she was a partner at the lawdirHolland & Knight LLP and an associate of therlfirm from 1995 to 200(

» Mike Gibbons was appointed President of 's U.S. business unit in October 2010. Prior taabpigointment, Mr. Gibbons he
several positions with Cott from 2004 to 2010, urdthg General Manager of Cott's U.S. business @hjior Vice President /
General Manager of Cott’s Canadian business umit \ace President of Sales of Cott's Canadian ssirunit. Prior to joining Cott,
he served as Director of Sales for ConAgra fromusid 998 to October 2003. On February 21, 2013, datérmined to appoint M
Gibbons as Chief Commercial and Business Develop@#iter for Cott’'s U.S. business unit, effectivarch 4, 2013. Mr. Gibbons
will cease to be an executive officer as of sude«

» Gregory Leiter was appointed Vice President, CaoController and Assistant Secretary of Cott avéinber 2007, and appoint
Senior Vice President and Controller in April 2088. Leiter took on the additional role of Chief @aunting Officer in January
2010. Mr. Leiter currently serves as our Senioreizesident, Chief Accounting Officer and Assista@tretary. Prior to joining
Cott, he served from October 2006 to October 2@0Fractice Manager—Governance, Risk & Compliandk thie international
software firm SAP America. From January 2003 tot&sper 2006, he held two positions with Graham Bgicig Company, an
international manufacturer of custom blow-moldeasfit containers. From February 2006 to Septemt@8,2he served as Graham
Packagin’s Vice Preside—Global Business Process and from January 2003bu&ey 2006 as Director of Internal Auc

» Carlos Baila was appointed Chief Procurement Officd-ebruary 2013. Prior to his appointment, MailB worked for PepsiCo In
as Vice President of Global Procurement from 2@08012. From 1998 to 2005, Mr. Baila worked as pgBuChain Executive at
Accenture Ltd. where he provided clients with sypgiain and strategic sourcing experience inclugimgurement transformations,
contract structuring and negotiations, financidlations, and supply chain optimizations. Mr. Béiss been involved in
multinational projects across the Americas and ferand, in Argentina, held several positions iarafions at Keystone Foods frc
1995 to 1997 and Quilmes Brewery from 1992 to 1!

Change in U.S. Business Unit Leadership

Effective March 4, 2013, Steven Kitching, age 48l become President of the Company’s U.S. businests succeeding Mr. Gibbons in
that role. Mr. Kitching will become an executivdicér as of such date. Since 2008, Mr. Kitching bewed as Managing Director of C's



United Kingdom/Europe business unit. From 2005008, he held several positions with InBev UK, imtthg Managing Directc- On
Trade Sales and Managing Director - Commercialfialli Operations. Prior to that, Mr. Kitching haleveral positions with Interbrew and
Whitbread Beer Company from 1986 to 2005, includdeneral Manager Netherlands of Interbrew from 2@02005.

18



Table of Contents

PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED SHAREOWNER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF SECURITIES

Our common shares are listed on the TSX undelickertsymbol “BCB,” and on the NYSE under the tickgmbol “COT.”

The tables below show the high and low reportedshare sales prices of common shares on the TSZamadian dollars) and the NYSE
(in U.S. dollars) for the indicated periods for 2Gdnd 2011.

Toronto Stock Exchange (C$)

High Low High Low
First Quartel $7.2¢  $5.9¢  $8.97  $7.4¢
Second Quarte $8.47% $6.3¢ $8.5¢ $7.5¢
Third Quartel $8.7¢ $7.51 $8.1¢ $6.9¢
Fourth Quarte $8.7: $7.3¢ $7.6¢ $6.21

New York Stock Exchange (U.S.$)

High Low High Low
First Quarte! $7.32 $6.01 $9.0¢ $7.6¢
Second Quarte $8.27 $6.3¢ $9.0¢ $7.72
Third Quartel $8.77 $7.65 $8.6( $6.6¢€
Fourth Quarte $8.7¢ $7.2¢ $7.57 $5.9¢

As of February 19, 2013, we had 1,050 shareowrferecord. This number was determined from recorédsitained by our transfer agent
and does not include beneficial owners of secaritibose securities are held in the names of vadeaters or clearing agencies. The closing
sale price of our common shares on February 198 2@k C$9.52 on the TSX and $9.39 on the NYSE.

No dividend payments were made during 2011 oriteerfine months of 2012. On October 31, 2012 bibeerd of directors declared a
dividend of C$0.06 per share on common shares,hahiés paid in cash on December 20, 2012 to shaexsvafirecord at the close of business
on December 4, 2012. Cott intends to pay a regularterly dividend on its common shares subjecnwong other things, the best interests of
its shareowners, Cott's results of operations, tadlinces and future cash requirements, finanoiaition, statutory regulations and covenants
set forth in the ABL facility and indentures govieignthe 2017 Notes and 2018 Notes, as well as ¢dlotors that the board of directors may
deem relevant from time to time.

Dividends to shareowners who are non-residentsaofi@a will generally be subject to Canadian witdimgl tax. Under current Canadian
tax law, dividends paid by a Canadian corporatipa honresident shareowner are generally subjegcatadian withholding tax at a 25% rate.
Under the current tax treaty between Canada andnited States, U.S. residents who are entitledetmty benefits are generally eligible for a
reduction in this withholding tax rate to 15% (dnb% for a shareowner that is a corporation arkléeneficial owner of at least 10% of our
voting stock). Accordingly, under current tax laaur U.S. resident shareowners who are entitlecetityt benefits will generally be subject to a
Canadian withholding tax at a 15% rate on dividguaig by us, provided that they have complied \&jtblicable procedural requirements to
claim the benefit of the reduced rate under thariaty. The fifth protocol to the tax treaty beémeCanada and the U.S. places additional
restrictions on the ability of U.S. residents taiel these reduced rate benefits. U.S. residenerginwill be entitled on their U.S. federal
income tax returns to claim a foreign tax creditaaeduction, for Canadian withholding tax thalegs to them, subject to certain applicable
limitations. U.S. investors should consult thek &lvisors with respect to the tax consequenceseandrements applicable to them, based on
their individual circumstances.
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There are certain restrictions on the paymentwtldnds under our ABL facility and under the indees governing the 2017 Notes and
2018 Notes. The ABL facility and the indentures gming the 2017 Notes and 2018 Notes are discusséthnagement’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Gyiems” in Item 7.

For information on securities authorized for issteannder our equity compensation plans, see IteffSE2urity Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management and Related SivaerdMatters.”

During 2010, 2011 and 2012, no equity securitiethefCompany were sold by the Company that wereegi$tered under the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended.

Calculation of aggregate market value of non-affitite shares

For purposes of calculating the aggregate markeeva common shares held by non-affiliates as showthe cover page of this report, it
was assumed that all of the outstanding shares lveddeby non-affiliates except for outstanding sisdneld or controlled by our directors and
executive officers. This should not be deemed tstitute an admission that any of these personsraefact, affiliates of us, or that there are not
other persons who may be deemed to be affiliamsfufther information concerning shareholdingsfficers, directors and principal
stockholders see Item 12, “Security Ownership at&e Beneficial Owners and Management and Rel8teateowner Matters.”
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Shareowner return performance graph

The following graph shows changes over our pastfiscal years in the value of C$100, assumingvesitment of dividends, invested in:
(i) our common shares; (ii) the Toronto Stock Exdels S&P/TSX Composite Index; and (iii) a peergrof publicly-traded companies in the
bottling industry comprised of Coca-Cola Entersisiec., Coca-Cola Bottling Co. Consolidated, NagioBeverage Corp., Pepsi Bottling Group
Inc. and PepsiAmericas Inc. The closing price aft€@ommon shares as of December 29, 2012 on#éewas C$7.90 and on the NYSE was
$7.90. The following table is in Canadian dollars.

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN

160,00
140,00 T
{12000 $
100.00 T
80.00
60.00 T
40,00 ¥
20.00 1
0.00 Y T Y T T
T22912007 12272008 w2010 112011 1203112011 122012
=#=ofl Corparation == SRPTSY Composin == PgarGrug
ASSUMES $100 (CANADIAN) INVESTED ON JAN. 01, 2008
ASSUMES DIVIDEND REINVESTED
FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 29, 2012
Company / Market / Peer Grot 12/29/200° 12/27/200: 1/2/2010 1/1/2011 12/31/201 12/29/201z
Cott Corporatior $100.0C $ 22.8( $131.6: $136.0: $ 97.2¢ $120.9:
S&P / TSX Compositi $100.0C $ 61.9C $ 90.5¢ $106.5( $ 97.27 $103.2:
Peer Grouj $100.0C $ 86.82 $ 89.77 $94.2¢ $104.0: $109.0¢

Common Share Repurchase Program

On May 1, 2012, our board of directors authorizeglrepurchase of up to $35.0 million of our comrabares in the open market or
through privately negotiated transactions over-anbath period through either a 10b5-1 automatiditig plan or at management’s discretion in
compliance with regulatory requirements, and givetket, cost and other considerations. We are artalpredict the number of shares that
be repurchased under the share repurchase prograne, aggregate dollar amount of the shares dgtoalchased. We may discontinue
purchases at any time, subject to compliance vpifiieable regulatory requirements. During the seoguarter of 2012, we repurchased 35,272
common shares for approximately $0.3 million thtfowgen market transactions. No additional repueshagre made under the program
through December 29, 2012.
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The following is a summary of share repurchasevitgtinder our share repurchase program duriny#ae ended December 29, 2012.

Total
Number of Maximum
Shares of Approximate
Common Dollar Value
Stock of Shares of
Total Average Purchased Common
Number Price as Part of Stock that
of Shares Paid per Publicly May Yet Be
of Share of Announcec Purchased
Common Common Under the
Stock Plans or Plans or
Purchasec Stock Programs Programs
May 2012 35,27 $ 7.3C 35,27: $34,742,51
Total 35,27 $ 7.3C 35,27 34,742,51

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table contains information about gaof our previously-issued common stock that wétveld from delivering to
employees during December of 2012 to satisfy tiagilobligations related to stock-based awards.

Maximum
Total Approximate
Number of
Shares of Dollar Value
Common
Stock of Shares of
Total Average Purchased Common
Number Price as Part of Stock that
of Shares Paid per Publicly May Yet Be
of Share of Announcec Purchased
Common Common Under the
Stock Plans or Plans or
Purchasec Stock Programs Programs
December 201 356,37¢ $ 7.9C N/A N/A

Total 356,37¢
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data reflects thsults of operations. This information should &&drin conjunction with, and is qualified
by reference to “Management’s Discussion and AnglgkFinancial Condition and Results of Operatfaarsd the consolidated financial
statements and notes thereto included elsewhéhésireport. The financial information presented/mat be indicative of future performance.

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except per share amts)
Revenue, ne

Cost of sale:

Gross profit

Selling, general and administrative exper
Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipm
Restructuring, goodwill and asset impairme
Restructuring

Goodwill impairments

Asset impairment

Intangible asset impairmer

Operating income (loss;

Contingent consideration ei-out adjustmen
Other (income) expense, r

Interest expense, n

Income (loss) before income taxe

Income tax expense (bene

Net income (loss
Less: Net income attributable to r-controlling interest:
Net income (loss) attributed to Cott Corporation

Net income (loss) per common share attributed to GoCorporation

Basic
Diluted

Financial Condition

Total asset

Shor-term borrowings

Current maturities of lor-term debi
Long-term debi

Equity

Cash dividends pai

1

December 2¢ December 3. December 2’
January 1, January 2,

2012 2011 2011 2010 2008
(52 weeks] (52 weeks (52 weeks (53 weeks (52 weeks
$ 2,250.¢ $ 2,334.¢ $1,803.: $1,596.° $ 1,648.:

1,961.. 2,058.( 1,537.( 1,346.¢ 1,467..

289.5 276.€ 266.: 249.¢ 181.C
178.( 172.7 166.% 146.¢ 179.¢

1. 1.2 1.1 0.t 1.3

— — (0.5) 1.5 6.7

— — — — 69.2

— 0.€ — 3.€ 37.C

— 1.4 — — —
109.7 100.7 99.C 97 .4 (113.0

0.€ 0.¢ (20.9) — —

(2.0 2.2 4. 4.4 4.7

54.2 57.1 36.€ 29.7 32.:

56.¢ 40.5 78. 63. (140.6)

4.€ (0.7) 18.€ (22.6) (19.5)

$ 52.: $ 41.2 $ b59.t $ 86.1 $ (121.)
4.5 3.€ 5.1 4.€ 1.7

$ 4786 $ 376 $ 547 $ 8LE $ (1229
$ 0.51 $ 0.4C $ 0.64 $ 1.C $ (@79
$ 0.5C $ 0.4C $ 0.6 $ 1.0¢ $ (1.7
$ 1,565.¢ $ 1,508.¢ $1,529.: $ 873.¢ $ 8731
— — 7.8 20.z 107.5

1.6 34 6.C 17.€ 7.€

601.¢ 602.1 605.5 233.% 294.¢
622.¢ 568.2 535.2 401.c 246.5
(5.6) — — — —

In 2010, we completed the acquisition of substintél of the assets and liabilities of Cliffst@orporation and its affiliated companies

approximately $503.0 million in cash, $14.0 milliondeferred consideration payable in equal instafits over three years and contingent
consideration of up to $55.0 million. The first $d®nillion of the contingent consideration was pagxbn the achievement of milestones in
certain expansion projects in 2010. The remainfléredocontingent consideration was to be calculageskd on the achievement of certain
performance measures during the fiscal year entiingary 1, 2011. In 2011, the seller of Cliffstised certain objections to the
performance measures used to calculate the conticgasideration, and the parties commenced tipeiigesolution mechanism provic
for in the asset purchase agreement. During 20dtt,ni@ade interim payments to the seller equal @&#nillion, which was net of a $4.7
million refund due to Cott and included $0.9 mitlimm settlement of certain of the seller’s objeasido the calculation of the contingent
consideration. The seller’s claims for an additléi®.1 million in contingent consideration werdmitted to binding arbitration pursuant
to the asset purchase agreement and favorablyessiol February 2013 by payment of $0.6 million@utt to settle all claims
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Overview

We are one of the world’s largest producers of tsyes on behalf of retailers, brand owners andilligors. Our objective of creating
sustainable long-term growth in revenue and profitst is predicated on working closely with ourstamers to provide proven profitable
products. As a “fast follower” of innovative prodscour goal is to identify which new products ameceeding in the marketplace and develop
similar high quality products at a better valueisTdbjective is increasingly relevant in more ditfit economic times.

The beverage market is subject to some seasonations. Our beverage sales are generally highéngithe warmer months and also can
be influenced by the timing of holidays and weafthertuations. The purchases of our raw materiatsralated accounts payable fluctuate based
upon the demand for our products as well as thiagjrof the fruit growing seasons. The seasonafityur sales volume combined with the
seasonal nature of fruit growing causes our workigjtal needs to fluctuate throughout the yeath wiventory levels increasing in the first h
of the year in order to meet high summer demand vath fruit inventories peaking during the lastqter of the year when purchases are made
after the growing season. In addition, our accoteteivable balances decline in the fall as custsmay their higher-than-average outstanding
balances from the summer deliveries.

We typically operate at low margins and therefelatively small changes in cost structures can nigdifeimpact results. In 2010 and 2C
industry carbonated soft drink (“CSD”") sales werestly flat while a decline was seen during 2012 exgredient and packaging costs remained
volatile.

Ingredient and packaging costs represent a signifiportion of our cost of sales. These costsutvgest to global and regional commodity
price trends. Our most significant commoditiesalteninum, polyethylene terephthalate (“PET”) resiorn, sugar, fruit and fruit concentrates.
We attempt to manage our exposure to fluctuatinmsgredient and packaging costs by entering ixedf price commitments for a portion of
our ingredient and packaging requirements and imeiging price increases as needed. In 2012, wéxextiprice commitments for a majority
of our forecasted aluminum and fruit and fruit cemzate requirements for 2012 and entered intafpi&ce commitments for a majority of our
aluminum requirements and a portion of our frutl &mit concentrate requirements for 2013, as agla portion of our aluminum requirements
for 2014. In 2012, we had fixed price commitmemtsdil of our high fructose corn syrup (“HFCS”) tegements for 2012 and entered into fixed
price commitments for all of our HFCS requiremdnts2013. In 2012, we had fixed price commitmewtsdll of our sugar requirements for
2012 and entered into fixed price commitments foofeour sugar requirements for 2013. Regarding P&Sin, since this is not a traded
commodity, no fixed price mechanism has been implged, and we expect to pay prevailing market prié¢hough PET resin is not a traded
commodity, at times we are able to enter into stesrh fixed price commitments. During 2012, we esdkeinto fixed price commitments for a
portion of our PET resin requirements for the selcamd third quarter of the year.

In 2010, we completed the acquisition of substiintél of the assets and liabilities of Cliffst@orporation and its affiliated companies for
approximately $503.0 million in cash, $14.0 milliondeferred consideration payable in equal instafits over three years and contingent
consideration of up to $55.0 million. The first $5nillion of the contingent consideration was pajn the achievement of milestones in
certain expansion projects in 2010. The remainfléredocontingent consideration was to be calculageskd on the achievement of certain
performance measures during the fiscal year entiingary 1, 2011. In 2011, the seller of Cliffsiised certain objections to the performance
measures used to calculate the contingent consimerand the parties commenced the dispute résnlaotechanism provided for in the asset
purchase agreement. During 2011, Cott made inteaiyments to the seller equal to $29.6 million, whi@s net of a $4.7 million refund due to
Cott and included $0.9 million in settlement ofteér of the seller’s objections to the calculatairthe contingent consideration. The seller’s
claims for an additional $12.1 million in contingensideration were submitted to binding arbitragpursuant to the asset purchase agreement
and favorably resolved in February 2013 by paynoé®0.6 million by Cott to settle all claims.

The Cliffstar Acquisition was financed through thesing of a private placement offering by Cott Beges Inc. of $375.0 million
aggregate principal amount of 8.125% senior notes2D18 (the “2018 Notes”), the underwritten pubfiering of 13.4 million of our common
shares (the “Equity Offering”) and borrowings undar asset-based lending (“ABL”") facility, which wefinanced in connection with the
Cliffstar Acquisition, to increase the amount a&hié for borrowings to $275.0 million.

Our financial liquidity, as of December 29, 2012mmved from 2011 due to increased cash from opeyatttivities, and lower cash
outflows for investing and financing activities cpared to 2011.
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We supply Walmart and its affiliated companies,emahnual non-exclusive supply agreements, witareety of products in the United
States, Canada, the United Kingdom, and Mexicdudtieg CSDs, 100% shelf stable juice and juice-bgseducts, clear, still and sparkling
flavored waters, energy products, sports prodnets, age beverages, and ready-to-drink teas. In @@1fupplied Walmart with all of its
private-label CSDs in the United States. In theneV@almart were to utilize additional suppliersufill a portion of its requirements for CSDs,
our operating results could be materially adveraffigcted. Sales to Walmart in 2012, 2011 and 28¢6ounted for 31.0%, 31.6% and 31.0%,
respectively, of total revenue.

In 2012, our capital expenditures were devoted g@rilpnto maintaining existing beverage productianifities, making equipment upgrac
in the United States, the United Kingdom and Carsadhexpenditures related to vertically integrating manufacturing capabilities.

Summary Financial Results

Our net income in 2012 was $47.8 million or $0.80 giluted share, compared with net income of $8&%l6on or $0.40 per diluted share
in 2011.

The following items of significance impacted out 2@inancial results:

« our filled beverage-ounce equivalentbeverage case volur’) decreased 9.6% due primarily to our exit from éer@aw gross
margin business and the general decline in thehNamerican CSD and juice categori

» our revenue decreased 3.6% in 2012 compared to @04 primarily to lower volumes and a product ntiktanto juice drinks anc
sports drinks from 100% shestable juice in North America. Excluding the impatforeign exchange, revenue decreased 3

» our gross profit as a percentage of revenue inecetms12.9% in 2012 from 11.8% in 2011 due pringanlan increase in avera
price per case and our exit from lower margin bessn as well as operational efficiencies in Nonthefica;

» our selling, general and administrati* SG&A”) expenses increased to $178.0 million from $172lliamj due primarily to at
increase in certain employee-related costs comparadowering of the annual incentive and ldags incentive accruals in the pri
year partially offset by lower information techngjoexpenses in 201

» ourloss on disposal of property, plant and equigmes the result of the sale of a facility in Maxand normal operation
disposals

» our 2012 results were impacted by the final comtiigonsideration ec-out accrual of $0.6 million related to the Cliffis
Acquisition;

» our other income in 2012 was $2.0 million as altesfuinsurance recoveries in excess of the losanred on a facility in the Unite
States in the amount of $1.9 million and recordirtgargain purchase of $0.9 million in the Unitedddom offset partially by
foreign exchange losses of $0.8 million in the yeampared to other expense in 2011 of $2.2 milleated to foreign exchange
losses on intercompany loal

» ourinterest expense decreased by $2.9 millionI®5lue primarily to lower debt balances held thgtmut the year; an

» our income tax expense increased to $4.6 milliongared to an income tax benefit of $0.7 millior2611 due primarily to th
recording of allowances against deferred tax agsébe U.S. that are uncertain to be realized @lbag a reduction to the loss
generated in the U.F

The following items of significance impacted out Pfinancial results:

» ourfilled beverage case volume increased 15.3% iy a 17.6% increase in the North America répgiegment, due primarily
the Cliffstar Acquisition

» ourrevenue increased 29.5% in 2011 compared t0 @0& primarily to the Cliffstar Acquisition. Exaling the impact of th
Cliffstar Acquisition and foreign exchange, reveinereased 6.7Y%

« the Cliffstar Acquisition contributed $385.6 milfiof the increase in revenue, and $19.6 milliothefincrease in operating incon

» our gross profit as a percentage of revenue dettmé@1.8% in 2011 from 14.8% in 2010. Gross priof2011 was adverse
impacted by higher commaodity cos
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» our SG&A expenses increased to $172.7 million f&¥66.7 million, due primarily to the full year inglion of Cliffstar;
» our interest expense increased 54.7% due primarilye issuance of the 2018 Notes in the third teuaf 2010; an

* ayea-to-date tax benefit of $0.7 million in 2011 comparednicome tax expense of $18.6 million in 2010 drimarily to lower pr-
tax income in the United States, the reorganizatfaour legal entity structure and refinancingmercompany deb

The following items of significance impacted out @@inancial results:

» our filled beverage case volume increased 7.3%edrby a 7.7% increase in the North America repgrsegment, due primarily
the Cliffstar Acquisition

* our revenue increased 12.9% in 2010 compared t8. Zfsent foreign exchange impact, revenue inctea2e€2% in 2010, du
primarily to the Cliffstar Acquisition

» the Cliffstar Acquisition contributed $232.2 miltido revenue and $5.2 million to operating inco

» our gross profit as a percentage of revenue dettmé4.8% in 2010 from 15.6% in 2009. Gross piiaf2010 included $12.0 millic
of Cliffstar related purchase accounting adjustmenhich reduced gross profit as a percentagevehiee by 0.6%. Excluding this
amount, gross profit as a percentage of revenuel 5/d8%;

» the transaction costs related to the Cliffstar Asitjon were $7.2 million and integration costs &&6.7 million, which are include
in SG&A,

e our 2010 results were favorably impacted by thecgdn of the contingent consideration e-out accrual of $20.3 million related
the Cliffstar Acquisition

» the interest expense increased 24.2% in 2010 caupar2009 due to the issuance of the 2018 Notek

» the income tax expense changed from a benefit 2B88&illion in 2009 to an expense of $18.6 milliarR010 due primarily to th
fact that the prior year included the utilizatidrvaluation allowances and the utilization of a@dsurelated to uncertain tax positio

Critical Accounting Policies

Our significant accounting policies and recentuisd accounting pronouncements are described & Nt the consolidated financial
statements included in Item 8 of this Annual ReparfForm 10-K. We believe the following represeut critical accounting policies:

Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statesi@ntonformity with GAAP requires management tdkemastimates and assumptions
that affect the amounts in the consolidated fingirsteatements and the accompanying notes. Thaseatet are based on historical experience,
the advice of external experts or on other assumgtinanagement believes to be reasonable. Wheia aotounts differ from estimates,
revisions are included in the results for the mkiowhich actual amounts become known. Histornycallfferences between estimated and actual
amounts have not had a significant impact on onsalidated financial statements.

I mpairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess purchase priceqfigar] businesses over the fair value of the regtasaicquired. Goodwill is not
amortized, but instead is tested at least annfllynpairment in the fourth quarter or more frentleif we determine a triggering event has
occurred during the year. Any impairment loss @grized in our results of operations. We evalgatedwill for impairment on a reporting unit
basis. Reporting units are operations for whickreig financial information is available and arembne level below our operating segments.
For the purpose of testing goodwill for impairmesur reporting units are the United States (“U.SCanada and Royal Crown International
(“RCI"). We had goodwill of $130.3 million on ouakance sheet at December 29, 2012, which repreaergsants for the U.S., Canada and the
RCI reporting units.

In 2012, for our Canada and RCI reporting unitsasgessed qualitative factors to determine whétieeexistence of events or
circumstances indicated that it was more likelynthat that the fair value of the reporting unit viess than its carrying amount. If, after
assessing the totality of events or circumstangedjad determined that it was more likely thanthat the fair value of the reporting unit was
less than its carrying amount, then we would haréopmed the first step of the two-step goodwilpairment test. We concluded that it was
more likely than not that the fair value of eacha®ing unit was more than its carrying amount tdretefore we were not required to perform
any additional testing.
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For our U.S. reporting unit, we chose to bypasgjthaditative assessment and performed the firptatéhe two-step goodwill impairment
test using a mix of the income approach (whichaisell on the discounted cash flow of the reportiri end the public company approach. We
believe using a combination of the two approachesiges a more accurate valuation because it incatps the actual cash generation of the
Company in addition to how a third party markettiggrant would value the reporting unit. Because blisiness is assumed to continue in
perpetuity, the discounted future cash flow inchidgerminal value. We used a weighted averagertatigrowth rate of 1% for our U.S.
reporting unit in 2012 and 2011. The long-term gtoassumptions incorporated into the discountel fiaw calculation reflect our long-term
view of the market (including a decline in CSD detia projected changes in the sale of our prodpeising of such products and operating
profit margins. The estimated revenue changessratialysis for the U.S. reporting unit ranged lestwv-1.4% and 3.0% for 2012 and 2.2% and
3.4% for 2011.

The discount rate used for the fair value estimatdisis analysis was 10.5% for 2012 and rangenh ftd% to 12% for 2011 and 10% to
12% for 2010. These rates were based on the weliglvierage cost of capital a market participant daigle if evaluating the reporting unit as an
investment. The risk-free rate was 2.4% and 2.622832 and 2011, respectively, and was based @ya& U.S. Treasury Bill as of the
valuation date.

Each year during the fourth quarter, we re-evaltiseassumptions used to reflect changes in thadrssenvironment, such as revenue
growth rates, operating profit margins and discoate. Based on the evaluations performed this yeadetermined that the fair value of our
reporting units exceeded their carrying amounts.

I mpairment testing of intangible assets with an indefinite life

Our only intangible asset with an indefinite lifdates to the 2001 acquisition of intellectual gty from Royal Crown Company, Inc.,
including the right to manufacture our concentratéth all related inventions, processes, techneggechnical and manufacturing information,
know-how and the use of the Royal Crown brand datef North America and Mexico (the “Rights”). Tlaisset has a net book value of $45.0
million. Prior to 2001, we paid a volume based ttyyt the Royal Crown Company for purchase of eiates. There are no legal, regulatory,
contractual, competitive, economic, or other fazthiat limit the useful life of this intangible.

The life of the Rights is considered to be indeéirsind therefore not amortized, but instead igdest least annually for impairment or
more frequently if we determine a triggering evieas occurred during the year. We compare the cayriinount of the Rights with its fair value
and if the carrying amount is greater than thevalue, we recognize in income an impairment ldssdetermine fair value, we use a relief from
royalty method which calculates a fair value royatdite that is applied to a forecast of future wodushipments of concentrate that is used to
produce CSDs. The forecast of future volumes iethasm the estimated inter-plant shipments and Riphsents. The relief from royalty method
is used since the Rights were purchased in pantdaa making future royalty payments for concemtitatthe Royal Crown Company. The
resulting cash flows are discounted using a discrata of 14.5% and estimated volume changes betw&8o and 10.0%. No impairment was
identified as of December 29, 2012. Absent anyrathanges, if our intgplant concentrate volume declines by 1.0% fromestimated volume
the fair value of our Rights would decline by apgmeately $1.5 million. If our RCI volume decliney t.0% from our estimated volume, the -
value of the Rights would decline by approximat&2y6 million. If our discount rate increases by H@Bis points, the fair value of the Rights
would decline by approximately $5.2 million. Norfetleese adjustments would result in an impairméouo Rights as either a stand-alone
adjustment or in combination.

Other intangible assets

As of December 29, 2012, other intangible assets %270.4 million, consisting principally of $225xillion of customer relationships
that arose from acquisitions, $13.3 million of fieing costs, $15.0 million of information technojagssets, and $5.5 million of trademarks.
Customer relationships are amortized on a strdigbtbasis for the period over which we expecteteive economic benefits. We review the
estimated useful life of these intangible assetsially, taking into consideration the specific oash flows related to the intangible asset, unless
a review is required more frequently due to a &ty event such as the loss of a customer. Thragrent loss or significant decline in sales to
any customer included in the intangible asset weoeddlt in impairment in the value of the intangibkset or accelerated amortization and could
lead to an impairment of fixed assets that were tisservice that customer. In 2010, we recorddd$million of customer relationships
acquired in connection with the Cliffstar Acquisiii In 2011, we recorded an asset impairment char§jg.4 million related primarily to
customer relationships. In 2012, we did not re@rg impairment charges for other intangible assets.
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I mpairment of long-lived assets

When adverse events occur, we compare the carayimgynt of long-lived assets to the estimated undisted future cash flows at the
lowest level of independent cash flows for the grofilong-lived assets and recognize any impairrfes# in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations, taking into consideration the timindesfting and the asset’s remaining useful life. @kgected life and value of these long-lived
assets is based on an evaluation of the compegitiveonment, history and future prospects as gpjat. In 2011, we recorded an impairment
of long-lived assets of $0.6 million related toraguction plant in Mexico that ceased operations.did not record impairments of long-lived
assets in 2012 or 2010.

I nventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, ddtexdhon the first-in, first-out method, or net izable value. Finished goods and work-in-
process include the cost of raw materials, dir@ebt and manufacturing overhead costs. As a regeltise an inventory reserve to adjust our
costs down to a net realizable value and to redervestimated obsolescence of both raw and fimigieods.

I ncome taxes

We are subject to income taxes in Canada as wellmsmerous foreign jurisdictions. Significant grdents and estimates are required in
determining the income tax expense in these jutigtis. Our income tax expense, deferred tax aaset$iabilities and reserves for
unrecognized tax benefits reflect management’'sdsestssment of estimated future taxes to be pén ijurisdictions in which we operate.

Our income tax expense includes the results ofe¢beganization of our legal entity structure anfthescing of intercompany debt. The
reorganization of our legal entity structure anfthencing of intercompany debt should result ingdarm reduction of Cott’s effective tax rate
versus statutory rates. However, since the caloulaf our tax liabilities involves dealing with certainties in the application of complex tax
laws and regulations in a multitude of jurisdicsaacross our global operations, our effective #& may ultimately be different than the amount
we are currently reporting.

Deferred income taxes arise from temporary diffeesrbetween the tax and financial statement retiogrif revenue and expense. In
evaluating our ability to recover our deferred éasets within the jurisdiction from which they arige consider all available positive and
negative evidence, including scheduled reversatiefdrred tax liabilities, projected future taxalsleome, tax planning strategies and recent
financial operations. In projecting future taxainleome, we begin with historical results adjustedthe results of discontinued operations and
changes in accounting policies and incorporateragsans including the amount of future Canadian fameign pre-tax operating income, the
reversal of temporary differences, and the impleatém of feasible and prudent tax planning strigt®drhese assumptions require significant
judgment about the forecasts of future taxablerime@and are consistent with the plans and estimateme using to manage the underly
businesses.

Changes in tax laws and rates could also affecrdec deferred tax assets and liabilities in ther&s Management is not aware of any
such changes that would have a material effectiomesults of operations, cash flows or financiipon.

The calculation of our tax liabilities involves dieg with uncertainties in the application of comypltax laws and regulations in a multitt
of jurisdictions across our global operations.

Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Acoting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 740, tome Taxes” (“ASC 740")
provides that a tax benefit from an uncertain tasigion may be recognized when it is more likelgrtinot that the position will be sustained
upon examination, including resolutions of any tedisappeals or litigation processes, based oretiieical merits. ASC 740 also provides
guidance on measurement, derecognition, classditanterest and penalties, accounting in intgsriods, disclosure and transition.

We recognize tax liabilities in accordance with ABD and we adjust these liabilities when our judgtthanges as a result of the
evaluation of new information not previously avhaiia Due to the complexity of some of these unastiess, the ultimate resolution may resul
a payment that is materially different from ourremt estimate of the tax liabilities. These diffezes will be reflected as increases or decrea
income tax expense in the period in which theydatermined.
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Pension costs

We account for our pension plans in accordance A8E No. 715-20, “Compensation—Defined Benefit BlaiGeneral” (‘“ASC 715-
20"). The funded status is the difference betwéerfair value of plan assets and the benefit otiigaThe adjustment to accumulated other
comprehensive income represents the net unrecabaizearial gains or losses and unrecognized peinfice costs. Future actuarial gains or
losses that are not recognized as net periodicfitenest in the same periods will be recognized asmponent of other comprehensive income.

We maintain two defined-benefit plans that covetate employees in the United Kingdom and certdirepemployees under a collective
bargaining agreement at one plant in the UniteteSt&Ve record annual amounts relating to thesesgdased on calculations specified by
GAAP, which include various actuarial assumptiamshsas discount rates (3.5% to 4.6%) and assunbesigbreturn (5.7% to 7.0%) depending
on the pension plan. Material changes in pensistsaoay occur in the future due to changes in tassemptions. Future annual amounts could
be impacted by changes in the discount rate, clsaingbe expected longrm rate of return, changes in the level of cbotions to the plans a
other factors.

The discount rate is based on a model portfoliddfated bonds with a maturity matched to the eated payouts of future pension
benefits. The expected return on plan assets ed@s our expectation of the long-term rates afrrebn each asset class based on the current
asset mix of the funds, considering the histonietrns earned on the type of assets in the fytds,an assumption of future inflation. The
current investment policy target asset allocatiffeids between our two plans, but it is betweer0%®to 65.0% for equities and 35.0% to 50.0%
for bonds. The current inflation assumption is 3.3%e review our actuarial assumptions on an anpasit and make modifications to the
assumptions based on current rates and trends agipeapriate. The effects of the modifications armdized over future periods.

Non-GAAP Measures

In this report, we supplement our reporting of ficial measures determined in accordance with GAARtitizing certain non-GAAP
financial measures. We exclude the impact of faregchange to separate the impact of currency exeheaate changes from our results of
operations and, in some cases, by excluding thadtrgf the Cliffstar Acquisition. Additionally, weupplement our reporting of SG&A, cost of
sales, gross profit, and operating income in acwrd with GAAP by excluding the impact of the Gliffr Acquisition. We exclude these items
to better understand trends in the business anidntbect of the Cliffstar Acquisition. Because we tisese adjusted financial results in the
management of our business and to understand 3sgdeeformance independent of the Cliffstar Acdjoisj we believe this supplemental
information is useful to investors for their indegent evaluation and understanding of our corenlegsiperformance and the performance o
management.

We also utilize earnings before interest expemse&s, depreciation and amortization (‘EBITDA”), whiis GAAP earnings before interest
expense, provision for income taxes, depreciati@hamortization. We consider EBITDA to be an intlicaf operating performance. We also
use EBITDA, as do analysts, lenders, investorsadiners, because it excludes certain items thavagnwidely across different industries or
among companies within the same industry. Thederdiices can result in considerable variabilitshim relative costs of productive assets and
the depreciation and amortization expense amonganias. We also utilize Adjusted EBITDA as an iatlic of operating performance. Our
Adjusted EBITDA excludes purchase accounting adjests, integration expenses, restructuring and aspairments. Adjusted EBITDA
excludes these items to facilitate period-overguedomparisons of our ongoing core operations kafuaterial charges.

Because we use these adjusted financial resuttieimanagement of our business and to understatetlyimg business performance, we
believe this supplemental information is usefuinigestors for their independent evaluation and tstdading of our business performance and
the performance of our management. The non-GAA&firal measures described above are in additiaantbpot meant to be considered
superior to, or a substitute for, our financiatetaents prepared in accordance with GAAP. In alditihe non-GAAP financial measures
included in this report reflect our judgment oftgarar items, and may be different from, and tfere may not be comparable to, similarly tit
measures reported by other companies.
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The following table summarizes our Consolidatededtents of Operations as a percentage of revenz91®, 2011 and 2010:

2012 2011 2010
Percent o Percent o Percent o

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentage ants) Revenue Revenue Revenue
Revenue $2,250.¢ 100.%  2,334.¢ 100.% 1,803.: 100.%
Cost of sale: 1,961.. 87.1%  2,058.( 88.2%  1,537.( 85.2%
Gross profit 289.t 12.%% 276.€ 11.8% 266.: 14.£%
Selling, general, and administrative exper 178.C 7.% 172.5 7.4% 166.7 9.2%
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipn 1.8 0.1% 1.2 0.1% 1.1 0.1%
Restructuring — 0.C% — 0.C% (0.5) 0.C%
Asset impairment — 0.C% 0.€ 0.C% — 0.C%
Intangible asset impairmer — 0.C% 1.4 0.1% — 0.C%
Operating incomi 109.7 4.% 100.7 4.2% 99.C 5.5%
Contingent consideration ei-out adjustmen 0.€ 0.C% 0.¢ 0.C% (20.9) -1.1%
Other (income) expense, r (2.0 -0.1% 2.2 0.1% 4.C 0.2%
Interest expense, n 54.2 2.4% 57.1 2.4% 36.€ 2.(%
Income before income tax 56.€ 2.6% 40.5 1.€% 78.4 4.4%
Income tax expense (bene 4.€ 0.2% (0.7) 0.C% 18.€ 1.C%
Net income 52.5 2.2% 41.2 1.8% 59.¢ 3.4%
Less: Net income attributable to r-controlling interest: 4.5 0.2% 3.€ 0.2% 5.1 0.2%
Net income attributed to Cott Corporati $ 47.¢ 2.1% 37.€ 1.€% 54.7 3.1%
Depreciation & amortizatio $ 977 4.2% 95.2 4.1% 74.C 4.1%

The following table summarizes revenue, cost afsajross profit, SG&A expenses, and operatingnector the years ended
December 31, 2011, and January 1, 2011, respectivel

For the Year
Ended
December 31 Cott

o ) Adjustments Excluding

(in millions of U.S. dollars 2011 Cliffstar 1 Acquisition

Revenue, ne $ 2,334.¢ $617.¢ $ — $1,716.¢

Cost of sale: 2,058.( 560.( — 1,498.(

Gross profit 276.¢ 57.¢ — 218.¢

Selling, general and administrative exper 172.7 325 3.8 136.¢

Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipm 1.2 0.7 — 0.t

Asset impairment 2.C — — 2.C

Operating income $ 100.7 $ 24.¢ $ 3.9 $ 797

In 2011, we recorded $3.8 million of integratiorstorelated to the Cliffstar Acquisitio
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(in millions of U.S. dollars

Revenue, ne
Cost of sale:

Gross profit

Selling, general and administrative exper
Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipm

Restructuring
Operating income

For the
Year
Ended
January 1,
2011 Cliffstar
$1,803.: $232.2
1,537.( 211.¢
266.: 20.4
166.7 15.2
1.1 —
(0.5) —

$ 99. $ 572

Adjustlments

$ —
13.€
$ (1389

The following table summarizes our revenue andatpey income by reporting segment for 2012, 201d 201.0:

(in millions of U.S. Dollars

Revenu

North America
United Kingdom
Mexico

RCI

Total

Operating income (los:

North America
United Kingdom
Mexico

RCI

Total

Cott
Excluding

Acquisition
$1,571.;
1,325.:

245.¢
137.¢

1.1
(0.5)
$ 1077

In 2010, we recorded $7.2 million of transactiostsand $6.7 million of integration costs relaedhie Cliffstar Acquisition

2012 2011 2010
$1,707..  $1,809..  $1,357.
473.: 447.¢ 367.1
38. 51. 50.1
31.2 25.6 28.¢
$2,250.(  $2,334.(  $1,803.
$ 782 $ 704 $ 75¢
27.1 27.F 24F
(3.6) (4.4) (7.5
7.8 7.2 7.C
$ 1097 $ 1007 $ 99.
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The following table summarizes our beverage cat&we by reporting segment for 2012, 2011 and 2010:

(in millions of cases 2012 2011 2010
Volume 8 oz. equivalent cas- Total Beverage (including concentra

North America 739.2 808.7 697.(
United Kingdom 204.1 209.( 192.¢
Mexico 25.€ 37.1 34.¢
RCI 278.2 259.4 298.¢
Total 1,247.. 1,314.: 1,223.
Volume 8 oz. equivalent cas- Filled Beverage

North America 651.t 727.¢ 618.¢
United Kingdom 189. 194.7 178.2
Mexico 25.€ 37.1 34.¢
RCI 0.4 0.1 0.1
Total 867.( 959.t 831.¢

Revenues and volumes are attributed to reportiggeats based on the location of the customer.
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The following tables summarize revenue and bevetage volume by product for 2012, 2011 and 2010:

For the Year Ended December 29, 201

(in millions of U.S. dollars
Revenut

Carbonated soft drink
Juice

Concentratt

All other products

Total

For the Year Ended December 29, 201

(in millions of cases

Volume 8oz. equivalent cas- Total Beverage (including concentra
Carbonated soft drink

Juice

Concentratt

All other products

Total

For the Year Ended December 31, 201

(in millions of U.S. dollars
Revenut

Carbonated soft drink
Juice

Concentratt

All other products

Total

For the Year Ended December 31, 201

(in millions of cases
Volume 8oz. equivalent cas- Total Beverage (including concentra

Carbonated soft drink
Juice

Concentratt

All other products

Total

33

North United
America Kingdom Mexico RCI Total
$ 698.C $ 160.¢ $21.: $ 0.6 $ 880.¢
527.2 14.C 1.2 15 543.¢
12.2 2.2 — 29.1 43.¢
469.¢ 296.1 16.2 — 782.%
$1,707.. $ 473z $ 38.t $31.2 $2,250.¢
North United
America Kingdom Mexico RCI Total
306.5 83.t 15.4 0.1 405.t
119.5 3.7 0.8 0.3 124.:
87.7 14.€ — 277.¢ 380.1
225.% 102.: 9.4 — 337.2
739.2 204.1 25.€ 278.2 1,247..
North United
America Kingdom Mexico RCI Total
$ 7312 $ 179.2 $39.€6 $— $ 950.C
587.i 12.2 27 — 602.
9.1 2.8 — 25.€ 37.5
481.] 253.€ 9.5 — 744.%
$1,809.0 $ 447.¢ $51.t $25.€ $2,334.¢
North United
America Kingdom Mexico RCI Total
349.¢ 97.€ 26.7 — 474.;
134.2 3.5 2.C — 139.¢
81.1 14.C — 259.¢ 354.%
243.% 93.€ 8.4 — 345.¢
808.7 209.C 37.1 259. 1,314.
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For the Year Ended January 1, 201:

North United
(in millions of U.S. dollars America Kingdom Mexico RCI Total
Revenut
Carbonated soft drink $ 705t $ 1595 $434 $— $ 908.«
Juice 225.2 10.C 0.e — 236.1
Concentratt 7.5 4.1 — 28.¢ 40.2
All other products 419.( 193.t 5 — 618.<
Total $1,357.. $ 367.1 $50.1 $28.6 $1,803.0

For the Year Ended January 1, 201:

North United
(in millions of cases America Kingdom Mexico RCI Total
Volume 8oz. equivalent cas- Total Beverage (including concentra
Carbonated soft drink 343.1 93.t 28.1 — 464.7
Juice 57.2 3.1 0.€ — 60.¢
Concentratt 78.4 15.7 — 298.¢ 392.7
All other products 218.: 80.€ 6.2 — 305.1
Total 697.( 192.¢ 34¢ 298. 1,223.:

Results of Operations
The following table summarizes the change in reedmureporting segment for 2012:

For the Year Ended December 29, 201

North United
(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentage ants) Cott America Kingdom Mexico RCI
Change in revent $(84.0) $(101.9 $ 25.: $(13.0) $ 5.€
Impact of foreign exchand 14.¢ 4.7 6.C 3.7 —
Change excluding foreign exchar $(69.6) $ (97.2) $ 318 $ (9.9 $ 5.€
Percentage change in revel -3.€% -5.€% 5.€% -25.1% 21.%
Percentage change in revenue excluding foreignaegd -3.C% -5.4% 7.C% -18.(% 21.9%

Imp act of foreign exchange is the difference betwéercurrent yeis revenue translated utilizing the current ’s average foreig
exchange rates less the current’'s revenue translated utilizing the prior y's average foreign exchange ra

The following table summarizes the change in reedmureporting segment for 2011:

For the Year Ended December 31, 201

North United

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentage ants) Cott America Kingdom Mexico RCI
Change in revent $531.c $ 452.( $ 80.¢ $ 1.7 $ (3.2)
Impact of foreign exchanc! (24.7) (7.5) (15.9) (1.2) —
Change excluding foreign exchar $ 507.2 $ 444.F $ 65.4 $ 0.5 $ (3.2
Percentage change in revel 29.5% 33.5% 22.(% 3.4% -11.1%
Percentage change in revenue excluding foreignaegd 28.1% 32.1% 17.&% 1.C% -11.1%
Impact of Cliffstar Acquisitior (385.6) (385.6) — — —
Change excluding foreign exchange and Cliffstaruisitjon $121.€ $ 58.C $ 65.4 $ 0.E $ (3.9
Percentage change in revenue excluding foreignamgehand Cliffsta

Acquisition 6.7% 4.2% 17.% 1.C% -11.1%

Impact of foreign exchange is the difference betwtbe current ye'’s revenue translated utilizing the current ’s average foreig
exchange rates less the current’s revenue translated utilizing the prior y's average foreign exchange ra
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The following table summarizes the change in reedmureporting segment for 2010:

For the Year Ended January 1, 201:

North United

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentage ants) Cott America Kingdom Mexico RCI
Change in revent $ 206.¢ $ 183.¢ $ 7.8 $ 74 $ 8.C
Impact of foreign exchanc! (11.¢) (17.0 8.C (2.8) —
Change excluding foreign exchar $194.¢ $ 166.4 $ 15.€ $ 4.€ $ 8.C
Percentage change in revel 12.% 15.€% 2.2% 17.2% 38.5%
Percentage change in revenue excluding foreignaegd 12.2% 14.2% 4.4% 10.£% 38.5%
Impact of Cliffstar Acquisitior (232.7) (232.2) — — —
Change excluding foreign exchange and CliffstaruAsitjon $ (379 $ (65.9) $ 15.€ $ 4.€ $ 8.C
Percentage change in revenue excluding foreignamgehand Cliffsta

Acquisition -2.5% -5.€% 4.4% 10.8% 38.5%

Imp act of foreign exchange is the difference betwéercurrent yeis revenue translated utilizing the current ’s average foreig
exchange rates less the current’s revenue translated utilizing the prior y's average foreign exchange ra

The following table summarizes our EBITDA and AdgagsEBITDA for the three and twelve months endedddeber 29, 2012 and
December 31, 2011, respectively.

For the Three Months Ended For the Year Ended
December 2¢ December 31 December 2¢ December 31
2012 2011 2012 2011
Net income (loss) attributed to Cott Corporation $ 2.2 $ (119 $ 47.¢ $ 37.€
Interest expense, n 13.¢ 13.7 54.2 57.1
Income tax (benefit) expen (0.9 1.C 4.€ (0.7)
Depreciation & amortizatio 25.F 23.¢ 97.7 95.2
Net income attributable to n-controlling interest: 1.1 0.t 4.t 3.€
EBITDA $ 41.¢ $ 27.2 $ 208.¢ $ 192«
Asset impairment
Asset impairment — 0.€ — 0.€
Intangible asset impairmer — 14 — 1.4
Acquisition adjustment
Earnout adjustmer 0.€ — 0.€ 0.¢
Inventory ste-up (ste|-down) — 0.2 0.1 (3.5
Integration cost 0.2 0.& 3.4 3.8
Legal accrua — 2.1 — 2.8
Adjusted EBITDA $ 42.5 $ 32.4 $ 212« $  199.(

2012 versus 2011

Revenue decreased $84 million, or 3.6%, in 201&1f2011. Excluding the impact of foreign exchangeenue decreased 3.0% due
primarily to lower beverage case volumes and ayarbohix shift into juice drinks and sports drinkserh 100% shelf-stable juice in North
America.
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2011 versus 2010

Revenue increased $531.3 million, or 29.5%, in 2bdrh 2010. The Cliffstar Acquisition contribute886.6 million to revenue. Excludil
the impact of the Cliffstar Acquisition and foreigrchange, revenue increased 6.7% due primarimpooved beverage case volume and higher
prices in the U.K. and North America, offset intgay lower beverage case volume in RCI.

Revenue Results for Reporting Segments
2012 versus 2011

North America revenue decreased $101.9 milliors.6%6, in 2012 from 2011. Excluding the impact akign exchange, revenue
decreased 5.4%, due primarily to our exit fromaiartow gross margin business, a general declitleeiiNorth American CSD and juice
categories and a product mix shift into juice dsiakd sports drinks from 100% shelf-stable juicet $¢lling price per beverage case (which is
net revenue divided by beverage case volume) inetkd.2% in 2012 from 2011 due primarily to anéase in average price per case and a
product mix shift.

U.K. revenue increased $25.3 million, or 5.6%, @12 from 2011, due primarily to an increase in agerprice per case and favorable
product mix. Net selling price per beverage caseemsed 8.2% in 2012 from 2011 due primarily tinerease in average price per case and
favorable product mix. Excluding the impact of figreexchange, U.K. revenue increased 7.0% in 2642 £011.

Mexico revenue decreased $13.0 million, or 25.192012 from 2011, due primarily to the non-reneefa regional brand license at the
end of its term. Net selling price per beverage dasreased 8.6% in 2012 from 2011 due primarilfat@rable product mix. Excluding the
impact of foreign exchange, Mexico revenue decied8e0% in 2012 from 2011.

RCI revenue increased $5.6 million, or 21.9%, ian2€rom 2011, due primarily to higher volumes framew customer in South America
and the timing of shipments to customers in Asiat $¢lling price per case increased 13.6%. RClgiymnsells concentrate.

2011 versus 2010

North America revenue increased $452.0 million38:3%, in 2011 from 2010. The Cliffstar Acquisitioantributed $385.6 million of the
increase in revenue. Excluding the impact of faregchange and the Cliffstar Acquisition, revemméased 4.3%, due to a 4.4% improvement
in beverage case volume that resulted primarilgnfreew business wins and the introduction of nevdpets, as well as higher prices. Net sel
price per beverage case increased 13.7% in 20l Z04.0, due primarily to improved product mix retato juice volume resulting from the
Cliffstar Acquisition. Excluding the impact of ti@iffstar Acquisition, net selling price per bevgeacase remained flat in 2011 from 2010.

U.K. revenue increased $80.8 million, or 22.0922011 from 2010, primarily as a result of a 9.3%éase in beverage case volume and
improved product mix (primarily increases in eneagyl sports isotonic products). Net selling prieelgeverage case increased 11.7% in 2011
from 2010 due primarily to commodity-driven custarpéce increases and a favorable product mix. Abfgeign exchange impact, U.K.
revenue increased 17.8% in 2011 from 2010.

Mexico revenue increased $1.7 million, or 3.4%2011 from 2010, due primarily to a 6.3% increaskexerage case volume offset in |
by a 2.8% decrease in net selling price per beeetage in 2011 from 2010. Absent foreign exchamgact, Mexico revenue increased 1.0% in
2011 from 2010.

RCI revenue decreased $3.2 million, or 11.1%, ib12@om 2010, due primarily to the timing of shipmeto our largest customer located
in Asia as well as the decreased demand from amastin Southwestern Asia as a result of the palifinstability in that region. Net selling
price per beverage case remained flat in 2011 #0&®. RCI primarily sells concentrate.
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Cost of Sales
2012 versus 2011

Cost of sales represented 87.1% of revenue in 20ftared to 88.2% in 2011. The decrease in casile§ as a percentage of revenue
was due primarily to an increase in average priwecpse and favorable product mix. Variable cagtsasented 76.1% of total sales in 2012,
down from 77.7% in 2011. Major elements of thesgalde costs included ingredient and packagingscasstribution costs and fees paid to
third-party manufacturers.

2011 versus 2010

Cost of sales represented 88.2% of revenue in 20iipared to 85.2% in 2010. Excluding the impadhefCliffstar Acquisition, cost of
sales represented 87.3% of revenue in 2011 compa&ti3% in 2010. The increase in cost of sales@arcentage of revenue was due
primarily to higher commodity costs. Variable caostpresented 77.7% of total sales in 2011, up ffdti% in 2010.

Gross Profit
2012 versus 2011

Gross profit as a percentage of revenue increas#d.9% in 2012 from 11.8% in 2011, due primariyah increase in average price per
case and the exit from certain low gross marginnass, as well as operating efficiencies in Northeica.

2011 versus 2010

Gross profit as a percentage of revenue decreasedd®% in 2011 from 14.8% in 2010. Excluding timpact of the Cliffstar Acquisition,
gross profit as a percentage of revenue decreask?8% in 2011 from 15.7% in 2010. The declingrioss profit was due primarily to higher
commodity costs.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
2012 versus 2011

SG&A in 2012 increased $5.3 million, or 3.1%, fr@®11. The increase in SG&A was due primarily toramease in certain employee-
related costs in 2012 compared to lowering of theual incentive and long-term incentive accrualgdal, partially offset by lower information
technology expenses in the current year. As a ptage of revenue, SG&A was 7.9% in 2012 and 7.420itl.

2011 versus 2010

SG&A in 2011 increased $6.0 million, or 3.6%, fr@®10. The impact of the Cliffstar Acquisition was & million, and included
additional SG&A expenses of $17.1 million resultingm the full year inclusion of Cliffstar, offsét part by a reduction of $2.9 million in
integration costs, and transaction costs of $7Ikomiincurred in the prior year period. Excluditige impact of the Cliffstar Acquisition, SG&A
decreased $1.0 million. As a percentage of reveBG&A was 7.4% in 2011 and 9.2% in 2010.

Restructuring, Goodwill and Asset Impairments
2012 versus 2011

We did not record any restructuring or impairmdrdrges in 2012. In 2011, we recorded an intangiséet impairment of $1.4 million
related to a customer list that was impaired dubedoss of a customer. Also in 2011, we recoml&6.6 million impairment of lonfived asset
related to a production plant in Mexico that ceaggerations.

2011 versus 2010

We did not record any restructuring charges in 2012010, we recorded a gain of $0.5 million rethto a lease contract termination. In
2011, we recorded an intangible asset impairmefif.ef million related to a customer list that wapaired due to the loss of a customer. Als
2011, we recorded a $0.6 million impairment of ldivgd assets related to a production plant in Mexhat ceased operations.

Operating Income
2012 versus 2011

Operating income in 2012 was $109.7 million comgdeceoperating income of $100.7 million in 2011.e@all, operating income increas
by $9.0 million, or 8.9%, as a result of an inceeasaverage price per case, the exit from celtaingross margin business, favorable product
mix, and operational efficiencies in North Amerigaytially offset by an increase in SG&A.
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2011 versus 2010

Operatingncome in 2011 was $100.7 million compared to ofiregancome of $99.0 million in 2010. The CliffstAcquisition contribute:
$19.6 million of the increase in operating incom&011, and $5.2 million to operating income in @0Excluding the impact of the Cliffstar
Acquisition, operating income declined by $28.0lial or 26.0% from 2010.

Other (Income) Expense, Net
2012 versus 2011

Other income was $2.0 million in 2012 comparedtt@pexpense of $2.2 million in 2011. In 2012, wearded $1.9 million of insurance
recoveries in excess of the loss incurred on afddity and a bargain purchase gain of $0.9 wilin the U.K., offset by $0.8 million of forei
exchange losses primarily related to intercompaapnd. In 2011, we recorded $2.2 million of foregiwhange losses primarily related to
intercompany loans.

2011 versus 2010

Other expense was $2.2 million in 2011 comparepitd million in 2010. In 2011, we recorded $2.2liwil of foreign exchange losses
primarily related to intercompany loans. In 201@, recorded a $1.4 million write-off of financingefeand $2.6 million of foreign exchange
losses related primarily to intercompany loans.

Interest Expense, Net
2012 versus 2011

Net interest expense in 2012 decreased 5.1% frdrh &0e primarily to lower average debt balanced tiebughout 2012 and lower ABL
fees in 2012 compared to 2011.

2011 versus 2010

Net interest expense in 2011 increased 54.7% fi@bd Aue primarily to a higher average debt balaeselting from the issuance of the
2018 Notes in the third quarter of 2010.

Income Taxes
2012 versus 2011

In 2012, we recorded income tax expense of $4.Bomicompared to a tax benefit of $0.7 million B14. The difference was due
primarily to the recording of allowances againded®d tax assets in the U.S. that are uncertdie teealized as well as a reduction to the loss
generated in the U.K.

2011 versus 2010

In 2011, we recorded a tax benefit of $0.7 millemmpared to tax expense of $18.6 million in 201te difference between these two
amounts was due primarily to lower pre-tax incomée United States, the reorganization of ourllegtty structure and refinancing of
intercompany debt, offset in part by the reesthbtisnt of a U.S. federal valuation allowance.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following table summarizes our cash flows f0t2, 2011 and 2010 as reported in our Consolidatatéments of Cash Flows in the
accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements:

For the Year Ended

December 2¢ December 31 January 1,
(in millions of U.S. dollars 2012 2011 2011
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 173« $ 163F $ 178
Net cash used in investing activit| (80.9 (90.2) (554.9)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activi (16.2) (20.9) 393.:
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ 2.1 (0.9 0.2
Net increase in cash & cash equivale 78.t 52.7 17.2
Cash & cash equivalents, beginning of pel 100.¢ 48.2 30.¢
Cash & cash equivalents, end of pel $ 179« $ 100.¢ $ 48.7

Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities in 2012 whs350 million compared to $163.5 million in 2011de$178.4 million in 2010. The $9.5
million increase in 2012 compared to 2011 was diregrily to higher net income, deferred income s&pand income taxes recoverable, offset
by a smaller amount of cash provided by changesitking capital in 2012 compared to 2011.

The $14.9 million decrease in 2011 compared to 2@d9due primarily to the timing of disbursementd the receipt of tax refunds in the
prior year, offset in part by a reduction in invanyt purchases.

Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities was $80.4 miliim2012 compared to $90.2 million in 2011 and $354illion in 2010. The $9.8 million
decrease in 2012 compared to 2011 was due printarilging less cash for acquisitions offset in pgrtarger expenditures for property, plant
and equipment related to our ongoing vertical iraggn.

The $464.5 million decrease in 2011 compared t®2@ds due primarily to the purchase price paiddh®in connection with the Cliffstar
Acquisition. The decrease in 2011 compared to 2049 offset in part by $34.3 million of payments mau 2011 related to contingent
consideration and deferred consideration paid imeotion with the Cliffstar Acquisition.

Financing Activities

Cash used in financing activities was $16.2 millioi2012 compared to cash used of $20.3 millioadh1 and cash provided of $393.3
million in 2010. During 2012, we made payments &f3$million on our long-term debt, $5.8 million fdividends and $1.2 million for financing
fees. In 2011, we made payments of $6.8 milliomonlong-term debt and $7.8 million, net under ABL facility.

In 2011, cash used in financing activities was $2fillion compared to cash provided of $393.3 millin 2010. During 2011, we made
payments of $6.8 million on our long-term debt2011, we made net payments of $7.8 million on oBt Aacility, which reduced our
borrowings to nil. In 2010, we received proceed$3i#5.0 million from the issuance of the 2018 Nated $71.1 million in net proceeds from
the underwritten public offering of 13.4 million otir common shares (the “Equity Offering”), pafiaffset by $14.2 million of financing fees,
$12.5 million in net payments under the ABL fagili$18.7 million in payments of long-term debt, &4 million of distributions to non-
controlling interests.

Financial Liquidity
As of December 29, 2012, we had $605.8 millionedftcand $179.4 million of cash and cash equivaleonispared to $608.0 million of
debt and $100.9 million of cash and cash equivalaastof December 31, 2011.

We believe that our level of resources, which idelicash on hand, available borrowings under thie fagility and funds provided by
operations, will be adequate to meet our expernsgital expenditures, and debt service obligatfonghe next twelve months. Our ability to
generate cash to meet our current expenses andetglute obligations will depend on our future periance. If we do not have enough cash to
pay our debt service obligations, or if the ABLIifig, 2017 Notes, or 2018 Notes were to becomeanily due, either at maturity or as a result
of a breach, we may be required to take actionls as@amending our ABL facility or the indentures@ming our 2017 Notes and 2018 Notes,
refinancing all or part of our existing debt, sgdliassets, incurring additional indebtedness simgiequity. If we need to seek additional
financing, there is no assurance that this additiinancing will be available on favorable ternrsapall.
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Should we desire to consummate significant acqoisépportunities or undertake significant expansetivities, our capital needs would
increase and could result in our need to increeaiadle borrowings under our ABL facility or acegsublic or private debt and equity markets.

As of December 29, 2012, our total availability enthe ABL facility was $220.6 million, which wasased on our borrowing base
(accounts receivables, inventory, and fixed asséfs)had no outstanding borrowings under the ARlilitg and $11.0 million in outstanding
letters of credit. As a result, our excess avdilghinder the ABL facility was $209.6 million. Eaanonth’s borrowing base is not effective until
submitted to the lenders, which usually occursharfifteenth day of the following month.

We earn approximately 92.3% of our consolidated-atpeg income in subsidiaries located outside afda. All of these foreign earnings
are considered to be indefinitely reinvested iriigm jurisdictions where we have made, and willtitwre to make, substantial investments to
support the ongoing development and growth of ptarhational operations. Accordingly, no Canadiamome taxes have been provided on t
foreign earnings. Cash and cash equivalents hetsibjoreign subsidiaries are readily convertill®iother foreign currencies, including
Canadian dollars. We do not intend, nor do we fsgesneed, to repatriate these funds.

We expect existing domestic cash, cash equivaleass) flows from operations and the issuance ofedtimdebt to continue to be
sufficient to fund our domestic operating, invegtand financing activities. In addition, we expexisting foreign cash, cash equivalents, and
cash flows from operations to continue to be sigfitto fund our foreign operating and investing\aties.

In the future, should we require more capital todfgignificant discretionary activities in Canalan is generated by our domestic
operations and is available through the issuandewifestic debt or stock, we could elect to repatfiature periods’ earnings from foreign
jurisdictions. This alternative could result iniglrer effective tax rate during the period of rejadibn. While the likelihood is remote, we cot
also elect to repatriate earnings from foreignsgidtions that have previously been considerectimtbefinitely reinvested. Upon distribution of
those earnings in the form of dividends or otheeywge may be subject to additional Canadian inctaxes and withholding taxes payable to
various foreign jurisdictions, where applicableisTalternative could result in a higher effectiag tate in the period in which such a
determination is made to repatriate prior periagifgn earnings.

During the third quarter of 2010, we completed@iéstar Acquisition. The Cliffstar Acquisition vgafinanced through the issuance of the
2018 Notes (the “Note Offering”), the Equity Offiegi, and borrowings under our ABL facility, which wefinanced in connection with the
Cliffstar Acquisition. The ABL facility was refinaed to, among other things, provide for the Cliffshcquisition, the Note Offering and the
application of net proceeds therefrom, the Equifigkihg and the application of net proceeds themafand to increase the amount available for
borrowings to $275.0 million. We drew down a pantiof indebtedness under that facility in orderund the Cliffstar Acquisition. We incurred
$5.4 million of financing fees in connection withetrefinancing of the ABL facility. Net proceedsrr the Equity Offering were $71.1 million,
after deducting expenses, underwriting discountiscammissions.

Net proceeds resulting from the Note Offering w&366.4 million after issuance costs of $8.6 millidhe 2018 Notes are senior
unsecured obligations and rank equally with albotxisting and future unsubordinated indebtedneskiding indebtedness under our credit
facilities. We are subject to covenants and lirateg on our and/or our subsidiaries’ ability, sabj® certain exceptions and qualifications, to
(i) pay dividends or make distributions, repurchageity securities, prepay subordinated debt orawaktain investments, (ii) incur additional
debt or issue certain disqualified stock or preféstock, (iii) create or incur liens on assetsigag indebtedness, (iv) merge or consolidate with
another company or sell all or substantially albof assets taken as a whole, (v) enter into tctioss with affiliates and (vi) sell assets.

During the fourth quarter of 2009, we completed affiering of $215.0 million in aggregate princigahount of the 2017 Notes resulting in
net proceeds of approximately $206.8 million afteliscount of $3.1 million and issuance costs of $aillion. The 2017 Notes mature on
November 15, 2017 and pay interest semiannuallylay 15t and November 15 of each year. The 2017 Notes are senior unsecinaghtions
and rank equally with all other existing and futuresubordinated indebtedness, including indebtedmeder our credit facilities. We are subject
to covenants and limitations on our and/or our ®lidages’ ability, subject to certain exceptionglajualifications, to (i) pay dividends or make
distributions, repurchase equity securities, prepdyordinated debt or make certain investmenjsn(iur additional debt or issue certain
disqualified stock or preferred stock, (iii) createincur liens on assets, (iv) merge or consadideith another company or sell all or substanti
all assets taken as a whole, (v) enter into trdimseacwith affiliates and (vi) sell assets.
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We may, from time to time, depending on market dms, including without limitation whether the PD Notes or 2018 Notes are then
trading at discounts to their respective face artmuapurchase the 2017 Notes or 2018 Notes fbr aad/or in exchange for shares of our
common stock, warrants, preferred stock, debtluerotonsideration, in each case in open markehpses and/or privately negotiated
transactions. The amounts involved in any suchsaetions, individually or in aggregate, may be malteHowever, the covenants in our ABL
facility subject such purchases to certain limitagi and conditions.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have no off-balance sheet arrangements as defimder Item 303(a)(4) of Regulation S-K as of Deler 29, 2012.

Contractual Obligations

The following table shows the schedule of futurgrpants under certain contracts, including debtegents and guarantees, as of
December 29, 2012:

Payments due by perioc

(in millions of U.S. dollars Total 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter
8.375% Senior notes due in 2C $ 215 $ — $ — $— $— $215.C $ —
8.125% Senior notes due in 2C 375.( — — — — — 375.(
ABL facility * — — — — — — —
GE Obligation? 9.6 0.6 1.C 1.C 7.C — —
Capital lease 4.€ 0.8 1.C 1.C 0.t 0.4 0.¢
Other lon¢-term debt 1.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 —
Interest expens? 263.% 49.t 49.c 49.¢ 48.¢ 46.C 19.¢
Operating lease 111.¢ 19.€ 17.2 16.1 13.4 11.c 34.1
Guarantee purchase equipm 15.¢ 15.¢ — — — — —
Pension obligation 2.C 2.C — — — — —
Purchase obligatior4 175.( 101.5 31.4 17.¢ 13.€ 6.1 4.4
Total 5 $1,173. $190.f $100.. $86.1 $83.€ $279.C $ 434.C

! The ABL facility is considered a current liabiliths of December 29, 2012, we had no outstandingpladngs under the ABL facility

2 We funded water bottling equipment through a finag@agreement signed in January 2008 “GE Obligatior”). At the end of the Gl
Obligation, we may exchange $6.5 million of depofit the extinguishment of $6.5 million in de

Interest expense includes fixed interest on the820dtes, the 2017 Notes, the GE Obligation, the Adgtility, capital leases and otr
long-term liabilities. Actual amounts will differ fromsé@mates providec

Purchase obligations consist of commitments foiptinehase of inventory and energy. These obligatiepresent the minimu
contractual obligations expected under the normoaise of busines

The contractual obligations table excludes the Gaomny's ASC 740 uncertain tax positions of $9.2 milli@cause the Company cani
make a reliable estimate as to when such amoufiteengettled

3
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Debt
Our total debt as of December 29, 2012 and DeceBthe2011 was as follows:

December 2¢ December 31
(in millions of U.S. dollars 2012 2011
8.375% senior notes due in 2(t 215.( 215.(
8.125% senior notes due in 2C 375.( 375.(
ABL facility — —
GE Obligation 9.¢ 12.4
Other capital lease 4.€ 4.1
Other deb 1.2 1t
Total debt 605.¢ 608.(
Less: Sho~term borrowings and current de
ABL facility — —
Total short-term borrowings — —
GE Obligatior- current maturitie: 0.¢ 2.€
Other capital lease- current maturitie: 0.€ 0.€
Other deb- current maturitie: 0.2 0.2
Total current debt 1.€ 3.4
Long-term debt before discou 603.¢ 604.€
Less discount on 8.375% not (2.9 (2.9
Total long-term debt $ 601 $ 6027

: Our 8.375% senior notes were issued at a discdun#@a5% on November 13, 20(C

Asset-Based Lending Facility

On March 31, 2008, we entered into a credit agreemih JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A. as Agent thatterban ABL facility to provide
financing for our North America, U.K. and Mexicqoating segments. In connection with the Cliffd@quisition, we refinanced the ABL
facility on August 17, 2010 to, among other thingvide for the Cliffstar Acquisition, the Note f@fing and the application of net proceeds
therefrom, the Equity Offering and the applicatadmet proceeds therefrom and to increase the anamailable for borrowings to $275.0
million. We drew down a portion of the indebtednesder the ABL facility in order to fund the Clités Acquisition. We incurred $5.4 million
of financing fees in connection with the refinarcof the ABL facility.

On July 19, 2012, we amended the ABL facility tmceng other things, extend the maturity date toeeiftuly 19, 2017 or, if we have not
redeemed, repurchased or refinanced the 2017 Kpteay 1, 2017, May 15, 2017. We incurred $1.2 inmillof financing fees in connection
with the amendment of the ABL facility. This amersimhwas considered to be a modification of theiaigagreement under generally accepted
accounting standards.

The financing fees incurred in connection with ténancing of the ABL facility on August 17, 201dlpng with the financing fees
incurred in connection with the amendment of theA&cility on July 19, 2012, are being amortizeithgshe straight-line method over the
duration of the amended ABL facility.

As of December 29, 2012, we had no outstandingolangs under the ABL facility. The commitment feas0.375% per annum of the
unused commitment, which, taking into account $Hildon of letters of credit, was $264.0 millios af December 29, 2012.

The effective interest rate as of December 29, 201RIBOR and Prime loans is based on average ggtgavailability as follows:

Canadian
Eurodollar CDOR LIBOR
ABR Prime
Average Aggregate Availability (in millions of U.S. dollars Spreac Spread Spread Spreac Spread
Over $15( 0.25% 0.25% 1.7% 1.7% 1.7%
$75-150 0.5(% 0.5(% 2.0(% 2.0(% 2.0(%
Under $7& 0.7*% 0.7% 2.2% 2.2% 2.2%
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8.125% Senior Notes duein 2018

On August 17, 2010, we issued $375.0 million of@0btes. The issuer of the 2018 Notes is our wholyed U.S. subsidiary Cott
Beverages Inc., and most of our U.S., Canadiarladdsubsidiaries guarantee the 2018 Notes. Tlegdnt on the 2018 Notes is payable semi-
annually on March # and Septembet 1 of each year.

We incurred $8.6 million of financing fees in contien with the issuance of the 2018 Notes. Therfiirag fees are being amortized using
the effective interest method over an eight-yeaiogdewhich represents the term to maturity of 2048 Notes.

8.375% Senior Notesduein 2017

On November 13, 2009, we issued $215.0 millionGf722Notes. The 2017 Notes were issued at a $3libmdiscount. The issuer of the
2017 Notes is our wholly-owned U.S. subsidiary G#terages Inc., and most of our U.S., CanadiarlhKdsubsidiaries guarantee the 2017
Notes. The interest on the 2017 Notes is payalg-annually on May 1% and November®5 of each year.

We incurred $5.1 million of financing fees in contien with the 2017 Notes. The financing fees amdp amortized using the effective
interest method over an eight-year period, whignasents the term to maturity of the 2017 Notes.

GE Financing Agreement

We funded $32.5 million of water bottling equipmentchases through a finance lease arrangemefoB Zhe quarterly payments under
the lease obligation totaled approximately $8.8iamlper annum for the first two years, $5.3 milliper annum for the subsequent two years,
then $1.7 million per annum for the final four ygar

Credit Ratings and Covenant Compliance
Credit Ratings
Our objective is to maintain credit ratings that\ygde us with ready access to global capital aeditmarkets at favorable interest rates.

As of December 29, 2012, the Company’s credit gatiwere as follows:

Credit Ratings
Standard and Poor's

Moody’s Rating Rating
Corporate credit ratin B2 B+
2017 Notes B3 B+
2018 Notes B3 B+
Outlook Positive Stable

Any downgrade of our credit ratings by either Mosdyr S&P could increase our future borrowing castgnpair our ability to access
capital markets on terms commercially acceptablestor at all.

Covenant Compliance
8.125% Senior Notes due in 2018

Under the indenture governing the 2018 Notes, wesabject to a number of covenants, including camenthat limit our and certain of
our subsidiaries’ ability, subject to certain exti@ps and qualifications, to (i) pay dividends aaka distributions, repurchase equity securities,
prepay subordinated debt or make certain invessnéitincur additional debt or issue certain dislified stock or preferred stock, (iii) create
incur liens on assets securing indebtedness, @?yenor consolidate with another company or sketirasubstantially all of our assets taken as a
whole, (v) enter into transactions with affiliaesd (vi) sell assets. We have been in compliant alli of the covenants under the 2018 Notes
and there have been no amendments to any suchasusesince the 2018 Notes were issued.

8.375% Senior Notes due in 2017

Under the indenture governing the 2017 Notes, wesabject to a number of covenants, including camenthat limit our and certain of
our subsidiaries’ ability, subject to certain exo@ps and qualifications, to (i) pay dividends ocaka distributions, repurchase equity securities,
prepay subordinated debt or make certain invessnéitincur additional debt or issue certain dislified stock or preferred stock, (iii) create
incur liens on assets securing indebtedness, @?yenor consolidate with another company or sketirasubstantially all of our assets taken as a
whole, (v) enter into transactions with affiliaesd (vi) sell assets. We have been in compliante alli of the covenants under the 2017 Notes
and there have been no amendments to any suchasusesince the 2017 Notes were issued.
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ABL Facility

On July 19, 2012, we, and the other parties tABE facility, agreed to amend the ABL facility tamong other things (a) extend the
maturity date to either July 19, 2017 or, if we &anot redeemed, repurchased or refinanced theROtES by May 1, 2017, May 15, 2017,
(b) change the threshold at which the springingimmiim fixed charge coverage ratio would be testddckvthreshold will now be met if excess
availability is less than the greater of 10% of lgveders’ commitments under the revolving crediilfy (the “Revolver”) or $27.5 million, and
(c) change the threshold at which the springindy clsninion provision would become effective, whibheshold will now be met if excess
availability is less than the greater of 12.5%h&f kenders’ commitments under the Revolver or &&Blillion. Although the minimum fixed
charge coverage ratio was not triggered as of Dbee@B, 2012, the ratio as calculated under thigmmant was greater than 1.1 to 1.0. We were
in compliance with all of the applicable covenamsler the ABL facility as of December 29, 2012.

Common Share Repurchase Program

On May 1, 2012, our board of directors authorizeglrepurchase of up to $35.0 million of our comrabares in the open market or
through privately negotiated transactions over-anbhth period through either a 10b5-1 automatiditig plan or at management’s discretion in
compliance with regulatory requirements, and gireket, cost and other considerations. We are artatpredict the number of shares that
be repurchased under the share repurchase prograime, aggregate dollar amount of the shares &gtpalchased. We may discontinue
purchases at any time, subject to compliance wgthieable regulatory requirements. During the seloguiarter of 2012, we repurchased 35,272
common shares for approximately $0.3 million thioogen market transactions. No additional repueshasre made under the program
through December 29, 2012.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

In the fourth quarter of 2012, 356,379 shares ofppaviously-issued common stock were withheld fidefivery to our employees to
satisfy their tax obligations related to stock-lthawards.

Capital structure

Since December 31, 2011, equity has increased 4y $8illion. The increase was primarily the resilhet income of $47.8 million, $4.5
million of non-controlling interest income, $4.91loin of share-based compensation expense, $10liomaf foreign currency translation gain
on the net assets of self-sustaining foreign oersitand $1.4 million in pension benefit plan atijoents offset by $5.8 million in dividend
payments, $3.2 million in common share purchases$&.6 million of distributions to non-controllingterests.

Dividend payments

No dividend payments were made during 2010 or 20hlOctober 31, 2012, the board of directors dedlardividend of C$0.06 per sh
on common shares, payable in cash on Decembef2@,t8 shareowners of record at the close of basina December 4, 2012. The dividend
payment was approximately $5.8 million in the aggte. Cott intends to pay a regular quarterly @miion its common shares subject to,
among other things, the best interests of its sivaners, Cott's results of operations, cash balaandsuture cash requirements, financial
condition, statutory regulations and covenant$aé in the ABL facility and indentures governitige 2017 Notes and 2018 Notes, as well as
other factors that the board of directors may desevant from time to time.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK
We do not trade market risk sensitive instruments.
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Currency Exchange Rate Risk

We are exposed to changes in foreign currency exggheates. Operations outside of the United Statesunted for 34.2% of 2012
revenue and 32.5% of 2011 revenue, and are coatetfprincipally in the United Kingdom, Canada dekico. We translate the revenues and
expenses of our foreign operations using averageagge rates prevailing during the period. Thecefiéa 10.0% change in foreign currency
exchange rates among the U.S. dollar versus thadamdollar, pound sterling and Mexican peso d3eafember 29, 2012, at current levels of
foreign debt and operations would result in oueraies in 2012 changing by $73.4 million and ousgiarofit in 2012 changing by $8.2 millic
This change would be material to our cash flows@mndresults of operations.

Our primary exposure to foreign currency exchargesrrelates to transactions in which the curreotlgcted from customers is different
from the currency utilized to purchase the produdd. In 2012, we entered into foreign currencytamis to hedge some of these currency
exposures for which natural hedges do not exigufdbhedges exist when purchases and sales veithiecific country are both denominated in
the same currency and, therefore, no exposuresewristedge with foreign exchange forward, optiagrsveap contracts (collectively, the “foreign
exchange contracts”). We do not enter into foregchange contracts for trading purposes. The figbss on a foreign exchange contract is the
risk of nonperformance by the counterparties, which we mingniig limiting our counterparties to major finandratitutions. The fair values
the foreign exchange contracts, which are $0.Jianillare estimated using market quotes. As of DéeerR9, 2012, we had outstanding foreign
exchange forward contracts with notional amount$1¥.5 million.

Debt obligations and interest rates

We have exposure to interest rate risk from thstanting principal amounts of our short-term amgylterm debt. Our long-term debt is
fixed and our short-term debt is variable. Our Afatility is vulnerable to fluctuations in the U.&hort-term base rate and the LIBOR rate. Since
we did not have any ABL borrowings outstanding EBecember 29, 2012, a 100 basis point increa#igeicurrent per annum interest rate for
our ABL facility (excluding the $11.0 million of d¢standing letters of credit) would not result irdémnal interest expense or be material to our
cash flows or our results of operations. The weidt#verage interest rate of our debt outstandibgpaember 29, 2012 was 8.2%.

We regularly review the structure of our debt aodsider changes to the proportion of variable \&efswed rate debt through refinancing,
interest rate swaps or other measures in resportee thanging economic environment. Historicallg, have not used derivative instruments to
manage interest rate risk. If we use and fail toag@ these derivative instruments successfullf,vee are unable to refinance our debt or
otherwise increase our debt capacity in responshdoges in the marketplace, the expense assowidtedebt service could increase. This
would negatively impact our financial condition gorafitability.

The information below summarizes our market risgsoaiated with longerm debt obligations as of December 29, 2012.tahke presen:
principal cash flows and related interest rategdsyr. Interest rates disclosed represent the astighted average rates as of December 29,
2012.

Debt Obligations

Outstanding Weighted averags
(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentage ants) debt balance interest rate
Debt maturing in:
2013 $ 1.6 8.2%
2014 2.3 8.2%
2015 2.3 8.2%
2016 7.8 8.2%
2017 215.€ 8.1%
Thereafte 375.¢ 8.1%
Total $ 605.8

We funded the purchase of water bottling equipntenaiugh the GE Obligation. At the end of the GEi@dtion, we may exchange $¢
million of deposits for the extinguishment of $&lion in debt or elect to purchase such equipm
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Commodity Price Risk

The competitive marketplace in which we operate tmaig our ability to recover increased costs thgbihigher prices. As a result, we are
subject to market risk with respect to commoditg@fluctuations principally related to our purces®f aluminum, PET resin, corn for HFCS,
sugar, fruit and fruit concentrates. When possilslemanage our exposure to this risk primarily tigtothe use of supplier pricing agreements,
which enable us to fix the purchase prices forabertommodities. We estimate that a 10% increatieeimarket prices of these commodities
over the current market prices would cumulativelgréase our cost of sales during the next 12 mdmttapproximately $30.0 million. This
change would be material to our cash flows andesults of operations.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
Financial statements and exhibits filed underitei are listed in the index appearing in Iltem L8 report.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company’s management, under the supervisiomvidhdhe participation of the Company’s Chief Entee Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, carried out an evaluation of #ffectiveness of the design and operation of the@any’s disclosure controls and procedures
as of December 29, 2012 (the “Evaluation”). Bageohuthe Evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executiiic@r and Chief Financial Officer
concluded that Company’s disclosure controls andgutures (as defined in Rule 1Ba(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) #iectve.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

The Company’s management is responsible for eshabtj and maintaining adequate internal controt éimancial reporting as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Manag@revaluates the effectiveness of the Companteésrial control over financial reporting
using the criteria set forth by the Committee ob6/8goring Organizations of the Treadway Commissioimtiernal Control—Integrated
Framework. Management, under the supervision attdtive participation of the CompasyChief Executive Officer and Chief Financial O
assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s inteongol over financial reporting as of Decemb@r 2012, and concluded that it was effective
as of December 29, 2012.

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal corgrar financial reporting as of December 29, 2042 Ibeen audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the Company'’s indepemdgistered certified public accounting firm, wdlso audited the Company’s
consolidated financial statements included in Anigual Report on Form 10-K, as stated in their repdich appears herein.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control ovaarftial reporting during the quarter ended Decer@BeR012 that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, our internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not Applicable.
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PART IlI

| TEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information required by this item regardingediors is incorporated by reference to, and wiltbetained in, the “Election of
Directors” section of our definitive proxy circulfor the 2013 Annual Meeting of Shareowners, whidghbe filed within 120 days after
December 29, 2012 (the “2013 Proxy Circular”). Tiffermation required by this item regarding auditranittee financial expert disclosure is
incorporated by reference to, and will be contaimedhe “Corporate Governance” section of our 2818xy Circular. The information required
by this item regarding executive officers appeartha Supplemental Item in Part |. There have Ipeematerial changes to the procedures by
which shareholders may recommend nominees to ardhad directors.

The Audit Committee of our board of directors is‘aadit committee” for the purposes of Section @8)(A) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended. The Audit Committee chastposted on our website at www.cott.com. The imens of the Audit Committee are
Graham Savage (Chairman), George Burnett and Grédgonahan. As required by the NYSE rules, the bdesldetermined that each member
of the Audit Committee is financially literate atitht Mr. Savage qualifies as an “audit committeavricial expert” within the meaning of the
rules of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Comnrissio

All of our directors, officers and employees mustnply with our Code of Business Conduct and EtHitsiddition, our Chief Executive
Officer, Chief Financial Officer and principal acgting officer and certain other employees haverénér obligation to comply with our Code
Ethics for Senior Officers. Our Code of Businessi@iat and Ethics and our Code of Ethics for Se@iificers are posted on our website,
www.cott.com and we intend to comply with obligasato disclose any amendment to, or waiver of, ipions of these codes by posting such
information on our website.

Section 16(a) Beneficial ownership reporting compdince

The information required by this item is incorpadby reference to, and will be contained in, tBection 16(a) Beneficial Ownership
Reporting Compliance” section of our 2013 ProxycGlar.

| TEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is incorpehby reference to, and will be contained in, t@erhpensation of Executive Officers”
section of our 2013 Proxy Circular.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
SHAREOWNER MATTERS

The information required by this item is incorpeby reference to, and will be contained in, fAgricipal Shareowners,” “Security
Ownership of Directors and Management” and “Eq@iompensation Plan Information” sections of our 2B1@&xy Circular.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item is incorpadby reference to, and will be contained in, fGertain Relationships and Related
Transactions” section of our 2013 Proxy Circular.

| TEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorpeby reference to, and will be contained in, tinelépendent Registered Certified Public
Accounting Firm” section of our 2013 Proxy Circular
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P ART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) The documents filed as part of this reportaaréollows:
1. Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements and acconipgmgport of independent registered certified puatcounting firm are
listed in the Index to Consolidated Financial Staats and are filed as part of this report.

2. Financial Statement Schedule
Schedule Il—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
3. Exhibits
Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K feeth on the “Exhibit Index.”

All other schedules called for by the applicableCStecounting regulations are not required underdteged instructions or are
inapplicable and, therefore, have been omitted.
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registhas duly caused this report to be

Signatures

signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduoly authorized.

Cott Corporation

/s/ JERRYF OWDEN

Jerry Fowden
Chief Executive Officer
Date: February 27, 2012

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bblpthe following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#ites indicated:

/s/ JERRYF OWDEN

Jerry Fowden
Chief Executive Officer, Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

/sl JAY WELLS

Jay Wells
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ GREGORY L EITER

Gregory Leiter
Senior Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and
Assistant Secretary
(Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ Davib T. GIBBONS

David T. Gibbons
Chairman, Director

/s/ M ARK B ENADIBA

Mark Benadiba
Director

/s/ STEPHEN H. H ALPERIN

Stephen H. Halperin
Director

/sl BETTYJANEH ESS

Betty Jane Hess
Director

Date:

Date:

Date:

Date:

Date:

Date:

Date:

February 27, 201

/s/ GREGORY M ONAHAN

February 27, 201

Gregory Monahan
Director

/sl MarioPILOzzI

February 27, 201

Mario Pilozzi
Director

/ s/ GEORGE A. B URNETT

February 27, 201

George A. Burnett
Director

/s/  ANDREWP ROZES

February 27, 201

Andrew Prozes
Director

/s/  GRAHAM S AVAGE

February 27, 201

Graham Savage
Director

/s/ ERICR OSENFELD

February 27, 201
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Report of Independent Registered Certified Public Acounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Cott Corporation:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetadisted in the accompanying index present fairlyall material respects, the financial
position of Cott Corporation and its subsidiarieBacember 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011, anesoéts of their operations and their cash
flows for each of the three years in the periodeehDecember 29, 2012 in conformity with accountirigciples generally accepted in the Un
States of America. In addition, in our opinion, fimancial statement schedule listed in the indgxearing under Item 15(a)2 presents fairly, in
all material respects, the information set fortbréin when read in conjunction with the relatedsaiidated financial statements. Also in our
opinion, the Company maintained, in all materiapects, effective internal control over financigporting as of December 29, 2012, based on
criteria established imternal Control—Integrated Frameworksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidriee Treadway
Commission (COSO). The Compasyhanagement is responsible for these financiraents and financial statement schedule, for raiiimig
effective internal control over financial reportingd for its assessment of the effectiveness efriat control over financial reporting, includet
Management's Report on Internal Control Over FiigriReporting appearing under Iltem 9A. Our respuilii is to express opinions on these
financial statements, on the financial statemehédale, and on the Company’s internal control dwemcial reporting based on our integrated
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance tivétstandards of the Public Company Accounting €lght Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thestalbbtain reasonable assurance about whethén#émeial statements are free of material
misstatement and whether effective internal cordvelr financial reporting was maintained in all er&l respects. Our audits of the financial
statements included examining, on a test basideaee supporting the amounts and disclosures ifirthecial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimatade by management, and evaluating the ovaratdial statement presentation. Our audit
of internal control over financial reporting incked obtaining an understanding of internal contv@rdinancial reporting, assessing the risk that
a material weakness exists, and testing and evaduidte design and operating effectiveness of fr@lerontrol based on the assessed risk. Our
audits also included performing such other proceslas we considered necessary in the circumstaneekelieve that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahsiatements for external purposes in accordanttegeinerally accepted accounting principles.
A company'’s internal control over financial repogiincludes those policies and procedures thae(iain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettlansactions and dispositions of the assetseofampany; (ii) provide reasonable assurance
transactions are recorded as necessary to perapiagation of financial statements in accordanch génerally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the companigeing made only in accordance with authorizatimirmanagement and directors of the
company; and (i) provide reasonable assurancardiug prevention or timely detection of unauthedacquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effetihe financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or detaisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periodssaibject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers L
Tampa, Floride
February 27, 201
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COTT CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in millions of U.S. dollars except share and gears amounts)

December 29, 201 2011

Revenue, ne $ 2,250.¢ $ 2,334.¢
Cost of sale: 1,961. 2,058.(
Gross profit 289.t 276.€
Selling, general and administrative exper 178.C 172.5
Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipm 1.8 1.2
Restructuring and asset impairme

Restructuring — —

Asset impairment — 0.€

Intangible asset impairmer — 1.4
Operating income 109.7 100.7
Contingent consideration ei-out adjustmen 0.€ 0.€
Other (income) expense, r (2.0 2.2
Interest expense, n 54.2 57.1
Income before income taxe 56.€ 40.5
Income tax expense (bene 4.€ (0.7)
Net income $ 52.2 $ 41.2
Less: Net income attributable to r-controlling interest: 4.t 3.€
Net income attributed to Cott Corporati $ 47.¢ $ 37.€
Net income per common share attributed to Cott Corpration

Basic $ 0.51 $ 0.4C

Diluted 0.5C 0.4C
Weighted average outstanding shares (thousands) atuted to Cott

Corporation
Basic 94,55 94,24
Diluted 94,77¢ 95,00:

For the Year Ended

December 31

The accompanying notes are an integral part obthessolidated financial statements.

F-3

January 1, 201:
$ 1,803.
1,537.(
266.:

166.7
1.1

(0.5)

99.C

$ 0.64
0.6

85,58¢
86,18
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COTT CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(in millions of U.S. dollars)

For the Year Ended

December 29, 201

Net income $ 52.%
Other comprehensive income (los

Currency translation adjustme 10.7

Pension benefit plan, net of t! 1.4

Unrealized gain (loss) on derivative instruments,of tax2 —
Total other comprehensive income (loss 12.1
Comprehensive income $ 64.4
Less: Comprehensive income attributable tc-controlling interest: 4.3
Comprehensive income attributed to Cott Corporation $ 60.1

1

2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011, resggc

2

respectively

December 31, 201
$ 41.2

4.7
(3.1)
0.6

(7.9
$ 34.C
3.6

$ 30.4

Net of a $1.1 million tax expense, $0.6 million teenefit and $0.6 million tax benefit for the yearsled December 2

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statements.
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January 1, 201:

$ 59.
4E
(0.9)
(0.9
3.6
$ 63.€
5.1
$ 58.F

Net of a $0.3 million tax expense and $0.1 milliar benefit effect for the years ended Decembef311 and January 1, 20:
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ASSETS

Current assets

Cash & cash equivalen

Accounts receivable, net of allowar
Income taxes recoverak

Inventories

Prepaid expenses and other current a:

Total current assets

Property, plant & equipment, n
Goodwill

Intangibles and other assets,
Deferred income taxe

Other tax receivabl

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities

Current maturities of lor-term debr
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit

Total current liabilities

Long-term deb:
Deferred income taxe
Other lon¢-term liabilities

Total liabilities
Commitments and contingenci- Note 17

Equity

COTT CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Capital stock, no pe 95,371,484 (December 31, 20- 95,101,230) shares issu

Treasury stocl

Additional paic-in-capital

Retained earning

Accumulated other comprehensive i

Total Cott Corporation equity
Nonr-controlling interest:

Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

Approved by the Board of Directors:

/s/ Graham Savag
Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part obthessolidated financial statements.
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(in millions of U.S. dollars, except share amounts)

December 29, 201

$

(12.9)

$

179.4
199.
1.2
224.¢
20.5

625.1

490.¢
130.:
315.4
3.2
0.8

1,565.¢

1.¢
2873

289.€

601.¢
39.1
12.5

943.(

397.¢

40.4
186.(

611.¢
11.1

622.¢

1,565.¢

December 31, 201

$ 100.¢
210.¢

9.9

210.(

19.5

550.¢

482.2
129.¢
341.1
4.1
1.C

$ 1,508.¢

$ 3.4
281.1

284.%

602.1
34.1
20.C

940.%

395.¢
2.1

42.€

144.1
(24.7)

555.¢

12.4

568.2
$ 1,508.¢
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COTT CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Operating Activities
Net income
Depreciation & amortizatio
Amortization of financing fee
Shar+based compensation expe!
Increase (decrease) in deferred income t
Write-off of financing fees
Gain on bargain purcha
Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipm
Loss on buyback of Note
Asset impairment
Intangible asset impairmer
Contingent consideration ei-out adjustmen
Contract termination char
Contract termination paymer
Other nor-cash item:

Change in operating assets and liabilities, necqlisition:

Accounts receivabl
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Other asset
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and ¢
liabilities
Income taxes recoverak
Net cash provided by operating activit

Investing Activities
Acquisition
Additions to property, plant & equipme
Additions to intangibles and other ass
Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipn
Proceeds from insurance recovel
Other investing activitie

Net cash used in investing activit|

Financing Activities
Payments of lor-term deb!
Issuance of lor-term debt
Borrowings under ABL
Payments under AB
Distributions to no-controlling interest:
Issuance of common shares, net of offering
Common share repurche
Dividends to shareholde
Financing fee:
Net cash (used in) provided by financ
activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢

Net increase in cash & cash equivalen
Cash & cash equivalents, beginning of perio

Cash & cash equivalents, end of perio

Supplemental Nor-cash Investing and Financing Activities:
Capital lease additior
Common stock repurchased through accrued exp
Deferred consideratic

For the Year Ended

December 29, 201

$ 52.5
97.7

3.7

4.

3.8

0.9

1.8

(9.7)

(69.7)

(5.9)
2.3
1.

(80.4)

(3.9
24.F
(24.5)
(5.6)

09
(5.6
(1.9)

(16.2)
2.1

78.5
100.¢

$ 179.¢

December 31, 201

$ 41.2
95.2

3.

2.¢

3.7

1.2

0.€
14

(3.1)
4.¢C

5.0
6.5
5.

0.7)

11.5
0.€

163.5

(34.9)
(48.)

(5.7)
0.4

(L.
(90.2)

(6.6)

224.1
(231.9
(6.0

0.2

(20.9)
(0.9
52.7
48.2

$ 100.¢

January 1, 201:

$ 59.¢
74.C

2.7

4.7

17.C

1.4

(18.7)
375.(
366.
(379.0
(7.4
71.1

(14.2)
393.
0.2

17.c
30.€

13.2



Contingent consideration ei-out — — 32.2

Working capital adjustmel — — 4.7
Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information

Cash paid for intere: $ 51.C $ 53.¢ $ 22.¢

Cash (received) paid for income taxes, (7.7) 1.2 (24.9)

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statements.
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Balance at January 2, 201!

Common shares issu
Common shares issu- Director¢
Share Awarc
Tax impact of common shares issua
Treasury shares issu- PSU Plar
Treasury shares issu- EISPP
Shar+based compensatic
Distributions to no-controlling interest
Comprehensive incorr
Currency translation adjustme
Pension benefit plan, net of t
Unrealized loss on derivatiy
instruments, net of te
Net income

Balance at January 1, 201.:

Common shares issL-Directore Share
Award
Treasury shares issu- PSU Plar
Treasury shares issu- EISPP
Shar+based compensatic
Options exercise
Contributions to nc-controlling
interests
Distributions to no-controlling interest
Comprehensive incorr
Currency translation adjustme
Pension benefit plan, net of t
Unrealized gain on derivati\
instruments, net of ts
Net income

Balance at December 31, 201

Common shares issu- Director¢
Share Awarc
Common shares repurchased
cancellec
Treasury shares issu- Time-basec
RSUs
Common shares issu- Time-basec
RSUs
Shar-based compensatic
Dividend paymen
Distributions to no-controlling interest
Comprehensive incorr
Currency translation adjustme
Pension benefit plan, net of t
Unrealized gain(loss) c
derivative instruments, net of
tax
Net income

Balance at December 29, 201

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

COTT CORPORATION

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except share amounts)

Cott Corporation Equity

Retained

Accumulated

Number of Number of Additional Other
Common Treasury Common Treasury Earnings Comprehensive

Shares Shares Paid-in- Non-Controlling Total
(In thousands) (In thousands) Shares Shares Capital (Deficit)  Income (Loss) Interests Equity
81,33 150¢ $322 $ (449 $ 37¢ $ 51 $ (1.9 $ 15.2 $401.:
13,34( — 71.1 — — — — — 71.1
79 — — — 0.7 — — — 0.7

— — 20 — — — — — 2.C

— (437 — 1.2 13 — — — (0.1)

— (16) — — — — — — —

— — — — 4c  — — — 4.

— — — — — — — 749 (7.9

— — — — — — 4.F — 4.E

— — — — — — (0.4) — (0.9

— — — — — — (0.9) — (0.9

— — — — — 54.7 — 5.1 59.¢
94,75( 1,057 $395.¢6 $ (3.2 $ 40.t $106.f 3 175 $ 13.C $535.2
76 — — — 0.7 — — — 0.7

— (181) — 0.E (05 — — — —

— (196 — 0.€ (0.6) — — — —

— — — — 22 — — — 2.2
27¢ — 0.3 — — — — — 0.3

— — — — — — — 1.6 1.6

— — — — — — — (6.0 (6.0

— — — — — — (4.7) — (4.7

— — — — — — (3.1) — (3.1

— — — — — — 0.€ — 0.€

— — — — — 37.€ — 3.€ 41.2
95,10: 674 $395.¢ $ (2.1)$ 42.€ $144.7 $ (24.7) $ 12.4 $568.2
96 — — — 0.7 — — — 0.7
(392) — k1) — — (0.1) — — (3.9
— 679 — 2.1 (2.1) — — — —
56€ — 50 — 50 — — — —

— — — — 4z  — — — 4.2

— — — — — (5.€) — — (5.9)

— — — — — — — (5.6) (5.6

— — — — — — 10.¢ (0.2) 10.7

— — — — — — 14 — 14

_ — — — — 47.¢ — 4.5 52.:
95,37 — $397.¢6 $ — $ 404 $186.0 $ (12.9H $ 11.1 $622.¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statemer
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Description of Business

Cott Corporation, together with its consolidatesdiaries (“Cott,” “the Company,” “our Company,Cbtt Corporation,” “we,” “us,” or
“our”), is one of the world’s largest producersbafverages on behalf of retailers, brand ownerglatdbutors. Our product lines include
carbonated soft drinks (“CSDs"), 100% shelf stablee and juice-based products, clear, still aratldng flavored waters, energy products,
sports products, new age beverages, and readyrlotdas, as well as alcoholic beverages for bramaers.

Note 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of presentation

These consolidated financial statements have begraped in accordance with U.S. generally accegtedunting principles (“GAAP™)
using the U.S. dollar as the reporting currencythasmajority of our business and the majority of shareowners are in the United States.

For the years ended December 29, 2012, Decemb@031,and January 1, 2011, we had 52 weeks ofitctiv

We have five reporting segments—North America (Wwhitcludes our U.S. operating segment and Canaglatipg segment), United
Kingdom (“U.K.”) (which includes our United Kingdomeporting unit and our Continental European répgrtinit), Mexico, Royal Crown
International (“RCI") and All Other.

Basis of consolidation

The financial statements consolidate our accowntswholly-owned and majority-owned subsidiaried @int ventures which we control.
All intercompany transactions and accounts have keéminated in consolidation.

Estimates

The preparation of these consolidated financiaésiants in conformity with GAAP requires managentenhake estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts of assetsaitities and disclosure of contingent assetsladilities at the date of the financial stateme
and the amount of revenue and expenses duringploeting period. Actual results could differ frohose estimates. The consolidated financial
statements include estimates and assumptions whitte opinion of management, were significarthi® underlying amounts representing the
future valuation of intangible assets, long-livedets and goodwill, accounting for share-based eosgtion, realization of deferred income tax
assets and the resolution of tax contingencies.

Revenue recognition

We recognize revenue, net of sales returns, whewiship passes to customers for products manuéatiarour own plants and/or by
third parties on our behalf, and when prices toaustomers are fixed and collection is reasonaddyiieed. This may be upon shipment of goods
or upon delivery to the customer, depending onrastuial terms. Shipping and handling costs paithbycustomer to us are included in revel
Although we accept returns of products from outt@orers occasionally, such returns, historicallyehaot been material.

Sales incentives

We participate in various incentive programs with customers, including volume-based incentivesiragtual rebates and promotional
allowances. Volume incentives are based on ouomests achieving volume targets for a period of tir@ume incentives and contractual
rebates are deducted from revenue and accruee agtntives are earned and are based on manad¢eesithate of the total the customer is
expected to earn and claim. Promotional allowaacesccrued at time of revenue recognition and @edurom revenue based on either the
volume shipped or the volume sold at the retadeation, depending on the terms of the allowance r&gularly review customer sales forecasts
to ensure volume targets will be met and adjusntige accruals and revenues accordingly.

Cost of sales

We record shipping and handling and finished gaodsntory costs in cost of sales. Finished goodsritory costs include the cost of
direct labor and materials and the applicable sbhowerhead expense chargeable to production.
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Selling, general and administrative expenses
We record all other expenses not charged to pradues selling, general and administrative expenses

Share-based compensation

Share-based compensation expense for all shard-basgensation awards is based on the grant-dateafae. We recognized these
compensation costs net of a forfeiture rate omaagstt-line basis over the requisite service pedbthe award, which is generally the vesting
term of three years. No estimated forfeitures vieeckided in the calculation of share-based compgenséor the 2012, 2011 and 2010 share-
based awards.

Additional paid-in capital is adjusted by the tenpict related to the difference between the amdediticted for tax purposes and the
compensation cost for accounting purposes. Wheréthdeduction exceeds book compensation cogtceense in additional paid-in capital is
recorded. Where the tax deduction is less than boolpensation cost, a reduction in additional paidapital is recorded to the extent there is
an accumulated balance or charged to income teensepf a shortfall remains after the accumulatititimnal paid-in capital is brought to zero.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include all highly ligomicestments with original maturities not exceedimgee months at the time of purchase.
The fair values of our cash and cash equivalergsoapmate the amounts shown on our Consolidatedrigal Sheets due to their short-term
nature.

Allowance for doubtful accounts

A portion of our accounts receivable is not expettebe collected due to non-payment, bankrupsoessales returns and deductions. Our
accounting policy for the allowance for doubtfutaants requires us to reserve an amount basecea@v#iuation of the aging of accounts
receivable, sales return trend analysis, detaitedlais of high-risk customers’ accounts, and therall market and economic conditions of our
customers.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, detexdhon the first-in, first-out method, or net ieable value. Returnable bottles are valued
at the lower of cost, deposit value or net realeahlue. Finished goods and work-in-process irelig cost of raw materials, direct labor and
manufacturing overhead costs. As a result, we nsevantory reserve to adjust our costs down tetaerlizable value and to reserve for
estimated obsolescence of both raw and finishedgjoo

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cestdecumulated depreciation. Depreciation is aathetween cost of sales and selling,
general and administration expenses and is detedmnising the straight-line method over the estichateful lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings 10 to 40 yea
Machinery and equipme 7 to 15 yeai
Furniture and fixture 3to 10 yeat
Plates, films and molc 1to 10 yeal
Vending 5to 10 yeat
Transportation equipme 3to 15 yeal
IT Systems 3to 7 year

Leasehold improvements are amortized using thegktrine method over the remaining life of thedear useful life, whichever is
shorter. Maintenance and repairs are charged t@tipg expense when incurred.
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Goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets:
The following table summarizes our goodwill on paging segment basis as of December 29, 2012 acdrbber 31, 2011:

(in millions of U.S. dollars December 29, 201 December 31, 201
North America
Balance at beginning of ye $ 125.] $ 125.7
Goodwill acquired during the ye — —
Foreign exchang 0.7 (0.6)
Balance at end of ye. $ 125.¢ $ 125.1
RCI

Balance at beginning of ye $ 4.5 $ 4.5
Goodwill acquired during the ye — —
Foreign exchang — —

Balance at end of ye. $ 4.t $ 4.5
Total

Balance at beginning of ye $ 129.¢ $ 130.2

Goodwill acquired during the ye — —

Foreign exchang 0.7 (0.6

Balance at end of ye. $ 130.% $ 129.¢

Goodwill represents the excess purchase pricecpfigsrl businesses over the fair value of the regtasacquired. Goodwill is not
amortized, but instead is tested for impairmeféasgt annually in the fourth quarter or more freglyeif we determine a triggering event has
occurred during the year. Any impairment loss @grized in our results of operations. We evalgatedwill for impairment on a reporting unit
basis. Reporting units are operations for whickreig financial information is available, and areraone level below our operating segments.
For the purpose of testing goodwill for impairmesur reporting units are U.S., Canada and RCI. Atedoodwill of $130.3 million on our
balance sheet at December 29, 2012, which repeeaerdgunts for the U.S., Canada and the RCI rejgoutiits.

In 2012, for our Canada and RCI reporting unitsasgessed qualitative factors to determine whétieeexistence of events or
circumstances indicated that it was more likelynthat that the fair value of the reporting unit ess than its carrying amount. If, after
assessing the totality of events or circumstangedjad determined that it was more likely thanthat the fair value of the reporting unit was
less than its carrying amount, then we would haréopmed the first step of the two-step goodwilpairment test. We concluded that it was
more likely than not that the fair value of eachaiting unit was more than its carrying amount tretefore we were not required to perform
first step of the two-step goodwill impairment test

For our U.S. reporting unit, we chose to bypasgjthaditative assessment and performed the firptatéhe two-step goodwill impairment
test using a mix of the income approach (whichaisell on the discounted cash flow of the reportirig end the public company approach. We
believe using a combination of the two approachesiges a more accurate valuation because it incatps the actual cash generation of the
Company in addition to how a third party markettiggrant would value the reporting unit. Because blisiness is assumed to continue in
perpetuity, the discounted future cash flow inchidgerminal value. We used a weighted averagertatigrowth rate of 1% for our U.S.
reporting unit in 2012 and 2011. The long-term gtoassumptions incorporated into the discountel fiaw calculation reflect our long-term
view of the market (including a decline in CSD detia projected changes in the sale of our prodpeising of such products and operating
profit margins. The estimated revenue changessratialysis for the U.S. reporting unit ranged lestw-1.4% and 3.0% for 2012 and 2.2% and
3.4% for 2011.

The discount rate used for the fair value estimatdisis analysis was 10.5% for 2012 and rangenh ftd% to 12% for 2011 and 10% to
12% for 2010. These rates were based on the weliglvierage cost of capital a market participant daigle if evaluating the reporting unit as an
investment. The risk-free rate was 2.4% and 2.622832 and 2011, respectively, and was based @aya& U.S. Treasury Bill as of the
valuation date.
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Each year during the fourth quarter, we re-evaltlseassumptions used to reflect changes in thadrssenvironment, such as revenue
growth rates, operating profit margins and discoate. Based on the evaluations performed this yeadetermined that the fair value of our
reporting units exceeded their carrying amounts.

Intangible and other assets

As of December 29, 2012, other intangible assets 270.4 million, consisting principally of $2251illion of customer relationships
that arose from acquisitions, $13.3 million of fieing costs, $15.0 million of information technojagssets, and $5.5 million of trademarks.
Customer relationships are amortized on a strdigbtbasis for the period over which we expecteteive economic benefits. We review the
estimated useful life of these intangible assetsially, taking into consideration the specific oash flows related to the intangible asset, unless
a review is required more frequently due to a &gy event such as the loss of a customer. Thagrent loss or significant decline in sales to
any customer included in the intangible asset weoeddlt in impairment in the value of the intangibkset or accelerated amortization and could
lead to an impairment of fixed assets that were tisservice that customer. In 2010, we recorddd$Pmillion of customer relationships
acquired in connection with the Cliffstar Acquisiii In 2012 and 2011, we recorded an asset impatroharge of nil and $1.4 million,
respectively, related primarily to customer relasiips.

Our only intangible asset with an indefinite litdates to the 2001 acquisition of intellectual gty from Royal Crown Company, Inc.,
including the right to manufacture our concentratgth all related inventions, processes, techrniegechnical and manufacturing information,
know-how and the use of the Royal Crown brand datef North America and Mexico (the “Rights”). Tlaisset has a net book value of $45.0
million. Prior to 2001, we paid a volume based ttyyt the Royal Crown Company for purchase of @riates. There are no legal, regulatory,
contractual, competitive, economic, or other faxtbiat limit the useful life of this intangible.

The life of the Rights is considered to be indédireind therefore not amortized, but instead igtest least annually for impairment or
more frequently if we determine a triggering evies$ occurred during the year. We compare the carginount of the Rights to their fair value
and where the carrying amount is greater thanahe/élue, we recognize in income an impairmers.|d® determine fair value, we use a relief
from royalty method, which calculates a fair vatogalty rate that is applied to a forecast of fatuolume shipments of concentrate that is used
to produce CSDs. The forecast of future volumdmied on the estimated inter-plant shipments andgk@ments. The relief from royalty
method is used since the Rights were purchaseartrigpavoid making future royalty payments for centrate to the Royal Crown Company.
The resulting cash flows are discounted using eodist rate of 14.5% and estimated volume chang®geka 1.0% and 10.0%. No impairment
was calculated for the year ended December 29,. ZHisent any other changes, if our inter-plant emtiate volume declines by 1.0% from our
estimated volume, the fair value of our Rights wiadiécline by approximately $1.5 million. If our R@lume declines by 1.0% from our
estimated volume, the fair value of the Rights wiaigcline by approximately $2.6 million. If our digint rate increases by 100 basis points, the
fair value of the Rights would decline by approxieia $5.2 million. None of these adjustments waslult in an impairment of our Rights as
either a stand-alone adjustment or in combination.

Impairment of long-lived assets

When adverse events occur, we compare the carayimgynt of long-lived assets to the estimated undisted future cash flows at the
lowest level of independent cash flows for the grotilong-lived assets and recognize any impairrntes# in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations, taking into consideration the timindesfting and the asset’s remaining useful life. @kgected life and value of these long-lived
assets is based on an evaluation of the compegitiveonment, history and future prospects as gpjate. In 2011, we recorded an impairment
of long-lived assets of $0.6 million related toraguction plant in Mexico that ceased operations.did not record impairments of long-lived
assets in 2012 or 2010.

Foreign currency translation

The assets and liabilities of non-U.S. active ofj@na, all of which are self-sustaining, are tratesti to U.S. dollars at the exchange rates in
effect at the balance sheet dates. Revenues ardsagare translated using average monthly exchiategeprevailing during the period. The
resulting gains or losses are recorded in accusdiamprehensive income under shareowners’ equity.
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Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under the asset apnitlitijanethod. Deferred tax assets and liabilites recognized based on the differences
between the accounting values of assets and tiabiiind their related tax bases using currenthgtea income tax rates. A valuation allowance
is established to reduce deferred income tax agsetsthe basis of available evidence, it is maire likely than not that all or a portion of any
deferred tax assets will be realized. We classifgrest and income tax penalties as income taxnsep@enefit).

We account for uncertain tax positions using a st&p process. The first step is to evaluate theaaiion for recognition by determining
if the weight of available evidence indicates tih& more likely than not that the position wik Isustained on audit, including resolution of
related appeals or litigation processes, basetetethnical merits. The second step requires astimate and measure the tax benefit as the
largest amount that is more than 50% likely todmdized upon ultimate settlement. It is inheredffficult and subjective to estimate such
amounts, as we have to determine the probabilitysagbus possible outcomes. We re-evaluate thesertain tax positions on a quarterly basis.
This evaluation is based on factors including,rmitlimited to, changes in facts or circumstanceanges in tax law, effectively settled issues
under audit, and new audit activity. Such a changecognition or measurement would result in #agognition of a tax benefit or an additional
charge to the tax provision.

We recognize interest and penalties related tocograzed tax benefits within the income tax expdimgein the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Operations, and wedechecrued interest and penalties within the inctzameayable or receivable account in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Pension costs

We record annual amounts relating to defined bepefision plans based on calculations, which irehkatious actuarial assumptions such
as discount rates and assumed rates of return diegern the pension plan. Material changes in pensosts may occur in the future due to
changes in these assumptions. Future annual amoauitsbe impacted by changes in the discount cagmges in the expected lotegm rate o
return, changes in the level of contributions ® phans and other factors. The funded status idiffezence between the fair value of plan assets
and the benefit obligation. Future actuarial gainksses that are not recognized as net periaiefiis cost in the same periods will be
recognized as a component of other comprehensieenie.

Recently issued accounting pronouncements
ASU 201-08—Intangibles—Goodwill and Other: Testing Goodtlfeit Impairment

In September 2011, the Financial Accounting StasglBoard (“FASB”) amended its guidance in regacdsting goodwill for
impairment to address concern raised about theacastomplexity of performing the first step of tis®-step goodwill impairment test required
under Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) ToB50 — “Intangibles-Goodwill and OtheiThe objective of this update is to simplify h
entities, both public and nonpublic, test good¥atlimpairment. The amendments in the update peaméntity to first assess qualitative factors
to determine whether it is more likely than nottttiee fair value of a reporting unit is less thendarrying amount as a basis for determining
whether it is necessary to perform the two-stepgdlbimpairment test described in ASC Topic 35@€eTmore-likely-than-not threshold is
defined as having a likelihood of more than 50 getcThe amendments are effective for annual aediim goodwill impairment tests perforrr
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 20¥&.have adopted this guidance and incorporatatbibur goodwill assessment procedures.

ASU 201-12— Comprehensive Income: Deferral of the Effediiate for Amendments to the Presentation of Reifilzetions of Iltems Out of
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income in Accagi8tandards Update’ASU”) No. 2011-05

In November 2011, the FASB deferred part of the ndes on the presentation of other comprehensiseme as required by ASU 2011-
05. As written, the guidance in ASU 2011-05 wouddiéda required that reclassification adjustments fother comprehensive income to net
income be presented by income statement line kéwost respondents pointed out that the informatesuired for separate presentation of
reclassification adjustments in the statements moaye available in a timely manner due to the tiaat there is currently no process and control
in place to collect and summarize the level of kedanformation required for such presentatione Hmendments in this ASU are effective a
same time as the amendments in ASU 2011-05 setiisies will not be required to comply with theepentation requirements in ASU 2011-05
that this ASU is deferring. The deferral is effeetfor the fiscal year beginning after December24,1.
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ASU 201 -02—Intangibles—Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): fires Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets for Impaam

In July 2012, the FASB amended its guidance inndggto testing indefinite-lived intangible asseatsimpairment in order to reduce the
cost and complexity of performing an impairment fes indefinite-lived intangible assets by simpiifg how an entity tests those assets for
impairment and to improve consistency in impairntesting guidance among long-lived asset categdfies amendment permits an entity first
to assess qualitative factors to determine whétlimore likely than not that an indefinite-livéttangible asset is impaired as a basis for
determining whether it is necessary to performgh@ntitative impairment test in accordance with AR®topic 350-30, “IntangiblesGoodwill
and Other"—General Intangibles Other than GoodwillThe more-likely-than-not threshold is definechaging a likelihood of more than 50
percent. The amendments are effective for annuhirdarim impairment tests performed for fiscal seeleginning after September 15, 2012.
Early adoption is permitted, including for annuatianterim impairment tests performed as of a 8afere July 27, 2012, if a public entity’s
financial statements for the most recent annuaiterim period have not yet been issued. We aneently assessing the impact of this standard
on our consolidated financial statements.

Note 2—Acquisition

In March of 2012, our U.K. reporting segment acedia beverage and wholesale business based im&tfor approximately $5.0
million. The business was purchased from a comjpaagministration and provides a number of benéditsur U.K. reporting segment,
including increased product offerings, logisticahergies and access to an additional producti@n Tilne acquisition has been accounted for
using the purchase method of accounting for businembinations, and related operating resultsrenleded in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations for the periods subsequent to the atiqnisThe identified assets, which included invegt property, plant and equipment, trade
names and customer lists, were recorded at thiéinaged fair values, which exceeded the fair valfithe purchase price of the business.
Accordingly, the acquisition has been accounted$oa bargain purchase and, as a result, we resohaigain of approximately $0.9 million
associated with the acquisition. The gain is inetlich the other (income) expense, net sectioneoCihnsolidated Statements of Operations.

On August 17, 2010, we completed the acquisitiosutistantially all of the assets and liabilitiesCtiffstar Corporation (“Cliffstar”) and
its affiliated companies for approximately $503.Mllion in cash, $14.0 million in deferred considéoa payable in equal installments over three
years and contingent consideration of up to $55lom (the “Cliffstar Acquisition”). The first $15.0 million bthe contingent consideration was
paid upon the achievement of milestones in cedapansion projects in 2010. The remainder of thrgiegent consideration was to be calculi
based on the achievement of certain performanceumesduring the fiscal year ending January 1, 2011

In 2011, the seller of Cliffstar raised certainaatjons to the performance measures used to cidbka contingent consideration, and the
parties commenced the dispute resolution mechamismided for in the asset purchase agreement. @011, Cott made interim payments to
the seller equal to $29.6 million which was nead#4.7 million refund due to Cott and included $®iflion in settlement of certain of the
seller’s objections to the calculation of the cogént consideration. The sellelaims for an additional $12.1 million in contérg consideratic
were submitted to binding arbitration pursuanti® asset purchase agreement and favorably resmjvealyment by Cott in February 2013 of
approximately $0.6 million.

The Cliffstar Acquisition was financed through theuance of $375.0 million aggregate principal amiadi 8.125% senior notes due 2018
(the “2018 Notes”), the underwritten public offegiof 13.4 million of our common shares (the “Equ@ffering”) and borrowings under our
credit facility, which we refinanced in connectiaith the Cliffstar Acquisition, to increase the amo available for borrowings to $275.0
million.

Our primary reasons for the Cliffstar Acquisitioen® to expand Cott's product portfolio and manufaoy capabilities, enhance our
customer offering and growth prospects, and impmwestrategic platform for the future.

The Cliffstar Acquisition is being accounted fordan the purchase accounting method, in accordaitheABC 805, “Business
Combinations”, with the assets and liabilities drepirecorded at their fair values at the datéefCliffstar Acquisition. Identified intangible
assets, goodwill and property, plant and equipraentecorded at their estimated fair values paratans. The results of operations of the
acquired business have been included in our opgregisults beginning as of the date of the Cliffgtequisition. We allocated the purchase p
of the Cliffstar Acquisition to tangible assetsHilities and identifiable intangible assets aceglibased on their estimated fair values. The exces
of the purchase price over the aggregate fair galees recorded as goodwill. The fair value assigoédentifiable intangible assets acquired
was based on estimates and assumptions made bgemasat. Intangible assets are amortized usingtthigist-line amortization method.
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In addition to the purchase price, we incurred $iillon of acquisition related costs, which wesgensed as incurred and recorded in the
selling, general, and administrative expenses @ati our Consolidated Statements of Operationth®year ended January 1, 2011, in
accordance with ASC 805.

The following table summarizes the allocation @& purchase price to the fair value of the assejgieed and liabilities assumed in
connection with the Cliffstar Acquisition.

As reported at

(in millions of U.S. dollars January 1, 201:
Accounts receivabl $ 52.2
Inventories 87.1
Prepaid expenses and other as 5.7
Property, plant & equipmel 167.:
Goodwill 98.2
Intangibles and other ass: 224
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit (63.9)
Other lon¢-term liabilities (2.8
Total $ 568.7

Intangible Assets

In our determination of the fair value of the injésle assets, we considered, among other factwrdydst use of acquired assets, analy:
historical financial performance and estimatesutdiie performance of Cliffstar’s products. Therastied fair values of identified intangible
assets were calculated considering market partitgepectations and using an income approach damdagss and assumptions provided by
Cliffstar’'s and our management. The following taddgs forth the components of identified intangéssets associated with the Cliffstar
Acquisition and their estimated weighted averagduldives:

As Reported at January 1, 201:
Estimated Fair

Estimated
(in millions of U.S. dollars Market Value Useful Life
Customer relationshif $ 216.¢ 15 year
Non-competition agreemen 6.€ 3 year.

Total $ 223t

Customer relationships represent future projeatgdnue that will be derived from sales to existingtomers of the acquired company.

In conjunction with the closing of the Cliffstar éuisition, certain key employees of Cliffstar existlinon-competition agreements, which
prevent those employees from competing with upéttied restricted territories for a period ofdlryears from the date of the Cliffstar
Acquisition. The value of the Cliffstar businessiicbbe materially diminished without these non-cetitppn agreements.

Goodwill

The principal factor that resulted in recognitidrgoodwill was that the purchase price for the fSlér Acquisition was based in part on
cash flow projections assuming the reduction of ia@stration costs and the integration of acquirestomers and products into our operations,
which is of greater value than on a standalonesb&sodwill is expected to be deductible for tarpmses.

Supplemental Pro Forma Data (unaudited)

The following unaudited pro forma financial infortiwm for the years ended January 1, 2011 and Ja&010 represent the combined
results of our operations as if the Cliffstar Agiton had occurred on December 28, 2008. The utelidro forma results reflect certain
adjustments related to the Cliffstar Acquisitiorls@as increased amortization expense on acquitadgible assets resulting from the
preliminary fair valuation of assets acquired. Thaudited pro forma financial information does metessarily reflect the results of operations
that would have occurred had we operated as aesamgity during such period.
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For the Year Ended

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except share amou January 1, 201. January 2, 201(
Revenue $ 2,206. $ 2,268.(
Net income! 67.C 87.1
Net income per common share, dilu $ 0.7¢ $ 0.9:

For the year ended January 2, 2010, Cott recortducturing charges of $1.5 million due to the2B@structuring Plan (as defined
Note 3) and $3.6 million of asset impairments pritpaelated to the writ-off of a customer list. For the year ended Jandag011, Cott
recorded a restructuring gain of $0.5 million rethto the North American Plan (as defined in NQt«

Revenues for Cliffstar from the date of the CléfsAcquisition through January 1, 2011 were $23&lRon and operating income was
$5.2 million.

Note 3—Restructuring and Asset Impairments

In 2007, we implemented the North American Realigntrand Cost Reduction Plan (the “North AmericaanBlto consolidate the
management of our Canadian and U.S. businessdddadla American basis, among other objectives.dh®@ we paid the remaining lease
termination costs in connection with the North Aroan Plan.

During 2012 and 2011, the Company had no restrimgt@arctivities. During 2010, the Company made $6iion of cash payments relat
to the North American Plan. These cash paymentsded $3.0 million related to the settlement of ohés lease obligations, which resulted in
a gain of $0.4 million. In addition, the Compangaaded a $0.1 million gain related to other norhoetzarges for the North American Plan
during 2010. We do not anticipate incurring anyiioidal restructuring charges related to the Néutherican Plan in the future.
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The following table summarizes restructuring, agephirment and intangible asset impairment chafgams) for the years ended
December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and Januafa i,

For the Year Ended

December 2¢ December 31 January 1,
(in millions of U.S. dollars 2012 2011 2011
Restructuring $ — $ — $ (0.5
Asset impairment — 0.€ —
Intangible asset impairmer — 14 —

$ — $ 2.C $ (0.9

As of December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011muuats are owed under our restructuring plans.

Year ended December 31, 2011
The following table summarizes our asset impairnebarges on a reporting segment basis for thegreded December 31, 2011.

(in millions of U.S. dollars North America Mexico Total
Asset impairment $ = $ 0.€ $0.€
Intangible asset impairmer 14 — 14

$ 14 $ 0.6 $2.

Asset impairmentsln 2011, we recorded an asset impairment charg§é .dfmillion related primarily to customer relatitnips. Also, in
2011, we recorded a $0.6 million impairment of ldivgd assets related to a production plant in Mexhat ceased operations.
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Note 4—Other (Income) Expense, Net

The following table summarizes other (income) axgeases for the years ended December 29, 2012nibece31, 2011 and January 1,

2011:

(in millions of U.S. dollars

Foreign exchange lo:

Gain on bargain purcha
Proceeds from insurance recovel
Write-off of financing fees

Total

Note 5—Interest Expense

The following table summarizes interest expenséhferyears ended December 29, 2012, December 31,&@ January 1, 2011:

(in millions of U.S. dollars

Interest on lon-term debr
Other interest expen:
Total

Note 6—Income Tax Expense (Benefit)

Income before income taxes consisted of the folguwi

(in millions of U.S. dollars

Canads
Outside Canad

Income before income taxe

Income tax expense (benefit) consisted of the fatig:

(in millions of U.S. dollars

Current
Canads
Outside Canad

Deferred
Canads
Outside Canad

Income tax expense (benefil
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For the Year Ended

Decem

ber 2¢

2012

$

0.8
0.9
(1.9

$ (20

December 31

2011

For the Year Ended

January 1,
2011
$ 2¢€

14
$ 4C

December 2¢€ December 31 January 1,
2012 2011 2011

$ 49.4 $ 50.1 $ 3l¢

4.8 7.C 5.2

$ 54.2 $ 57.1 $ 36

For the Year Ended

December 2¢€ December 31 January 1
2012 2011 2011

$ 22.€ $ 20.1 $ 16.2

34.C 20.4 62.2

$ 56.€ $ 40.5 $ 78.

For the Year Ended

December 2¢ December 31 January 1
2012 2011 2011

$ 24 $ 2.2 $ OE

(1.6) 0.5 1.€

$ 0.8 $ 2 $ 23

$ 0.€ $ 0.8 $ 4c

3.2 (4.2) 12.%

$ 3.8 $ (3.9 $ 16.C

$ 4.€ $ 0.7) $ 18.€
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The following table reconciles income taxes cal@daat the basic Canadian corporate rates witintmne tax provision:

For the Year Ended

December 2¢ December 31 January 1,
(in millions of U.S. dollars 2012 2011 2011
Income tax expense based on Canadian statutos, $ 14.2 $ 10.¢ $ 22
Foreign tax rate differentii 1.2 (3.0 4.2
Tax exempt incom (14.¢) (14.29) (5.6
Dividend income 0.7 1.C —
Changes in enacted tax ra (0.9 (0.9 (0.5
Increase in valuation allowan 4.C 10.: 1.C
Decrease to uncertain tax positic (0.9 (0.9 2.7
Non-controlling interest: (1.6 (1.9 (1.9
Other items 2.2 (2.7) .3
Income tax expense (bene $ 4.€ $ 0.7) $ 18.€

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities weregaized on temporary differences between the filhaod tax bases of existing assets
and liabilities as follows:

December 2¢ December 31
(in millions of U.S. dollars 2012 2011
Deferred tax asset:
Loss carryforward $ 53.¢ $ 43.:
Leases 4.1 5.1
Property, plant & equipme! 4.t 3.2
Liabilities and reserve 12.C 11.7
Stock options 0.¢ 2.2
Inventories 3.7 4.8
Other 4.1 2.E

83.1 72.€

Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant & equipme! (63.€) (59.2)
Intangible assel (15.9 (10.5)

Other

Valuation allowanct

Net deferred tax liability

The increase in the valuation allowance from Deaan3i, 2011 to December 29, 2012 was primarilyréiselt of additional allowances

booked in the U.S and Mexico.
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The deferred tax assets and liabilities have b&essified as follows on the Consolidated Balancee®h

(in millions of U.S. dollars December 29, 201 December 31, 201
Deferred tax assets
Current $ 11.1 $ 10.€
Long-term 3.3 4.1
Deferred tax liabilities:
Current $ — $ 0.5
Long-term (39.0) (34.7)
Net deferred tax liability $ (24.7) $ (19.9

As a result of certain realization requirement&8fC Topic 718, “Compensation—Stock CompensatioASC 718”), the table of
deferred tax assets and liabilities shown above dotinclude certain deferred tax assets at Deeefh) 2012 and December 31, 2011 that
arose directly from tax deductions related to ggoitmpensation in excess of compensation recogiizeihancial reporting. As of
December 29, 2012, equity will be increased by $&lBon if and when such deferred tax assets #mnately realized.

At December 29, 2012, undistributed earnings offorgign operations were considered to be permgnezivested. No deferred tax
liability has been recognized on the basis diffeeecreated by such earnings since it is our irgartt utilize those earnings in the foreign
operations for an indefinite period of time. Theéedmination of the amount of deferred taxes ondheggnings is not practicable because the
computation would depend on a number of factorsdhanot be known until a decision to repatriageghrnings is made.

As of December 29, 2012, we have operating logyfocawards totaling $319.6 million, credit carryfeards totaling $1.5 million and
capital loss carryforwards totaling $14.4 millidrhe operating loss carryforward amount was attablatto Mexico operating loss carryforwards
of $20.8 million that will expire from 2018 to 202&d U.S. federal and state operating loss camgats of $108.8 million and $190.0 million,
respectively. The U.S. federal operating loss darwards will expire from 2027 to 2032, and thestaperating loss carryforwards will expire
from 2013 to 2032.

The credit carryforward amount was attributabla 1d.S. federal alternative minimum tax credit cémryard of $0.7 million with an
indefinite life and U.S. state credit carryforwanfsp0.8 million that will expire from 2014 to 2018he capital loss carryforward is attributable
to a Canadian capital loss of $10.8 million and.K.\dapital loss of $3.6 million, both with an irfigte life.

We establish a valuation allowance to reduce dedetax assets if, based on the weight of the ataikvidence, both positive and
negative, for each respective tax jurisdictions inore likely than not that some portion or altloé deferred tax assets will not be realized. Due
to uncertainty resulting from the lack of sustaitexible income in recent years in the U.S. andibdexve have determined that it is more lik
than not that the benefit from net operating l@ssyforwards and other net deferred tax assetsaset jurisdictions will not be realized in the
future. In recognition of this risk, we have prositia valuation allowance of $15.2 million and $8i8ion to reduce our deferred tax assets in
the U.S. and Mexico, respectively.

Additionally, we have determined that it is moieely than not that the benefit from our capitakles in Canada and the U.K. will not be
realized in the future due to the uncertainty rdigey potential future capital gains in each jurisidin. In recognition of this risk, we have
provided a valuation allowance of $2.7 million air €anadian capital losses and $0.8 million onloit. capital losses.

If our assumptions change and we determine webeilible to realize these deferred tax assetscammtax benefit of $27.2 million will
be realized as a result of the reversal of theatadn allowance at December 29, 2012.

In 2006, the FASB issued guidance regarding prorgsof uncertain tax positions in ASC 740, whicbvinles specific guidance on the
financial statement recognition, measurement, tepand disclosure of uncertain tax positions te@eexpected to be taken in a tax return.
ASC 740 addresses the determination of whethdveagfits, either permanent or temporary, shoulteberded in the financial statements.
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amoofbur unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

For the Year Ended

(in millions of U.S. dollars December 29, 201 December 31, 201 January 1, 201:
Unrecognized tax benefits at beginning

year $ 9.C $ 13.c $ 14.7
Additions based on tax positions tak

during a prior periot 0.1 0.z 0.4
Reductions based on tax positions ta

during a prior periot (2.2 — (2.6)
Settlement on tax positions taken durir

prior period — (5.9) (0.9
Lapse in statute of limitatior (0.2 — —
Additions based on tax positions tak

during the current peria 2.2 1.7 1.1
Foreign exchang 0.2 (0.9 0.t
Unrecognized tax benefits at end of ye: $ 9.2 $ 9.C $ 13.2

As of December 29, 2012, we had $9.2 million ofamoignized tax benefits, a net increase of $0.2amifrom $9.0 million as of
December 31, 2011. If we recognized our tax passti@pproximately $3.8 million would favorably ingpéhe effective tax rate. We believe it is
reasonably possible that our unrecognized tax bevefl decrease or be recognized in the nextweehonths by up to $0.8 million due to the
settlement of certain tax positions and lapsesatutes of limitation in various tax jurisdictions.

We recognize interest and penalties related tocagrazed tax benefits in the provision for incoraeets. We recovered $0.2 million, $0.2
million and $0.2 million of interest and penalteisring the year ended December 29, 2012, Decenih@03d 1 and January 1, 2011,
respectively. The amount of interest and penatéesgnized as an asset in the Consolidated BaBineets for 2012 and 2011 was $0.1 million
and $3.1 million, respectively.

Years prior to 2007 are closed to audit by therirdeRevenue Service. Years prior to 2007 are diés@udit by U.S. state jurisdictions.
We are currently under audit in Canada by the Cafl/enue Agency (“CRA”) for tax years 2005 thro@@08. Years prior to 2005 are closed
to audit by the CRA. Years prior to 2007 are closedudit by both the U.K. and Mexico tax authesti

Note 7—Share-based Compensation

Each of our share-based compensation plans hasabpeoved by our shareowners, except for our 1986r@on Share Option Plan, as
amended (the “Option Plan”), which was adoptedrgnmur initial public offering, and a stock optiaward granted to our Chief Executive
Officer, which was an inducement grant made t@ettand retain that executive. Subsequent amendrtetiie Option Plan that required
shareowner approval have been approved.

The table below summarizes the share-based contjseneapense for the years ended December 29, PEmber 31, 2011, and
January 1, 2011. This share-based compensatiomsxpeas recorded in selling, general, and admétiigér expenses in our Consolidated
Statements of Operations. As used below: (i) “PStdean performance share units granted under ounfeteand Restated Performance Share
Unit Plan (the “PSU Plan”), (ii) “Performance-bade8Us” mean restricted share units with performayased vesting granted under the
Company’s 2010 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2010 iBglncentive Plan”); (iii) “Time-based RSUs” meagstricted share units with time-based
vesting granted under the 2010 Equity IncentiveaRli@) “EISPP” means common share units grantetbuthe Restated Executive Incentive
Share Purchase Plan (the “Restated EISPP”); (vetior share awards” mean common shares grantbd tton-management members of
Cott's board of directors under the 2010 Equityelmove Plan, which were issued in consideratiosuzh directors’ annual board retainer fee;
and (vi) “Share appreciation rights” mean shareegption rights granted under the Amended andéRetShare Appreciation Rights Plan.

For the Year Ended

December 2¢ December 31 January 1,
(in millions of U.S. dollars 2012 2011 2011
Stock option:s $ 0.4 $ — $ 1.C
PSUs — — 0.2
Performanc-based RSU 0.7 (2.2 14
Time-based RSU 3.1 34 .3
Directors share award 0.7 0.7 0.7
Share appreciation righ — — 0.1
Total $ 4.¢ $ 2.8 $ 4.7
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During the third quarter of 2011, we concluded thatas no longer probable that the targets estédl for the Performance-based RSUs
awarded in 2010 and 2011 would be met, and we mgeloexpect these awards to ultimately vest. Adnghg, we recorded an adjustment to
reverse $3.3 million in compensation costs thattheeh recorded to date for the Performance-based R&arded in 2010 and 2011. We
continue to accrue the compensation expense fdPehiermance-based RSUs awarded in 2012.

As of December 29, 2012, the unrecognized sharedbasmpensation expense and years we expect tgnigedt as compensation
expense were as follows:

Unrecognized shar-

based
compensation Weighted average yeat
expense as
of December 29, expected to recognize
(in millions of U.S. dollars 2012 compensation
Time-based RSU $ 2.3 1.6
Performanc-based RSU 1.7 2.C
Stock options 1.C 2.C
Total $ 5.C
Stock Options

Subsequent to the adoption of the 2010 Equity IteefPlan, the Human Resources and Compensationiiter of the board of directo
(“"HRCC") determined that certain of Cott’s long#teincentive plans were no longer needed and tetedrtae Option Plan. In connection with
the termination of the Option Plan, outstandingas will continue in accordance with the termstaf Option Plan until vested, paid out,
forfeited or terminated, as applicable. No furtesards will be granted under the Option Plan. Futwards, including any awards of options,
are expected to be governed by the terms of thep@oys 2010 Equity Incentive Plan.

During 2012, approximately 385,000 options weretgd to certain of our employees under the 2010t¥tncentive Plan at an exercise
price of $6.58 per share (C$6.47 at date of issjarte fair value of the option grant was estimidtebe $4.04 using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model. No options were granted during tearyended December 31, 2011. Options represerBi@@0 shares were granted to our C
Executive Officer during the first quarter of 2040an exercise price of C$8.01 per share. Thevédire of this option grant was estimated to be
C$5.16 using the Black-Scholes option pricing mo@el August 9, 2010, the Company entered into al@omShare Option Cancellation and
Forfeiture Agreement to cancel this option awaite €ancellation was effective as of September @202The Company entered into this
arrangement with the Chief Executive Officer inartb transition him to the Company’s 2010 Equitydntive Plan, which was approved by
shareholders on May 4, 2010. Future grants tcatiisother executive officers are expected to bewg®d by the terms of such plan.
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No options were granted during the year ended Dbee®il, 2011. The fair value of each option graxiaihg the years ended
December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011, and Janu26811 was estimated on the date of grant usin8lgaek-Scholes option pricing model
with the following assumptions:

For the Year Ended

December 2¢ December 31 January 1,
2012 2011 2011
Risk-free interest rat 2.4% n/e 2.5%
Average expected life (year 6.5 n/e 5.k
Expected volatility 66.2% n/e 74.8%
Expected dividend yiel — n/e —
Stock option activity was as follows:
Weighted
average
Weighted remaining
contractual Aggregate
Shares average intrinsic
(in exercise term (C$)
thousands price (years) (in thousands
Balance at January 2, 201( 831 $ 18.9i 4.€ $ 6181
Grantec 25C 8.01
Forfeited or expire! (377) 20.3:
Balance at January 1, 201. 704 $ 16.61 4.2 $ 625
Exercisec (27E 1.32
Forfeited or expire: (149 38.2i
Balance at December 31, 201 284 $ 20.4% 1.7 $ 263.(
Grantec 38t 6.47%
Forfeited or expire! (201) 24.4(
Balance at December 29, 201 46€ $ 7.2¢ 7.2 $ 819«
Vested at December 29, 201 12¢ $ 9.4¢ 2.1 $ 330
Exercisable at December 29, 201 12t $ 9.4¢ 2.1 $ 330.(

The aggregate intrinsic value amounts in the tabteve represent the difference between the clgsiog of our common stock on
December 29, 2012, which was C$7.90 (December(Bill2- C$6.40; January 1, 2011—C$8.95), and the seeprice, multiplied by the
number of in-the-money stock options as of the sdate. There were no stock options exercised ir2 20l 2010. The total intrinsic value of
stock options exercised during the year ended DieeeBil, 2011 was $0.4 million.

Total compensation cost related to unvested awardsr the option plan not yet recognized is $1I0ani The total fair value of shares
that vested during the year ended December 29, @a%il.

Outstanding options at December 29, 2012 werellas\via

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Remaining Weighted Weighted

Number Contractual Number
Exercisable Exercise Exercisable Exercise
Range of Exercise Prices (C{ (in thousands Life (Years) Price (C$) (in thousands Price (C$)
$ 3.50 75 2.€ $ 3.5 75 $ 3.5
$ 6.47 34: 9.2 $ 6.41 — $ —
$18.48 5C 1.2 $ 18.4¢ 50 $ 18.4¢
46¢ 7.2 $ 7.2 12t $ 9.4¢
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Long-Term Incentive Plans
2010 Equity Incentive Plan

Our shareowners approved our 2010 Equity Inceritlae at the Annual and Special Meeting of Shareosvheld on May 4, 2010. Awar
under the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan may be inféinen of incentive stock options, non-qualified dtaptions, restricted shares, restricted share
units, performance shares, performance units, stppkeciation rights, and stock payments to emg@sydirectors and outside consultants. The
2010 Equity Incentive Plan is administered by tiQ€ or any other board committee as may be desdrmt the board from time to time. At
the inception of the 2010 Equity Incentive Plai®0®,000 shares were reserved for future issuaobged to adjustment upon a share split, s
dividend, recapitalization, and other similar tractions and events.

On May 3, 2012, we granted 96,010 common sharggtoon-management members of our board of directeder the 2010 Equity
Incentive Plan for approximately $0.7 million. Te@mmon shares were issued in consideration ofitketdrs’ annual board retainer fee.

In 2012, we granted 330,969 Performance-based RB81s996 Time-based RSUs and 384,546 stock optioosrtain of our employees.
The Performance-based RSUs vest based on the acteat of a specified target level of pre-tax incdarehe period beginning on January 1,
2012 and ending on the last day of our 2014 figeat. The amount of Performance-based RSUs thatvestyand the related unrecognized
compensation cost is subject to change based daubakof targeted pre-tax income that is achiesedng the period beginning on January 1,
2012 and ending on the last day of our 2014 figeat. The Time-based RSUs and the stock optioriowvethe last day of our 2014 fiscal year.

On May 6, 2011, we granted 76,110 common sharggtoon-management members of our board of directeder the 2010 Equity
Incentive Plan for approximately $0.7 million. Te@mmon shares were issued in consideration ofitketdrs’ annual board retainer fee.

In 2011, we granted 592,163 Performance-based R8t4451,545 Time-based RSUs to certain of our eyepl The Performance-based
RSUs vest based on the achievement of a spedifigdttlevel of pre-tax income for the period begigron January 2, 2011 and ending on the
last day of our 2013 fiscal year. The amount ofd?erance-based RSUs that may vest and the relaredagnized compensation cost is subject
to change based on the level of targetedti@x@éncome that is achieved during the period bagopon January 2, 2011 and ending on the las
of our 2013 fiscal year. The Time-based RSUs vedhe last day of our 2013 fiscal year.

On May 4, 2010, we granted 78,790 common sharggtoon-management members of our board of directeder the 2010 Equity
Incentive Plan for approximately $0.7 million. Te@mmon shares were issued in consideration ofitketdrs’ annual board retainer fee.

In 2010, we granted 1,726,807 Performance-basedsR8UY 1,396,807 Time-based RSUs to certain of mpiayees. The performance
targets established for these Performance-based RSt not met, and as a result, such awards didesd During the fourth quarter of 2012,
the Time-based RSUs vested on the last day of @l fiscal year and were issued for approximat&lt $nillion.

During the year ended December 29, 2012, Perforeabased RSU and Time-based RSU activity was asfsll

Number of

Performance- Number of
Time-basec

(in thousands based RSUs RSUs
Balance at December 31, 2C 2,31¢ 1,54¢
Awarded 331 447
Issuec — (1,240

Cancellec (1,55% —
Forfeited (267) (221
Outstanding at December 29, 2( 82F 52¢

Shares to be issued pursuant to Time-based RStsrRance-based RSUs, or stock options that afeifed, expired, or are cancelled or
settled without the issuance of shares returneg@tl of shares available for issuance under 8@ Equity Incentive Plan. As of December 31,
2012, there were 3,254,567 Time-based RSUs, Paafareabased RSUs, and stock options outstanding4md33 shares available for future
issuance under the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan.
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Amended and Restated PSU F

Under the Amended and Restated Performance Shitr€ldn (the “PSU Plan”PSUs were awarded to Company employees. The vE
an employee’s award under our PSU Plan dependédl amr performance over a maximum three-year perémce cycle; and (ii) the market
price of our common shares at the time of vestiggformance targets were established by the HRGUsRranted vested over a term not
exceeding three fiscal years. As of January 1, 20l Trustee under the PSU Plan held 0.6 millmmmon shares as treasury shares. The
remaining outstanding awards under the PSU Plaedd@s February 2011 upon the achievement of agljusperating income exceeding zerc
2008, 2009 and 2010.

Subsequent to the adoption of the 2010 Equity lteePlan, the HRCC determined that certain of €dting-term incentive plans were
no longer needed and terminated the PSU Plan.

Amended and Restated SAR F

Under the Amended and Restated Share AppreciaigimtdPlan (the “SAR Plan”), share appreciatiomisg“SARs”) were awarded to
employees and directors of our Company. SARs tylgigasted on the third anniversary of the grarted®n vesting, each SAR represented the
right to be paid the difference, if any, betwees phice of our common shares on the date of grahttzeir price on the vesting date of the SAR.
Payments in respect of vested in-the-money SARe wrde in the form of our common shares purchasékeoopen market by an independent
trust with cash contributed by us. During the yeraded January 1, 2011, 154,000 SARs vested oteefribney. On August 10, 2010, the
Company entered into a Stock Appreciation Rightdcedation Agreement with an executive officer tmcal 100,000 previously granted SARS.
The cancellation was effective as of Septembef202

Subsequent to the adoption of the 2010 Equity ltieerPlan, the HRCC determined that certain of €dting-term incentive plans were
no longer needed and terminated the SAR Plan.

Restated Executive Incentive Share Purchase Plan

In the second quarter of 2007, our shareownerapgra restated executive incentive share purghlasgthe “Restated EISPP”), which
allowed officers and senior management executagsesignated by the HRCC, to elect to receive gleeformance bonus (or a portion thereof)
as common share units held on their behalf by dagandent trust. If the employee elected to reczvemon share units, we provided to the
employee an equal number of shares, which vestdamnary 1, 2011 due to the achievement of cepiformance goals (“Match Portion”).

The Match Portion of the performance bonus wasnegéid based on the employee’s election and wastiaetbover the service period of
approximately four years. During 2007, employeested to defer a total of $1.1 million under thes@eed EISPP. In 2009, the Company
recorded an expense of $0.1 million related tcathtécipated 2007 matching portion of the perforngabenus. No amount was accrued for the
Match Portion for 2008 deferrals because corpgratiormance goals were not achieved and no bonos@tsiwere deferred into the plan.
Effective as of December 27, 2008, the HRCC appt@reamendment to the Restated EISPP with thet efféeezing participation in the plan.
The remaining outstanding Match Portion vesteddbrkary 2011 upon the achievement of cumulativeTEBbwth of 10% per annum over the
three-year performance cycle ending at the entbcélf2010.

Subsequent to the adoption of the 2010 Equity ltieerPlan, the HRCC determined that certain of €dting-term incentive plans were
no longer needed and terminated the Restated EISPP.

Average Canadian—U.S. Dollar Exchange Rates for 2212011 and 2010

The weighted average exercise prices for optioisisnNote are disclosed in Canadian dollars. Bhéetbelow represents the average
Canadian dollar to U.S. dollar exchange rate ferfitcal years ended 2012, 2011 and 2010.

For the Year Ended

December 2¢ December 31 January 1,
2012 2011 2011
Average exchange ra $ 1.00( $ 101 $ 0.971
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Note 8—Net Income per Common Share

Basic net income per common share is computedvigting net income by the weighted average numbeooimon shares outstanding
during the period. Diluted net income per commoarshs calculated using the weighted average nuoft@mmon shares outstanding adjusted
to include the effect, if dilutive, of the exerciskin-the-money stock options, PSUs, Performarasetd RSUs and Time-based RSUs.

A reconciliation of the denominators of the basid diluted net income per common share computatgoas follows:

For the Year Ended

December 2¢ December 31 January 1,
(in thousands 2012 2011 2011
Weighted average number of shares outstar- basic 94,55 94,24 85,58¢
Dilutive effect of stock option 32 33 191
Dilutive effect of PSU: — — 161
Dilutive effect of Performanc-based RSU 58 727 96
Dilutive effect of Tim-based RSU 132 — 14¢
Adjusted weighted average number of shares outsig- diluted 94,77¢ 95,00: 86,18

At December 29, 2012, options to purchase 468,D@@émber 31, 2011—284,000; January 1, 2011—70480G0¥s of common stock at
a weighted average exercise price of C$7.28 (DeeefSih 2011— C$20.47; January 1, 2011—C$16.67%Ip@re were outstanding, of which
50,000 (December 31, 2011—209,000; January 1, 2@BB%-0800) were not included in the computation aftdd net income per share because
the options’ exercise price was greater than tleeagme market price of the common shares. Sharebamed on the open market and held by
independent trusts are categorized as treasurgshader applicable accounting rules. In 2012, tiliged such shares to satisfy the vesting of
Time-based RSU’s granted in 2010. We excluded (Dbee 31, 2011—674,397; January 1, 2011—1,051,088%tiry shares held in various
trusts in the calculation of basic and diluted &ays per share in 2011 and 2010.

Note 9—Segment Reporting

Our business operates through five reporting setgreNorth America (which includes our U.S. operatieggment and Canada operating
segment), U.K. (which includes our United Kingdogparting unit and our Continental European repgrtinit), Mexico, RCI and All Other.
The primary measures used in evaluating our regpgegments is revenues, operating income (losd)additions to property, plant and
equipment, which have been included as part ofegment disclosures listed below.
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Reporting Segments

(in millions of U.S. dollars

External revenu?
Depreciation and amortizatic
Asset impairment

Intangible asset impairmer
Operating income (los!
Property, plant and equipme
Goodwill

Intangibles and other ass:
Total asset?

Additions to property, plant and equipm:

Reporting Segments

(in millions of U.S. dollars

External revenu?
Depreciation and amortizatic
Asset impairment

Intangible asset impairmer
Operating income (los:
Property, plant and equipme
Goodwill

Intangibles and other ass
Total asset?

Additions to property, plant and equipm:

December 29, 201,

North United All

America Kingdom Mexico RCI Other Total
$1,707.. $473.2 $38.6 $31.z $— $2,250.¢
82.7 13.2 1.8 — — 97.7
78.¢ 271 (3.6 7¢  — 109.7
382.1 99.t 9.3 — — 490.¢
125.¢ — — 4.t — 130.:
301.] 13.€ 04 — — 315.¢
1,246." 273.¢ 28.1 14.1 3.2 1,565.¢
52.¢ 14. 2. — — 69.7

Intersegment revenue between North America andtther reporting segments was $16.4 million forytear ended December 29, 20
Excludes intersegment receivables, investmentsates receivable

December 31, 201.

North United All

America Kingdom Mexico RCI Other Total
$1,809.0 $447.¢ $51.& $25.€ $— $2,334.¢
80.C 13.2 2.1 — — 95.:
— — 0.€ — — 0.€
1.4 — — — — 1.4
70.2 27.F (4.4 72 — 100.7
383.] 89.¢ 9.3 — — 482.2
125.1 — — 4.t — 129.¢
326.1 14.¢ 04 — — 341.1
1,231.1 237.( 28.4 11.2 0.€ 1,508.¢
39.1 9.t 0.2 — — 48.¢

Intersegment revenue between North America andtther reporting segments was $14.7 million forytear ended December 31, 20
Excludes intersegment receivables, investmentsiates receivable
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Reporting Segments

January 1, 2011

North United All

(in millions of U.S. dollars America Kingdom Mexico RCI Other Total
External revenu? $1,357.0 $367.1] $50.1 $28.& $— $1,803.1
Depreciation and amortizatic 59.1 12.¢ 2.1 — — 74.C
Restructuring (0.5) — — — — (0.5)
Operating income (los! 75.C 24.F (7.5) 7.C — 99.C
Property, plant and equipme 400.¢ 90.2 13.2 — — 503.¢
Goodwill 125.7 — — 4.t — 130.2
Intangibles and other ass: 354.7 15.7 0.7 — — 371.1
Total asset? 1,275.¢ 207.¢ 31.t 13.7 0.7 1,529.;

— — 44.C

Additions to property, plant and equipm: 31.¢ 10.€ 1t

Intersegment revenue between North America andttier reporting segments was $19.0 million forytear ended January 1, 20:
Excludes intersegment receivables, investmentsates receivable

For the year ended December 29, 2012, sales to &vlaérocounted for 31.0% (2011—31.6%, 2013-0%) of our total revenue, 36.3%
our North America reporting segment revenue (201%-9%, 2010—35.3%), 14.9% of our U.K. reporting seghrevenue (2011—14.6%,
2010—16.6%) and 21.6% of our Mexico reporting segimevenue (2011—44.7%, 2010—38.9%).

Credit risk arises from the potential default afustomer in meeting its financial obligations with Concentrations of credit exposure r
arise with a group of customers that have simit@nemic characteristics or that are located irstirae geographic region. The ability of such
customers to meet obligations would be similarfeeted by changing economic, political or otherditons. We are not currently aware of any
facts that would create a material credit risk.

Revenues are attributed to operating segments loaseek location of the customer. Revenues by tipgraegment were as follows:

For the Year Ended

December 2¢ December 31 January 1,

(in millions of U.S. dollars 2012 2011 2011
United State: $ 1,509. $ 1,610 $1,212.:
Canade 244 249.( 201.1
United Kingdom 473.% 447 ¢ 367.1
Mexico 38.¢ 51.¢ 50.1
RCI 31.2 25.€ 28.¢
Elimination? (45.9) (50.2) (55.9)
Total $ 2,250.¢ $ 2,334.¢ $1,803.

Represents intercompany revenue among our opegmgents, of which $16.4 million, $14.7 milliondg$19.0 million represen
intersegment revenue between the North Americartiepgosegment and our other operating segmentSdaember 29,
2012, December 31, 2011, and January 1, 2011, cspy.
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Revenues by product were as follows:

(in millions of U.S. dollars
Revenut

Carbonated soft drink
Juice

Concentratt

All other products

Total

(in millions of U.S. dollars
Revenut

Carbonated soft drink
Juice

Concentratt

All other products

Total

(in millions of U.S. dollars
Revenut

Carbonated soft drink
Juice

Concentratt

All other products

Total

For the Year Ended December 29, 201

For the Year Ended December 31, 201

For the Year Ended January 1, 201:

North United
America Kingdom Mexico RCI Total
$ 698.C $160.¢ $21.z $0€ $ 880«
527.2 14.C 1.2 1.t 543.¢
12.2 2.2 — 29.1 43.¢
469.¢ 296.1 16.3 — 782.%
$1,707.. $473.2 $38.6 $31.2 $2,250.¢
North United
America Kingdom Mexico RCI Total
$ 731¢ $179.z $39€ $— $ 950.C
587.1 12.2 2.7 — 602.
9.1 2.8 — 25.€ 37.5
481.] 253.€ 9.5 — 744.%
$1,809.. $447.¢ $51.6 $25.€ $2,334.
North United
America Kingdom Mexico RCI Total
$ 705t $159f $43<4 $— $ 908.c
225.% 10.C 0.8 — 236.]
7.5 4.1 — 28.¢ 40.4
419.( 193.5 5.6 — 618.4
$1,357.0 $367.1 $50.1 $28.6 $1,803.

Property, plant and equipment by geographic ared Becember 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011 weielaws:

(in mill;

ons of U.S. dollars

Total

United State:
Canade

United Kingdom
Mexico

Note 10—Accounts Receivable, Net
The following table summarizes accounts receivai®¢ as of December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011:

(in mill

ons of U.S. dollars

Total

Trade receivable
Allowance for doubtful accoun
Other
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December 2¢

2012
$ 333
48.4
99.t
9.2
$  490.¢

December 2¢

2012
$ 199f
(6.9)
6.7
$  199.

December 31

2011
$ 336.-
46.¢
89.¢
9.2
$ 482.:

December 31

2011
$ 2081
(5.7)
8.2
$ 210
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Note 11—lInventories
The following table summarizes inventories as of®@eber 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011

December 2¢ December 31

(in millions of U.S. dollars 2012 2011
Raw material $ 93.4 $ 87.2
Finished good 111.¢ 102.:
Other 19.¢ 20.2
Total $ 224¢ $ 210.

Note 12—Property, Plant & Equipment
The following table summarizes property, plant agdipment as of December 29, 2012 and Decemb&031;

December 29, 201. December 31, 201
Accumulated Accumulated

(in millions of U.S. dollars Cost Depreciation Net Cost Depreciation Net
Land and Land Improvemer $ 30z $ 1C $292 $304 % 0.6 $ 29
Buildings 167.¢ 67.7 100.z 156.7 58.C 98.7
Machinery and equipme

Owned 692.¢ 376.: 316.5 636.¢ 331.7 305.2

Capital lease 16.5 3.3 13.2 21.2 5.€ 15.4
Plates, films and molc 42.1 30.€ 11.2 34.t 26.€ 7.6
Vending 12.¢ 11.€ 1.3 13.¢ 12.C 1.8
Transportation equipme 0.€ 0.€ — 0.€ 0.t 0.1
Leasehold improvemen 39.4 22t 16.€ 39.4 18.7 20.7
IT Systems 8.2 7.C 1.2 2.7 1.2 14
Furniture and fixture 10.2 9.C 1.2 9.7 8.t 1.2
Total $1,020.6 $ 529.¢ $490.¢ $945.¢ $ 463.7 $482.C

Depreciation expense for the year ended Decemb&@(2 was $66.0 million ($63.5 million—December 3011; $52.6 million—
January 1, 2011).
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Note 13—Intangibles and Other Assets
The following table summarizes intangibles and p#ssets as of December 29, 2012 and Decembe®31;, 2

December 29, 201, December 31, 201
Accumulated Accumulated
(in millions of U.S. dollars Cost Amortization Net Cost Amortization Net
Intangibles
Not subject to amortizatic
Rights $45.C % — $45.C $45C % = $ 45.C
Subject to amortizatio
Customer relationshir 367.k 142t 225.( 366.2 117.¢ 248.¢
Trademark 28.¢ 23.c 5.t 27.F 21.€ 5.¢
Information technolog: 65.2 50.2 15.C 64.€ 53.¢ 10.7
Other 11.¢ 8.5 3.4 11.¢ 5.7 6.1
473. 224t 248.¢ 470.] 199.( 271.]
518.¢ 224.k 293.¢ 515.1 199.( 316.1
Other Assets
Financing cost 24.4 11.1 13.2 23.1 7.4 15.7
Deposits 7.2 — 7.2 8.1 — 8.1
Other 1.3 0.3 1.C 14 0.2 1.2
32.€ 11.4 21.t 32.¢ 7.€ 25.C
Total Intangibles & Other Assets $551. $ 235.¢ $315.« $547.7 $ 206.€ $341.]

Amortization expense of intangible and other ass@s $35.4 million during 2012 ($35.7 million—Dedeaen 31, 2011; $26.5 million—
January 1, 2011). Amortization of intangibles imda $2.9 million ($2.7 million—December 31, 2012;Zmillion—January 1, 2011) relating
information technology assets and $3.7 million ¢38illion—December 31, 2011; $2.7 million—Januan2@11) relating to deferred financing
assets.

The estimated amortization expense for intangibte@her assets over the next five years is:

(in millions of U.S. dollars

2013 $ 30.5
2014 29.C
2015 26.€
2016 23.2
2017 20.2
Thereaftel 119.C
Total $248.¢
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Note 14—Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
The following table summarizes accounts payableaamedued liabilities as of December 29, 2012 andebwer 31, 2011

December 2¢ December 31
(in millions of U.S. dollars 2012 2011
Trade payable $ 166.¢ $ 165.¢
Deferred income taxe — 0.t
Accrued compensatic 38.t 27.C
Accrued sales incentive 27.5 29.¢
Accrued interes 12.¢ 12.¢
Payroll, sales and other tax 12.2 16.C
Other accrued liabilitie 29.€ 29.4
Total $ 287.i $ 2811
Note 15—Debt
Our total debt as of December 29, 2012 and Decethe2011 was as follows:
December 2¢ December 31
(in millions of U.S. dollars 2012 2011
8.375% senior notes due in 2(t 215.( 215.(
8.125% senior notes due in 2C 375.( 375.(
ABL facility — —
GE Obligation 9.¢ 12.4
Other capital lease 4.€ 4.1
Other deb 1.2 1.t
Total debt 605.¢ 608.(
Less: Sho-term borrowings and current de
ABL facility — —
Total short-term borrowings — —
GE Obligation- current maturitie: 0.€ 2.€
Other capital lease- current maturitie: 0.€ 0.€
Other deb- current maturitie: 0.2 0.2
Total current debt 1.¢c 34
Long-term debt before discou 603.¢ 604.¢
Less discount on 8.375% not (2.9 (2.5
Total long-term debt $ 601 $ 6027

Our 8.375% senior notes were issued at a discdun#a5% on November 13, 20(C
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The long-term debt payments (which include curreaturities of long-term debt) required in eachhaf hext five years and thereafter are
as follows:

Long Term
Debt
incl.
(in millions of U.S. dollars cSrr:Znt!
2013 $ 1.6
2014 2.2
2015 23
2016 7.8
2017 215.€
Thereafte 375.¢
$ 605.a

! We funded the purchase of water bottling equipntfenaugh a financing agreement signed in Januar 20@"“GE Obligatior”). At the

end of the GE Obligation, we may exchange $6.5anilbf deposits for the extinguishment of $6.5 ioillin debt or elect to purchase st
equipment

Asse-Based Lending Facility

On March 31, 2008, we entered into a credit agre¢mih JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as Agent thatter an asset-based lending
credit facility (the “ABL facility”) to provide firancing for our North America, U.K. and Mexico refiog segments. In connection with the
Cliffstar Acquisition, we refinanced the ABL fadilion August 17, 2010 to, among other things, mtevor the Cliffstar Acquisition, the
issuance of the 2018 Notes and the applicatiorebproceeds therefrom, the underwritten publicrofteof 13,340,000 common shares at a |
of $5.67 per share and the application of net prds¢herefrom and to increase the amount avaifableorrowings to $275.0 million. We drew
down a portion of the indebtedness under the ARilifg in order to fund the Cliffstar Acquisitioe incurred $5.4 million of financing fees in
connection with the refinancing of the ABL facility

On July 19, 2012, we amended the ABL facility tmoeng other things, extend the maturity date toeeiftuly 19, 2017 or, if we have not
redeemed, repurchased or refinanced the 2017 Kptekay 1, 2017, May 15, 2017. We incurred $1.2 inmillof financing fees in connection
with the amendment of the ABL facility. This amersimhwas considered to be a modification of theinaigagreement under generally accepted
accounting standards.

The financing fees incurred in connection with tenancing of the ABL facility on August 17, 201d&lpng with the financing fees
incurred in connection with the amendment of the A&cility on July 19, 2012, are being amortizethgshe straight-line method over the
duration of the amended ABL facility.

As of December 29, 2012, we had no outstandingoladngs under the ABL. The commitment fee was 0.3&¥annum of the unused
commitment, which, taking into account $11.0 milliof letters of credit, was $264.0 million as ofd@mber 29, 2012.

The effective interest rate as of December 29, 201RIBOR and Prime loans is based on average ggtgavailability as follows:

Canadian
Eurodollar CDOR LIBOR
ABR Prime
Average Aggregate Availability (in millions of U.S. dollars Spreac Spread Spread Spreac Spread
Over $15( 0.25% 0.25% 1.7%% 1.75% 1.75%
$75- 150 0.5(% 0.5(% 2.0(% 2.0(% 2.0(%
Under $7& 0.7*% 0.7% 2.2% 2.2% 2.2%

8.125% Senior Notes due in 2018

On August 17, 2010, we issued the 2018 Notes. 3heer of the 2018 Notes is our wholly-owned U.®sgliary Cott Beverages Inc., and
most of our U.S., Canadian and United Kingdom gligies guarantee the 2018 Notes. The interedt®@2@18 Notes is payable semi-annually
on March 1st and Septembertl of each year.
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We incurred $8.6 million of financing fees in contien with the issuance of the 2018 Notes. Therfiirag fees are being amortized using
the effective interest method over an eight-yeaiogdewhich represents the term to maturity of 2048 Notes.

8.375% Senior Notes due in 2017

On November 13, 2009, we issued $215.0 millionesiiar notes that are due on November 15, 2017'20%&7 Notes”). The 2017 Notes
were issued at a $3.1 million discount. The issdi¢he 2017 Notes is our wholly-owned U.S. subsidi@ott Beverages Inc., and most of our
U.S., Canadian and United Kingdom subsidiariesantae the 2017 Notes. The interest on the 2017sNefgayable semi-annually on Mayf15
and November 15 of each year.

We incurred $5.1 million of financing fees in contien with the 2017 Notes. The financing fees amdp amortized using the effective
interest method over an eight-year period, whighegents the term to maturity of the 2017 Notes.

GE Financing Agreement

We funded $32.5 million of water bottling equipmentchases through a finance lease arrangemefoB Zhe quarterly payments under
the lease obligation totaled approximately $8.8iamlper annum for the first two years, $5.3 mifliper annum for the subsequent two years,
then $1.7 million per annum for the final four ygar

Covenant Compliance
8.125% Senior Notes due in 2018

Under the indenture governing the 2018 Notes, wesabject to a number of covenants, including camenthat limit our and certain of
our subsidiaries’ ability, subject to certain exo@ps and qualifications, to (i) pay dividends caka distributions, repurchase equity securities,
prepay subordinated debt or make certain invessnéijtincur additional debt or issue certain dislified stock or preferred stock, (iii) create
incur liens on assets securing indebtedness, @yeor consolidate with another company or sketiradubstantially all of our assets taken as a
whole, (v) enter into transactions with affiliatsd (vi) sell assets. We have been in compliantte alli of the covenants under the 2018 Notes
and there have been no amendments to any sucharasesince the 2018 Notes were issued.

8.375% Senior Notes due in 2017

Under the indenture governing the 2017 Notes, wesabject to a number of covenants, including camenthat limit our and certain of
our subsidiaries’ ability, subject to certain exti@ps and qualifications, to (i) pay dividends aaka distributions, repurchase equity securities,
prepay subordinated debt or make certain invessnéijtincur additional debt or issue certain dislified stock or preferred stock, (iii) create
incur liens on assets securing indebtedness, @yeor consolidate with another company or sketiradubstantially all of our assets taken as a
whole, (v) enter into transactions with affiliatsd (vi) sell assets. We have been in compliantte alli of the covenants under the 2017 Notes
and there have been no amendments to any sucharisesince the 2017 Notes were issued.

ABL Facility

On July 19, 2012, we, and the other parties tABE facility, agreed to amend the ABL facility tamong other things (a) extend the
maturity date to either July 19, 2017 or, if we &anot redeemed, repurchased or refinanced theR0tES by May 1, 2017, May 15, 2017,
(b) change the threshold at which the springingimmiim fixed charge coverage ratio would be testddckvthreshold will now be met if excess
availability is less than the greater of 10% of lgveders’ commitments under the revolving crediilfy (the “Revolver”) or $27.5 million, and
(c) change the threshold at which the springind) clmminion provision would become effective, whibheshold will now be met if excess
availability is less than the greater of 12.5%h&f kenders’ commitments under the Revolver or &&Blillion. Although the minimum fixed
charge coverage ratio was not triggered as of Dbee@B, 2012, the ratio as calculated under thigmant was greater than 1.1 to 1.0. We were
in compliance with all of the applicable covenamsier the ABL facility as of December 29, 2012.

Note 16—Benefit Plans

We maintain two defined benefit plans resultingrprior acquisitions that cover certain employdesna plant in the United States under
a collective bargaining agreement (“U.S. Plan”) aadain employees in the United Kingdom (“U.K.P)a Retirement benefits for employees
covered by the U.S. Plan are based on years dtsenultiplied by a monthly benefit factor. The ntlar benefit for employees under the U.K.
Plan is based on years of service multiplied byoatimny benefit factor. Pension costs are fundeakcitordance with the provisions of the
applicable law. Both plans are closed to new pagditts. We use a Decembers81 measurement datetfoobour plans.
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Obligations and Funded Status

The following table summarizes the change in theebieobligation, change in plan assets and unfdreatus of the two plans as of
December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011:

December 2¢ December 31
(in millions of U.S. dollars 2012 2011
Change in Benefit Obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of ye $ 39.% $ 34.t
Service cos 0.t 0.t
Interest cos 1.¢ 1.8
Plan participant contributior 0.1 0.1
Benefit payment (0.9 (0.9
Actuarial (gains) losse (0.€) 3.4
Translation (gains) loss: 1t (0.9
Benefit obligation at end of ye $ 41.¢ $ 39.8
Change in Plan Asset:
Plan assets beginning of ye $ 27.5 $ 26.4
Employer contribution 2.C 1.8
Plan participant contributior 0.1 0.1
Benefit payment (0.9 (0.9
Actual return on plan asse & 0.2
Translation (gains) loss: 1.C (0.9
Fair value at end of yei $ 33.2 $ 27.5
Funded Status of Plar
Projected benefit obligatic $ (419 $ (399
Fair value of plan asse 33.2 27.5
Unfunded statu $ (8.6) $ (119

The accumulated benefit obligation for both defibedefit pension plans equaled the projected bemigfgations of $41.8 million and
$39.3 million at the end of 2012 and 2011, respelti
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Periodic Pension Cos
The components of net periodic pension cost wefellasvs:

(in millions of U.S. dollars

Service cos

Interest cos

Expected return on plan ass
Amortization of prior service cos
Amortization of net los

Net periodic pension co

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (L

For the Years Ended

December 2¢

2012
S
1.€
(1.7)
0.1
1.0
$ K

December 31

2011
E
1.€
(1.9
0.1
0.5
$ 1.1

January 1,
2011

$ 04
1.
(1.7)
0.1
0.5
$ 11

Amounts included in accumulated other compreherias@me, net of tax, at year-end which have nobgetn recognized in net periodic

benefit cost were as follows:

(in millions of U.S. dollars
Unamortized prior service ca
Unrecognized net actuarial gz

Unamortized prior service bene

Assumption:

Assumptions used to determine benefit obligatidnsear-end:

Discount rate

For the Year Ended

December 2¢
2012

$ (0.9
5.2

$ 5¢C

December 2¢
2012

4.5%

Assumptions used to determine net periodic bepeft at year-end:

U.K. Plan
Discount rate
Expected lon-term rate of return on plan ass
Inflation factor

U.S. Plar
Discount rate
Expected lon-term rate of return on plan ass

December 2¢
2012

4.€%
5.7%
3.3%

3.5%
7.C%

December 31 January 1,
2011 2011
$ (049 $ (0.5
8.5 5.8
$ 8.1 $ 52
December 31 January 1,
2011 2011
4.5% 5.4%
December 31 January 1,
2011 2011
5.4% 5.8%
6.% 7.2%
3.7% 3. 1%
4.1% 5.7%
7.C% 7.C%

The discount rate for the U.S. Plan is based ondetrportfolio of AA rated bonds with a maturity tolaed to the estimated payouts of
future pension benefits for this type of plan. Biscount rate of the U.K. Plan is based on a mpddfolio of AA rated bonds, using the
redemption yields on the constituent stocks ofMieerill Lynch index with a maturity matched to thetimated future pension benefits. The
weighted average return for both plans for the pealed December 29, 2012 was 5.7%. The expectathsainder the U.S. Plan and the U.K.
Plan on plan assets are based on our expectattbe tfng-term average rate of return on assetgeipension funds, which is based on the

allocation of assets.
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Asset Mix
Our pension plan weighted-average asset allocalip@sset category were as follows:

December 2¢ December 31
2012 2011
U.K. Plan
Equity securitiet 59.(% 58.2%
Debt securitie: 40.6% 41.1%
Cash 0.4% 0.C%
U.S. Plar
Equity securitie! 65.2% 66.%%
Debt securitie: 32.2% 33.1%
Cash 2.2% 0.C%

Plan Asset:

Our investment policy is that plan assets will benaged utilizing an investment philosophy and apginacharacterized by all of the
following, but listed in priority order: (1) empha®n total return, (2) emphasis on high-qualityusiies, (3) sufficient income and stability of
income, (4) safety of principal with limited volkty of capital through proper diversification afi) sufficient liquidity. (The target allocation
percentages for the U.K. Plan assets are 65% iityespcurities and 35% in debt securities. Thedbadjocation percentages for the U.S. Plan
assets are 50% in equity securities and 50% inskshtrities. None of our equity or debt securiiesincluded in plan assets.)

Cash Flows
We expect to contribute $2.0 million to the pengitems during the 2013 fiscal year.
The following benefit payments are expected todid:p

(in millions of U.S. dollars
Expected benefit payment:

FY 2013 $1.2
FY 2014 1.2
FY 2015 1.2
FY 2016 1.2
FY 2017 1.€
FY 2018 through FY 202 9.1

Cott primarily maintains defined contribution retinent plans covering qualifying employees. Thed mtpense with respect to these plans
was $6.9 million for the year ended December 2922$6.4 million—December 31, 2011; $3.9 million-rdary 1, 2011).
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The fair values of the Company’s pension plan assebecember 29, 2012 were as follows:

(in millions of U.S. dollars December 29, 201,

Level 1 Level 2 Level 2
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalel $ 0.1 $ 0.2 $—
Equities:
International mutual func 12.€ — —
Index mutual fund: 5.€ — —
U.S. mutual fund 0.€ — —
Balancec 0.4 — —
Other 0.3 — —
Fixed income:
Mutual funds 12.¢ — —
Insurance contrau — 0.2 —
Total $32.¢ $ 04 $—

The fair values of the Company’s pension plan asseDecember 31, 2011 were as follows:

(in millions of U.S. dollars December 31, 201

Level 1 Level Z Level 2
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalel $ 01 $ 0.1 $—
Equities:
International mutual func 14.¢ — —
Index mutual fund: 3.1 — —
U.S. mutual fund 1.5 — —
Fixed income:
Mutual funds 7.S — —
Total $27.4 $ 0.1 $—

Note 17—Commitments and Contingencies

We lease buildings, machinery and equipment, coenfhardware and furniture and fixtures. All contuat increases and rent free periods
included in the lease contract are taken into aticehien calculating the minimum lease payment aedgnized on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. Certain leases have renewal periodsantohgent rentals, which are not included inttdg#e below. The minimum annual payments
under operating leases are as follows:

(in millions of U.S. dollars

2013 $ 19.€
2014 17.z
2015 16.1
2016 13.4
2017 11.Z
Thereaftel 34.1
Total $111.¢
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Operating lease expenses were:

(in millions of U.S. dollars

Year ended December 29, 2( $23.¢
Year ended December 31, 2( 25.¢
Year ended January 1, 20 20.3
Total $70.C

Operating lease expenses are shown net of subieasae of $0.3 million for 2012. As of December 2912, we had commitments for
capital expenditures of approximately $15.8 million

In 2007, we entered into a $39.7 million purchaskgation for new equipment to support our bottleater business. Of the $39.7 million,
payments of $16.5 million were made as of Decer@gBe007. We funded $32.5 million of water bottleguipment purchases through a
finance lease arrangement in 2008. The quarteghynpats under the lease obligation totaled approtety&8.8 million per annum for the first
two years, $5.3 million per annum for the subsetjtiea years, then $1.7 million per annum for theafifour years.

In January 2005, we were named as one of many diafénin a class action suit alleging the unautledruse by the defendants of
container deposits and the imposition of recycfegs on consumers. On June 2, 2006, the Britishr@lwl Supreme Court granted the sumn
trial application, which resulted in the dismisstthe plaintiffs’ action against us and the ottiefendants. On June 26, 2006, the plaintiffs
appealed the dismissal of the action to the Briislumbia Court of Appeals which was denied, andgweal to the Supreme Court of Canada
was rejected on December 20, 2007. In February, Xi@tlar class action claims were filed in a numésieother Canadian provinces. Claims
filed in Quebec have since been discontinued,ubclear how the dismissal of the British Colundaae will impact the other cases.

On August 17, 2010, we completed the Cliffstar Asijion which included contingent consideratiorupfto $55.0 million. The first $15.0
million of the contingent consideration was paidophe achievement of milestones in certain expangiojects in 2010. The remainder of the
contingent consideration was to be calculated basdtie achievement of certain performance measlungsg the fiscal year ending January 1,
2011. During 2011, Cott made interim payments &stller equal to $29.6 million which was net &a7 million refund due to Cott and
included $0.9 million in settlement of certain bétseller's objections to the calculation of thatowent consideration.

In 2011, the seller of Cliffstar raised certainegtjons to the performance measures used to ctddblka contingent consideration, and the
parties commenced the dispute resolution mechapismided for in the asset purchase agreement. 8lkex’s claims for an additional $12.1
million in contingent consideration were submittedinding arbitration pursuant to the asset pwsetegreement and favorably resolved by
payment by Cott in February 2013 of approximatély6dmillion.

We are subject to various claims and legal procggdivith respect to matters such as governmergalatons, and other actions arising
out of the normal course of business. Managemdiates that the resolution of these matters witl imave a material adverse effect on our
financial position, results of operations, or cistv. In addition, we are involved in legal matteveere the likelihood of loss has been judged to
be reasonably possible, but for which a range @piitential loss cannot be reasonably estimated.

We had $11.0 million in standby letters of creditstanding as of December 29, 2012 ($9.7 millionee@&mber 31, 2011; $12.6 million—
January 1, 2011).

We have future purchase obligations of $175.0 amlthat consist of commitments for the purchasew#ntory, energy transactions, and
payments related to information technology outsiogragreements. These obligations represent thienmim contractual obligations expected
under the normal course of business.

Note 18—Shares Held in Trust treated as Treasury Sfies

In May 2008, an independent trustee acting undeaioeof our benefit plans purchased 2.3 millioroaf common shares to be used to
satisfy future liabilities under the PSU Plan dnel Restated EISPP. During the year ended DecerBb@022, we distributed 0.7 million shares
from the trust to satisfy certain 2010 Equity Intbes Plan obligations that had vested during tisé dmarter of the year. As of December 29,
2012, there were no shares held in trust and tttatented for as treasury shares under applicablzuating rules.

Note 19—Hedging Transactions and Derivative Finanal Instruments

We are directly and indirectly affected by chanige®reign currency market conditions. These chanigenarket conditions may advers
impact our financial performance and are refercegst market risks. When deemed appropriate by neamagft, we use derivatives as a risk
management tool to mitigate the potential impadbodign currency market risks.
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We purchase forward contract derivative instrumemtsward contracts are agreements to buy or splbatity of a currency at a
predetermined future date, and at a predetermatecor price. We do not enter into derivative ficiahinstruments for trading purposes.

All derivatives are carried at fair value in therSolidated Balance Sheets in the line item otheivables or other payables. The carrying
values of the derivatives reflect the impact ofllygenforceable agreements with the same countépaThese allow us to net settle positive
and negative positions (assets and liabilitiesjrgifrom different transactions with the same ¢erparty.

The accounting for gains and losses that resuth fthanges in the fair values of derivative instrota@lepends on whether the derivatives
have been designated and qualify as hedging institsrand the types of hedging relationships. Thagbs in fair values of derivatives that
have been designated and qualify as cash flow Isealgerecorded in accumulated other comprehensiegrie (loss) (“AOCI”) and are
reclassified into the line item in the ConsolidaBtdtements of Operations in which the hedged itmsecorded in the same period the hedged
items affect earnings. Due to the high degreefetéfeness between the hedging instruments andritierlying exposures being hedged,
fluctuations in the value of the derivative instemts are generally offset by changes in the fdiresaor cash flows of the underlying exposures
being hedged.

We formally designate and document, at inceptioa financial instrument as a hedge of a specifiedying exposure, the risk
management objective and the strategy for undergetkie hedge transaction. In addition, we formafigess both at the inception and at least
quarterly thereafter, whether the financial instemms used in hedging transactions are effectioffsetting changes in either the fair values or
cash flows of the related underlying exposures. iwejfective portion of a financial instrument’sastge in fair value is immediately recognized
into earnings.

We estimate the fair values of our derivatives dasequoted market prices or pricing models usimgent market rates (refer to Note 21).
The notional amounts of the derivative financiatioments do not necessarily represent amount@egekl by the parties and, therefore, are not
a direct measure of our exposure to the finansksdescribed above. The amounts exchanged arxdateld by reference to the notional
amounts and by other terms of the derivatives, sisdhterest rates, foreign currency exchange acatether financial indices. We do not view
the fair values of our derivatives in isolationt bather in relation to the fair values or caswioof the underlying hedged transactions. All af
derivatives are straight-forward over-the-countstriuments with liquid markets.

Credit Risk Associated with Derivatives

We have established strict counterparty creditginds and enter into transactions only with finahinstitutions of investment grade or
better. We mitigate pre-settlement risk by beingrmtted to net settle for transactions with the sarounterparty.

Cash Flow Hedging Strategy

We use cash flow hedges to minimize the variabititgash flows of assets or liabilities or foreeaistransactions caused by fluctuations in
foreign currency exchange rates. The changes ifathealues of derivatives designated as cash fledges are recorded in AOCI and are
reclassified into the line item in the ConsolidaBtdtements of Operations in which the hedged imsecorded in the same period the hedged
items affect earnings. The changes in fair valddsedges that are determined to be ineffectivéraneediately reclassified from AOCI into
earnings. We did not discontinue any cash flow refelationships during the year ended DecembgeP@92. The maximum length of time
over which we hedge our exposure to future casksflis typically one year.

We maintain a foreign currency cash flow hedginggpam to reduce the risk that our procurement itietswill be adversely affected by
changes in foreign currency exchange rates. We eniteforward contracts to hedge certain portiohfrecasted cash flows denominated in
foreign currencies. The total notional value ofidatives that have been designated and qualifpdiorforeign currency cash flow hedging
program as of December 29, 2012 was approximatedys$million.

The fair value of the Company’s derivative instrumsawas $0.1 million as of December 29, 2012.
The settlement of our derivative instruments reslih a charge to cost of sales of $0.6 milliontfer year ended December 29, 2012.
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Note 20—Equity Offering

On August 17, 2010, we completed an underwrittéslipwffering of 13,340,000 common shares at agoit$5.67 per share. The net

proceeds of the Equity Offering of $71.1 millioffites deducting expenses, underwriting discountsammissions, were used to finance, in |
the Cliffstar Acquisition.

Note 21—Fair Value Measurements

ASC No. 820 defines fair value as the exchangesghiat would be received for an asset or paidataster a liability (an exit price) in the
principal or most advantageous market for the asskdbility in an orderly transaction between k&trparticipants at the measurement date.
Additionally, the inputs used to measure fair vadoe prioritized based on a thriesrel hierarchy. This hierarchy requires entitiesrtaximize th
use of observable inputs and minimize the use observable inputs.

The three levels of inputs used to measure fairevate as follows:
» Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for identical aseetiabilities.

» Level Z—Observable inputs other than quoted prices incliléevel 1, such as quoted prices for similar tssaad liabilities ir
active markets; quoted prices for identical or Emassets and liabilities in markets that areawtit/e; or other inputs that are
observable or can be corroborated by observablkendata

» Level =—Unobservable inputs that are supported by littltammarket activity and that are significant to thie value of the assets
liabilities. This includes certain pricing modeidscounted cash flow methodologies and similarrepkes that use significant
unobservable input

We have certain assets and liabilities that araired to be recorded at fair value on a recurriagi®in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

December 29, 201,

Fair Value
(in millions of U.S. dollars Level 1 Level 2 Level 2 Measurement:
Assets
Derivatives $— $ 0.1 $— $ 0.1
Assets held for sal — — 0.1 0.1
Total Assets $— $ 0.1 $ 0.1 $ 0.2
December 31, 201
Fair Value
(in millions of U.S. dollars Level 1 Level 2 Level 2 Measurement:
Assets
Derivatives $— $ 0.2 $— $ 0.2
Assets held for sal — 1.2 — 1.2
Total Assets $— $14 $— $ 1.4

F-40



Table of Contents

Fair value of financial instruments

The carrying amounts reflected in the Consolid&al&nce Sheets for cash, receivables, payabled;tshm borrowings and long-term
debt approximate their respective fair values, pies otherwise indicated. The carrying valuesesiinated fair values of our significant
outstanding debt as of December 29, 2012 and DexeBih 2011 were as follows:

December 29, 201, December 31, 201
Carrying Carrying
Fair Fair
(in millions of U.S. dollars Value Value Value Value
8.375% senior notes due in 2Ct 215.( 234.¢ 215.( 231.¢
8.125% senior notes due in 2Ct 375.( 414.¢ 375.( 404.k
Total $590.( $649.2 $590.( $635.¢

The fair values were based on the trading levedstéayoffer prices observed by a market particigamd are considered level 1 financ
instruments

Fair value of contingent consideration

The fair value of the contingent consideration fgan the Cliffstar Acquisition was based on sfigrsint inputs not observed in the mar
and thus represented a Level 3 instrument. LevedtBuments are valued based on unobservable itimaitare supported by little or no market
activity and reflect our own assumptions in meagyfair value.

For the Year Ended

December 2¢ December 31
(in millions of U.S. dollars 2012 2011
Beginning balanc $ = $ 32.2
Acquisition date fair valu — —
Paymen — (34.9)
Accretion to fair value — 1.2
Adjustments to fair valu 0.€ 0.¢
Ending balanc: $ 0.€ $ —

In 2011, the seller of Cliffstar raised certainegtjons to the performance measures used to ctddblka contingent consideration, and the
parties commenced the dispute resolution mechamismided for in the asset purchase agreement. @011, Cott made interim payments to
the seller equal to $29.6 million which was nead#4.7 million refund due to Cott and included $®iflion in settlement of certain of the
seller’s objections to the calculation of the cngént consideration. The selleclaims for an additional $12.1 million in contarg consideratic
were submitted to binding arbitration pursuanti® asset purchase agreement and favorably resmjvealyment by Cott in February 2013 of
approximately $0.6 million.
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Note 22—Quarterly Financial Information (unaudited)

Year ended December 29, 201

First Second Third Fourth
(in millions of U.S. dollars, except per share amisy Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
Revenue $523.6 $625.& $583.6 $517.2 $2,250.¢
Cost of sale: 460.< 533.t 510.¢ 456.¢ 1,961..
Gross Profi 63.4 92.5 73.2 60.¢€ 289.t
Selling, general and administrative exper 41.¢ 48.¢ 43.¢ 43.€ 178.(
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipn 0.6 0.3 0.8 0.1 1.8
Operating incomi 21.C 43.2 28.€ 16.€ 109.7
Net income attributed to Cott Corporati $ 59 $251 $14F $ 23 $ 47t
Per share dat:
Net income per common she
Basic $006 $027 $01tf $00z $ 0.5]
Diluted $006 $026 $01f $00z $ 0.5
Year ended December 31, 201
First Second Third Fourth
(in millions of U.S. dollars, except per share amisy Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
Revenue $534.1 $640.C $611.% $549.2 $2,334.¢
Cost of sale: 464.* 552.( 543.7 497.¢ 2,058.(
Gross Profi 69.€ 88.C 67.€ 51.4 276.¢
Selling, general and administrative exper 45.1 45.1 38.1 44.4 172.7
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipn — — 0.t 0.7 1.2
Asset impairment — — — 0.€ 0.€
Intangible asset impairmer — — — 1.4 14
Operating incomi 24.5 42.€ 29.C 4.2 100.5
Net income (loss) attributed to Cott Corporat $ 6. $26E5 $162 $(119 $ 37
Per share dati
Net income (loss) per common sh
Basic $007 $02 $017 $(0.19) $ 0.4c
Diluted $007 $02¢ $017 $0.12) $ 0.4C

Note 23—Guarantor Subsidiaries

The 2017 Notes and 2018 Notes issued by our winsllyed subsidiary, Cott Beverages, Inc., are untiomaily guaranteed on a senior
basis pursuant to guarantees by Cott Corporatidrcartain other wholly owned subsidiaries (the “@undor Subsidiaries”). The guarantees of
the Guarantor Subsidiaries are subject to releakmited circumstances only upon the occurrenceeofain customary conditions.

We have not presented separate financial staterapdtseparate disclosures have not been providesoong subsidiary guarantors
because management has determined such infornisitian material to the holders of the above-mermtibnotes.

The following supplemental financial informatiorntsérth on an unconsolidated basis, our Balanee8h Statements of Operations and
Cash Flows for Cott Corporation, Cott Beverages, IBaarantor Subsidiaries and our other subsidigtiee “Non-guarantor Subsidiaries”). The
supplemental financial information reflects ouréstments and those of Cott Beverages Inc. in tespective subsidiaries using the equity
method of accounting. In the third quarter of 2042,revised the financial statements of certain-joarantor Subsidiaries to properly reflect
their capitalization and subsequent investmenentain Guarantor Subsidiaries resulting from agenization completed in connection with the
Cliffstar Acquisition. These Non-guarantor Subsidigs, which have no business operations and natipgrassets, hold, directly or indirectly,
our investments in substantially all of the Guamai@ubsidiaries and therefore may be viewed fopgses of this disclosure as in-substance
Guarantor Subsidiaries themselves. We have theréioluded these Non-guarantor Subsidiaries asat@rSubsidiaries in the supplemental
financial information below and have revised then€uidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, R@iile this revision does not change the
assets available to satisfy the guarantees matteeliguarantor Subsidiaries, the inclusion of tiése-guarantor Subsidiaries in the Guarantor
Subsidiary column for purposes of the below digalesesults in the December 31, 2011 investmestilisidiaries and equity accounts for Non-
guarantor Subsidiaries being reduced by $225.3amillThere was no change to the Consolidated Bal&heets nor any changes to the
Consolidating Statements of Operations and CasisHor the periods presented.
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations

For the year ended December 29, 2012

Revenue, ne
Cost of sale:

Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative exper
Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipm

Operating income

Contingent consideration ei-out adjustmen
Other expense (income), r

Intercompany interest (income) expense,
Interest expense, n

Income before income tax expense (benefit) ar
equity income (loss)

Income tax expense (bene
Equity income (loss

Net income
Less: Net income attributable to r-controlling interest

Net income (loss) attributed to Cott Corporation

Comprehensive income (loss) attributed to Cot
Corporation

(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Cott
Beverage Elimination

Cott Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Corporation Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Entries Consolidatec
$ 2016 $864F $1042¢ $ 1725  $ (319 $ 2,250.¢
165. 730.2 940.¢ 156.( (31.9) 1,961..
36.5 134.1 102.C 16.€ — 289.F
32.1 64.¢ 71.1 10.C — 178.C
— 0.7 0.€ 0.5 — 1.8
44 68.¢€ 30.2 6.4 — 109.%
— 0.€ — — — 0.€
04 1.7 (0.6) (0.2) — (2.0
= (11.0) 11.C - = -
0.1 53.Z 0.7 0.1 — 54.2
3.6 27.4 19.2 6.4 — 56.¢
3.C 2.2 (0.7) 0.1 — 4.€
46.¢ 5.C 30.E — (82.9) —
$ 476 $ 30z $ 504 % 62 $ (824 $ 52.:
— — — 4.5 — 4.E
$ 476 $ 302 $ 504 % 1.6 $ (8249 $ 47¢
$ 601 $ 526 $ (330 $ (03 $ (186 $  60.1
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations

For the year ended December 31, 2011

Revenue, ne
Cost of sale:

Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative exper
Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipm

Asset impairment
Asset impairment
Intangible asset impairmer

Operating income

Contingent consideration ei-out adjustmen
Other expense (income), r

Intercompany interest (income) expense,
Interest expense, n

Income (loss) before income tax expense (benefit)ca
equity income (loss)

Income tax expense (bene
Equity income (loss

Net income
Less: Net income attributable to r-controlling interest

Net income (loss) attributed to Cott Corporation

Comprehensive income (loss) attributed to Col
Corporation

(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Cott
Beverage Elimination

Cott Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Corporation Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Entries Consolidatec
$ 207.( $ 9322 $ 1,065. $ 167.% $ (37.7) $ 2,334
167.¢ 825.F 951.% 150.% (37.9) 2,058.(
39.2 106.¢ 114.( 16.€ — 276.€
30.1 59.C 71.€ 11.€ — 172.%
— 04 0.8 — — 1.2
— — — 0.6 — 0.€
— 14 — — — 14
9.1 46.C 41.2 4.2 — 100.%
— — 0.S — — 0.S
1€ (0.9) 0.2 0.7 — 2.2
(3.5 (4.7) 7.€ — — —
0.3 54.¢ 1.6 0.2 — 57.1
10.7 (4.9 30.¢ 3.3 — 40.5
2.8 (0.6) (3.9 0.5 = (0.7)
29.€ 4.2 0.€ — (34.6) —
$ 37.¢ $ O0.€ $ 350 $ 2.8 $ (349 $ 41.2
— — — 3.6 — 3.€
$ 376 $ 0€ $ 350 $ (08 $ (348 $ 37¢
$ 304 $ (19 $ 128f 3 26 $ (129 $  30.
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations
For the year ended January 1, 2011
(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Cott
Beverage Elimination
Cott Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Corporation Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Entries Consolidatec

Revenue, ne $ 201.C $905¢ $ 600 $ 137¢ $ (419 $ 1,808.
Cost of sale: 158.( 774.% 527.( 119.( (41.9) 1,537.(
Gross profit 43.C 131.3 73.2 18.€ — 266.:
Selling, general and administrative exper 31.C 79.1 42.¢€ 14.C — 166.7
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant & equént — 1.C (0.2 0.2 — 1.1
Restructuring — (0.5) — — — (0.5)
Operating income 12.C 51.7 30.¢ 4.4 — 99.C
Contingent consideration ei-out adjustmen — — (20.9) — — (20.9)
Other expense (income), r 2.3 i 0.& (0.9 — 4.C
Intercompany interest (income) expense, (6.9 8.2 (1.9 — (0.2 (0.0
Interest expense, n 2 35.€ 0.€ 0.2 — 36.€
Income before income tax expense and equity incor

(loss) 16.: 6.€ 50.¢ 4.6 0.1 78.4
Income tax expens 4.5 12.C 1.7 04 — 18.€
Equity income 42.¢ 6.C 0.€ — (49.9 —
Net income $ 547 $ 0€ $ 500 $ 42 $ (490 $ 59.¢
Less: Net income attributable to r-controlling interest — — — 5.1 — 5.1
Net income (loss) attributed to Cott Corporation $ 547 $ 0€ $ 500 3 09 $ (49.9 $ 54.7
Comprehensive income (loss) attributed to Col

Corporation $ 58t $ (B2 $ 520 % 20 $ (449 $ 58t
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ASSETS

Current assets

Cash & cash equivalen

Accounts receivable, net of allowar
Income taxes recoverak
Inventories

Prepaid expenses and other as

Total current assets

Property, plant & equipment, n
Goodwill

Intangibles and other assets,
Deferred income taxe

Other tax receivabl

Due from affiliates
Investments in subsidiari

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities

Current maturities of lor-term debi
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit

Total current liabilities

Long-term debr
Deferred income taxe
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Due to affiliates

Total liabilities

Equity

Capital stock, no pz

Additional paic-in-capital

Retained earnings (defic

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) inct
Total Cott Corporation equity

Nonr-controlling interest:

Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

Consolidating Balance Sheet
As of December 29, 2012
(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Cott Elimination

Cott Beverage: Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Corporation Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Entries Consolidatec
$ 39:¢ $ 37& $ 96. $ 5.7 $ — $ 179«
18. 111.F 122.% 16.2 (69.0) 199.2
— 0.¢ 0.2 0.1 — 1.2
21.1 65.¢ 130.¢ 7.C — 224.¢
2.5 13.4 4.2 0.1 — 20.5
81.¢ 229.2 354.( 29.1 (69.0 625.1
50.7 188.< 242.( 9.8 — 490.¢
27.5 4.t 98.: — — 130.:
1.C 101. 198.¢ 14.€ — 315.¢
2.6 — — 04 — 3.3
0.2 0.1 0.€ — — 0.¢
40.C 175.2 78.C 41.€ (335.)) —
487.5 389.5 820.( — (1,697.) —
$ 691 $1,088.! $ 1,791 $ 95.¢ $(2,101.9) $ 1,565.¢
$ = $ 1.3 $ 0.2 $ 04 $ — $ 1.¢
36.2 119.f 193.] 7.S (69.0 287.i
36.2 120.¢ 193.: 8.3 (69.0 289.¢
0.2 598.% 1.t 14 — 601.¢
— 30.2 7.S 0.¢ — 39.1
0.2 4.C 8.2 — — 12.t
43.2 76.7 177.¢ 37.4 (335.7) —
79.€ 830.5 388.¢ 48.C (404.7) 943.(
397.¢ 574t 1,724.; 83.€ (2,382.9) 397.¢
40. — — — — 40.4
186.( (329.%) (331.9 (46.7) 707.C 186.(
(12.9) 13.2 9.4 (0.9 (21.9) (12.9)
611.¢ 258.( 1,402." 36.7 (1,697.7) 611.¢
— — — 11.1 — 11.1
611.¢ 258.( 1,402.! 47.€ (1,697.) 622.¢
$ 691 $1,088.! $ 1,791 $ 95.¢ $(2,101.9) $ 1,565.¢
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ASSETS

Current assets

Cash & cash equivalen

Accounts receivable, net of allowar
Income taxes recoverak
Inventories

Prepaid expenses and other as

Total current assets

Property, plant & equipment, n
Goodwill

Intangibles and other assets,
Deferred income taxe

Other tax receivabl

Due from affiliates
Investments in subsidiari

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities

Current maturities of lor-term debi
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit

Total current liabilities

Long-term debr
Deferred income taxe
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Due to affiliates

Total liabilities

Equity

Capital stock, no pz

Treasury stocl

Additional paic-in-capital

Retained earnings (defic

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) inct
Total Cott Corporation equity

Nonr-controlling interest:

Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

Consolidating Balance Sheet
As of December 31, 2011
(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Cott Elimination

Cott Beverage: Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Corporation Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Entries Consolidatec
$ 13.7 $ 20.7 $ 58.¢ $ 7.€ $ — $ 100.¢
224 97.c 136.: 14.€ (59.7) 210.¢
— 8.8 0.8 0.3 — 9.¢
18.1 60.2 124.2 7.5 — 210.C
1.8 13.€ 3.€ 0.1 — 19.2
56.C 200.75 323.¢ 30.1 (59.79) 550.¢
48.C 179.: 245.] 9.8 — 482.2
26.¢ 4.t 98.2 — — 129.¢
0.6 105.¢ 216.5 18.4 — 341.1
4.1 — — — — 4.1
0.t — 0.t — — 1.C
30.2 166.< 79.1 41.€ (317.%) —
459.¢ 365.5 572.% — (1,397.6) —
$ 626.F $1,021. $ 1,535.! $ 100.2 $(1,775.() $ 1,508.¢
$ = $ 2¢ $ 0.1 $ 04 $ — $ 34
27.1 117.] 181.2 15.4 (59.7) 281.1
27.1 120.( 181.: 15.¢ (59.7) 284.t
0.2 599.( 1.2 1.7 — 602.1
— 26.¢ 6.8 0.5 — 34.1
0.2 3.t 16.2 — — 20.C
43.; 77.€ 168.¢ 27.€ (317.%) —
70.7 827.1 374.% 45.¢ (377.9 940.7
395.¢ 569.: 1,396.! 82.¢ (2,048.¢) 395.¢
(2.2) — — — — (2.2)
42.¢ — — — — 42.€
144.1 (365.5) (329.0 (42.1) 736.€ 144.1
(24.9) (9.2 93.t 1.3 (85.6) (24.9)
555.¢ 194.¢ 1,161.( 42.C (1,397.6) 555.¢
— — — 12.4 — 12.4
555.¢ 194.¢ 1,161.( 54.4 (1,397.6) 568.2
$ 626.F $1,021. $ 1,535.! $ 100.2 $(1,775.) $ 1,508.¢
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 29, 2012
(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Operating Activities

Net income

Depreciation & amortizatio

Amortization of financing fee

Share-based compensation expel

Increase in deferred income ta:

Gain on bargain purcha

Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipm
Equity (loss) income, net of distributio
Intercompany transactiol

Other noi-cash item:

Net change in operating assets and liabilitiesphatquisitior

Net cash provided by operating activit

Investing Activities

Acquisition

Additions to property, plant & equipme
Additions to intangibles and other ass
Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipn
Proceeds from insurance recovel

Advances to affiliate

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activi

Financing Activities

Payments of lor-term debt

Borrowings under ABL

Payments under AB

Advances from affiliate

Distributions to no-controlling interest:
Common share repurche

Dividends paid to shareholde

Financing fee:

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi

Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢

Net increase (decrease) in cash & cash equivalel
Cash & cash equivalents, beginning of perio
Cash & cash equivalents, end of perio

Cott
Beverage Elimination

Cott Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Corporation Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Entries Consolidatec
$ 47¢ $ 30z $ 504 S 6.3 $ (829 $ 52.:
6.5 36.€ 48.2 5.¢ — 97.7
0.2 3.8 0.2 — — 3.7
1.1 2.7 1.C 0.1 — 4.¢
0.4 3.€ (0.2) — — 3.8
— — (0.9) — — (0.9)
— 0.7 0.€ 0.t — 1.8
(46.9) (5.0 (30.5) = 82. =
28.( 5.¢ — — (33.9 —
— (0.4) — — — (0.4)
(6.9) (3.9) (15.2) 2.1 33.¢ 10.1
30.5 74.C 53.¢ 14.¢ — 173.C
— (4.7) (5.0) — — (9.7)
(7.7 (45.2) (14.2) (2.6) — (69.7)
(0.6) (5.1 0.5 - = (5.2)
— — 1.C 1.3 — 2.3
— 1.¢ — — — 1.¢
— — — (9.7) 9.7 —
(8.9 (53.)) (7.7 (11.0 9.7 (80.4)
0.1 (2.9 — (0.5) (3.3
— 24.t — — — 24.t
= (24.5) = = = (24.5)
9.7 — — — 9.7) —
— — — (5.€) — (5.€)
(0.3 — — — — (0.3
(5.9 — — — — (5.9)
— (1.2) — — — (1.2)
3.7 (4.1 = (6.2) 9.7 (16.2)
04 — 1.4 0.3 — 2.1
26.1 16.¢ 37.5 (1.9 — 78.5
13.7 20.7 58.¢€ 7.€ — 100.¢
$ 396 $ 37E $ 964 $ 57 $ — $ 179«
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31, 2011
(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Cott
Beverage Elimination
Cott Guarantor ~ Non-Guarantor
Corporation Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Entries Consolidatec
Operating Activities

Net income $ 37€ $ 0€ $ 35C 3% 28 $ (349 $ 412
Depreciation & amortizatio 6.C 35.1 48.2 6.C — 95.3
Amortization of financing fee 0.3 3.2 0.2 — — 3.
Share-based compensation expel 1.1 1.C 0.7 0.1 — 2.8
Increase (decrease) in deferred income t 04 0.1 (3.9 (0.3 — 3.7
Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipm — 0.4 0.€ — — 1.2
Asset impairment — — — 0.€ — 0.€
Intangible asset impairmer — 1.4 — — — 1.4
Contract termination paymer (0.9 (2.9 — — — (3.2
Equity (loss) income, net of distributio (29.6) 4.2 0.2 — 33.6 —
Intercompany transactiol 25.¢ 9.€ — — (35.9) —
Other noi-cash item: (0.2) 1.1 3.€ 0.2 — 4.9
Net change in operating assets and liabil (25.7  210. (198.9 (3.9 36.€ 18.¢
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activ 15.C 256.5 (113.7) 5.7 — 163.t
Investing Activities
Acquisition — (34.9) — — — (34.9)
Additions to property, plant & equipme (5.2 (33.9 (9.5) (0.2 — (48.8)
Additions to intangibles and other ass (0.2 (5.9 (0.2) (0.7 — (5.7
Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipn — 0.4 — — — 0.4
Other investing activitie — (1.8 — — — (1.9
Advances to affiliate — — 156.] 3.€ (159.%) —
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activi (5.9 (74.9) 146.5 3.3 (159.%) (90.2)
Financing Activities
Payments of lor-term deb! 0.1 (6.4 — (0.5) — (6.9
Borrowings under ABL — 224.1 — — — 224.1
Payments under AB — (231.9 — — — (231.9
Advances from affiliate (3.6) (156.) — — 159.7 —
Distributions to no-controlling interest: — — — (6.0 — (6.0)
Exercise of option — 0.2 — — — 0.2
Net cash used in financing activiti (3.5) (170.0 — (6.5) 159.% (20.9)
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ (0.2 — 0.1 (0.2 — (0.9
Net increase in cash & cash equivalen 5.9 11.€ 32.¢ 2.3 — 52.7
Cash & cash equivalents, beginning of perio 7.8 9.1 26.C 5.2 — 48.2
Cash & cash equivalents, end of perio $ 137 $ 207 $ 58¢ $ 7€ $ — $ 100f
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended January 1, 2011
(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Cott
Beverage Elimination
Cott Guarantor ~ Non-Guarantor
Corporation Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Entries Consolidatec
Operating Activities

Net income $ 547 $ 0€ $ 50C $ 42 $ (490 $  59.¢
Depreciation & amortizatio 6.3 35.4 26.2 5.¢ — 74.C
Amortization of financing fee 0.4 2.1 0.2 — — 2.7
Share-based compensation expel 0.7 3. 0.1 — — 4.7
Increase in deferred income ta: 2.3 12.C 1.7 1.1 — 17.C
Write-off of financing fees 0.2 1.C 0.2 — — 14
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant & equént — 1.C (0.7 0.2 — 1.1
Loss on buyback of Not¢ — 0.1 — — — 0.1
Contingent consideration ei-out adjustmen — — (20.9) — — (20.9)
Contract termination los — 3.€ — — — 3.€
Contract termination paymer — (5.4) — — — (5.4)
Equity (loss) income, net of distributio (42.9 (6.0 (0.€ — 49.¢ —
Intercompany transactiol 8.9 7.7 — — (16.5 —
Other nor-cash item: 2.C 3.8 — (0.2 — 5L
Net change in operating assets and liabil (35.9) 63.4 (17.9) 7.€ 16.4 34.2
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activ (2.8) 123.1 39.4 18.7 — 178.
Investing Activities
Acquisition — (507.%) — — — (507.%)
Additions to property, plant & equipme (5.4) (26.5) (10.¢) (1.5 — (44.0
Additions to intangibles and other ass — (4.2 — — — (4.2
Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipn — 0.2 0.2 0.€ — 1.2
Advances to affiliate 21.C — (12.3) (8.6) 0.1 —
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi 15.€ (538.) (22.6) (9.7 0.1 (554.9)
Financing Activities
Payments of lor-term deb! 0.1 (18.9) — (0.5) — (18.7)
Issuance of lor-term debt — 375.( — — — 375.(
Borrowings under ABL — 307.1 59.¢ — — 366.5
Payments under AB — (319.9 (59.7) — (379.0
Advances from affiliate 8.8 12.2 (21.0 — (0.7 —
Intercompany contributior (89.9) 71.1 18.7 — — —
Distributions to no-controlling interest: — — — (7.4) — (7.4)
Issuance of common shares, net of offering 71.1 — — — — 71.1
Financing fee: — (14.2) — — — (14.2)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activi (9.8) 413.5 (2.€) (7.€ (0.2) 393.:
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ 0.6 — (0.4) 0.1 — 0.3
Net increase (decrease) in cash & cash equivalel 3.6 (1.3 13.¢ 1.2 — 17.2
Cash & cash equivalents, beginning of perio 4.2 10.4 12.2 4.1 — 30.€
Cash & cash equivalents, end of perio $ 78 $ 91 $ 26.C $ 58§ — $ 482

Note 24—Subsequent Event

On February 14, 2013, the Board of Directors dedar dividend of C$0.06 per share on common shpagsple in cash on April 5, 2013
to shareowners of record at the close of busineddarch 20, 2013.
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(in millions of U.S. dollars

Description

Reserves deducted in the balanc
sheet from the asset to which
they apply

Allowances for losses ol

Accounts receivable

Inventories

Deferred income tax asset

(in millions of U.S. dollars

Description

Reserves deducted in the balanc
sheet from the asset to which
they apply

Allowances for losses ol

Accounts receivable

Inventories

Deferred income tax ass¢

(in millions of U.S. dollars

Description

Reserves deducted in the balanc
sheet from the asset to which
they apply

Allowances for losses ol

Accounts receivable

Inventories

Deferred income tax ass¢

Schedule ll—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Year ended December 29, 201

Reduction in Charged to Cost:

Balance at Charged to Balance at
Beginning of Yeal Sales and Expenses Other Accounts Deductions End of Year
$ (5.7) $ — $ (1.3 $ (0.2) $ 04 $ (6.9

(8.6) — (1.6) (0.9) 0.2 (10.5)
(22.2) o (5.6) 0.2 o (27.5)
$ (367) $ — $ 85 % (01 $ O£ $ (449
Year ended December 31, 201
Reduction in Charged to Cost:

Balance at Charged to Balance at
Beginning of Yeal Sales and Expenses Other Accounts Deductions End of Year
$ (7.0) $ — $ 0.€ $ 0.2 $ 0EF $ (5.7

(8.2 — (2.2) — 1.8 (8.6)
(12.7) — (9.4) (0.1) — (22.2)
$ (27.9) $ — $ (10.9 $ 0.1 $ 2.C $ (36.9)
Year ended January 1, 201
Reduction in Charged to Cost:

Balance at Charged to Balance at
Beginning of Yeal Sales and Expenses Other Accounts Deductions End of Year
$ G9 $ — $ 0.6 % ©) $ (04 $ (70

(6.7) — (1.9) 0.2 (0.4) (8.9)
(17.6) — 4.4 0. - (12.7)
$ (300 $ — $ 2.5 $ 0.€ $ (08 $ (2719
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Number

2.1

3.1
3.2
4.1

4.2
4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

10.11

10.22

10.32

10.42

10.52

10.62

10.7%

Cott Corporation

Exhibit Index

Description

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 7, 231énd among Cott Corporation, Caroline LLC, a ljt-owned subsidiary ¢
Cott Corporation, Cliffstar Corporation, each of fliffstar companies named therein, and Stanley, Solely in his capacity as
seller? representative (incorporated by reference to ExRiii to our Form -K/A filed July 9, 2010)

Articles of Amalgamation of Cott Corporation (inporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to our Forr-K filed February 28, 2007
Amended and Restated -laws of Cott Corporation (incorporated by refereta&xhibit 3.2 to our Form -Q filed May 10, 2007)

Indenture dated as of November 13, 2009, goverthie@®.375% Senior Notes due 2017, by and amongBeettrages Inc., Cc
Corporation, the guarantors identified therein BISBC Bank USA, National Association, as trusteediporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 to our Form-K filed on November 16, 2009

Form of 8.375% Senior Note due 2017 (incorporateceference to Exhibit 4.2 to our Forr-K filed on November 16, 200¢

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of NoveriBeR009, among Cott Beverages Inc., Cott Corfmrathe guarantor
identified therein and Barclays Capital Inc., M@rgan Securities Inc. and Deutsche Bank Secutlities(incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 4.3 to our Form-K filed on November 16, 2008

Indenture dated as of August 17, 2010, governiedth25% Senior Notes due 2018, by and among @etrages Inc., Co
Corporation, the guarantors identified therein BISBC Bank USA, National Association, as trusteediporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 to our Form-K filed August 20, 2010;

Form of 8.125% Senior Note due 2018 (included dsliixA to Exhibit 4.7, which is incorporated byfeeence to Exhibit 4.1 to ot
Form ¢-K filed August 20, 2010;

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of Augds2010, among Cott Beverages Inc., Cott Corpanatlee guarantors identifie
therein and Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., as septative to the Initial Purchasers (incorporatgddference to Exhibit 4.3 to our
Form ¢-K filed August 20, 2010;

Supply Agreement, dated December 21, 1998, betWésdmart Stores, Inc. and Cott Beverages USA, Inow(“ Cott Beverage
Inc.”) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of ourrrd (-K filed March 15, 2011)

Restated 1986 Common Share Option Plan of Cottdatijpn/Corporation Cott as amended through Oct@beP004 (incorporate
by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to our Forn-K filed March 16, 2005)

Employment Offer Letter to William Reis dated Jaiyu29, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibi4B to our Form 1-K filed
March 11, 2008)

Employment Offer Letter to Michael Creamer datedilAls, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhilfit19 to our Form 1K filed
March 11, 2009)

Amended and Restated Retention, Severance an-Competition Plan (incorporated by reference to BixHi0.6 to our Form 1-Q
filed August 9, 2007)

Employment Offer Letter to Gregory Leiter, execu@ctober 15, 2007 (incorporated by reference taltkxh0.41 to our Form 1K
filed March 11, 2008)

Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2010 an@otgCorporation, Cott Beverages Inc., Cott Bevesagmited, Cliffstar LLC
and the other Loan Parties party thereto, the Lisnuirty thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Lori8i@mch as UK Security
Trustee, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Adminisiatigent and Administrative Collateral Agent, Gexiétlectric Capital
Corporation, as Co-Collateral Agent and Bank of Ainge N.A., as Documentation Agent (incorporatedddgrence to Exhibit 10.1
to our Amended Form -Q filed June 20, 2011
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Number

10.82

10.92

10.102

10.112

10.122

10.132

10.14

10.15
10.16

10.17

10.18
10.192

10.20t

10.212

10.22

10.23

10.242
211
23.1
31.1

Description

Employment Offer Letter to Neal Cravens dated Aud@s 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibitlt0 our Form 1-Q filed
October 29, 2009

Employment Agreement between Cott Corporation &y Fowden dated February 18, 2009 (incorporayeetference to Exhib
10.1 to our Form-K dated February 24, 200¢

Cott Corporation Severance and I-Competition Plan, dated February 18, 2009 (incateat by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to «
Form ¢&-K dated February 24, 200¢

Employment Offer Letter to Marni Morgan Poe dateduhry 14, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhih1 to our Form 1-Q
filed May 12, 2010)

Common Share Option Cancellation and Forfeitures@grent between Jerry Fowden and Cott CorporataiegddAugust 9, 201
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to oarrk &K filed August 10, 2010;

Stock Appreciation Right Cancellation Agreementaietn Neal Cravens and Cott Corporation, dated Aubys2010 (incorporate
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Fori-K filed August 10, 2010;

2010 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by refeeeto Appendix B of our Definitive Proxy StatementSchedule 14A filed o
April 1, 2010).

Amendment to 2010 Equity Incentive Plan (incorpedaby reference to Exhibit 4.2 to our For-K filed on May 4, 2010)

Form of Restricted Share Unit Award Agreement Wiilne-Based Vesting under Cott Corpora’s 2010 Equity Incentive Ple
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to oarrf 1(-Q filed November 10, 2010

Form of Restricted Share Unit Award Agreement drformanc-Based Vesting under Cott Corpora’s 2010 Equity Incentiv
Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6uo Form 1-Q filed November 10, 2010

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement undett@orporatio’s 2010 Equity Incentive Plan (filed herewit

Employment Offer Letter to Michael Gibbons datedrdfes, 2009 (incorporated by reference to ExhiBitLlof our Form 1-K
filed March 15, 2011)

Supply Agreement executed December 21, 2010, efée¢anuary 1, 2011 between Crown Cork & Seal US#,and Cot
Corporation (incorporated by reference to ExhiBit34 of our Form 1-K/A filed January 1, 2012

Employment Offer Letter to Jay Wells dated Januaty2012 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 16.8ur Form 1-Q filed
May 7, 2012

Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement, dated as afl AP, 2012, by and among Cott Corporation, Cav&ages Inc., Cliffste
LLC, and Cott Beverages Limited, as Borrowers,dtieer Loan Parties party thereto, the Lenders ghegeto, and JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent (incogged by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Forr-Q filed May 7, 2012

Amendment No. 2 to Credit Agreement, dated as lgf 09, 2012, by and among Cott Corporation, CottdBages Inc., Cliffste
LLC, and Cott Beverages Limited, as Borrowers,dtieer Loan Parties party thereto, the Lenders ghegeto, and JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent (incogied by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Forr-Q filed November 1, 201:

Employment Offer Letter to Carlos Baila dated Seytter 17, 2012 (filed herewitl
List of Subsidiaries of Cott Corporation (filed keiith).
Consent of Independent Registered Certified PWldmounting Firm (filed herewith’

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursido section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002 for the year ended Decerr
29, 2012 (filed herewith
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Number Description
31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursudo section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002 for the year end
December 29, 2012 (filed herewitl
32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuido section 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002 for the year ended Decerr
29, 2012 (furnished herewitt
32.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursudo section 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002 for the year ended Decerr
29, 2012 (furnished herewitt
101 The following financial statements from Cott Coratior’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 29, 2C

filed on February 27, 2013, formatted in XBRL (ei&éle Business Reporting Language): (i) Consatid&@tatements of
Operations, (ii) Consolidated Balance Sheets,@@hsolidated Statements of Cash Flows, (iv) Cadateld Statements of Equity
(v) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprafeeimcome (vi) Notes to the Consolidated FinanSi@tements (furnished
herewith).

Document is subject to request for confidentiztiment.
Indicates a management contract or compensatony



Exhibit 10.18

COTT CORPORATION
NONQUALIFIED STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT

THIS NONQUALIFIED STOCK OPTION IS GRANTED by Cott Corporation (“Company”) to étfGrantee”), pursuant

to the terms and conditions of the Company’s 2040iti Incentive Plan, as amended (“Plan”). The teofithe Plan are incorporated herein by
reference. The Company recognizes the value dbthatee’s continued service as a key employee asdWwarded this Nonqualified Stock
Option under the Plan, subject to the followingrterand conditions of this Nonqualified Stock Optigreement (the “Agreement”):

1.

Grant of Optior. The Company hereby grants to Grantee, effective  “Grant Dat”), a Nonqualified Stock Optior“Optior”), subjec
to the terms and conditions hereof and of the Rtapurchase from the Company comniamess of the Company, at the price per
share equal to (“Option Price"), whidption shall expire on the tenth (10) annivers#rthe Grant Date (“Expiration Date”),
unless it expires earlier in accordance with thesehereof

Exercisability of Optior. The Option shall become fully vested and exebiésan the last day of the Compi's fiscal yea

Manner of Exercis. The exercisable portion of the Option may be @sed in whole or in part from time to time untietExpiration Date
but in no event with respect to a fractional shBiseercise shall be by notice of exercise to the gamy, specifying the number of shares to
be purchased, the Option Price of each share anggdregate Option Price for all shares being @seth under said notice. The notice
shall be accompanied by payment of the aggregatierOprice for the number of shares purchased. 8xetrise shall be effective upon
the actual receipt of such payment and noticeadmpany. Subject to Section 7 (Tax Withholdinglptw, the aggregate Option Price

all shares purchased pursuant to an exercise @piien shall be paid by (i) currency or check fggdo the Company, (ii) nonforfeitable,
unrestricted common shares owned by the Grantide déime of exercise and which have a value atithe of exercise that is equal to the
Option Price (including through a net exercisai), ffie proceeds of sale through a bank or brokethe date of exercise of some or all of
the shares to which the exercise relates or (iy)cambination of the foregoing. In the case of at“exercise” of an Option, the Company
will not require a payment of the Option Price frtime Grantee but will reduce the number of comntares issued upon the exercise by
the largest number of whole common shares thaa trasr Market Value (as defined in the Plan) tresdnot exceed the aggregate Option
Price for the common shares exercised under thisode

There shall be furnished with each notice of thereise of any portion of the Option such documestthe Company in its discretion may
deem necessary to assure compliance with applicalele and regulations of any stock exchange oegowental authority. No rights or
privileges of a shareowner of the Company in resfwesuch shares issuable upon the exercise gbaryf the Option shall accrue to you
unless and until certificates representing sucheshiaave been registered in your na



Restrictions on Exercisabilit. The Option shall not be exercised in whole grant and no related share certificates shall bgeteld in th
sole discretion of the Company: (i) if such exexas delivery would constitute a violation of ampyision of, or any regulation or order
entered pursuant to, any law purporting to regulsiges, salaries or compensation; or (i) if arguisite approval, consent, registration or
other qualification of any stock exchange upon Wwhke securities of the Company may then be listedlSecurities and Exchange
Commission, the Canadian securities regulatoryaitiths or other governmental authority havinggdiction over the exercise of the
Option or the issuance of shares pursuant thesk#dl, not have been secur

Prohibition Against Transfe. This Option may not be sold, exchanged, assignaasferred, pledged, hypothecated, encumber
otherwise disposed of, shall not be assignablepleyation of law, and shall not be subject to exeoyfittachment, charge, alienation or
similar process. Any attempt to effect any of thee§oing shall be null and void and without effi

Compliance with Section 409A of the Cc. To the extent applicable, it is intended thatAlgegeement and the Plan comply with-
provisions of Section 409A of the Code, so thatititeme inclusion provisions of Section 409A(a)§i}he Code do not apply to the
Grantee. The Agreement and the Plan shall be agimied and interpreted in a manner consistentthighintent, and any provision that
would cause the Agreement or the Plan to fail tsf§aSection 409A of the Code shall have no fand effect until amended to comply
with Section 409A of the Code (which amendment fayetroactive to the extent permitted by Sectid®Mof the Code and may be
made by the Company without the consent of the BednNotwithstanding the foregoing, no particuiéac result for the Grantee with
respect to any income recognized by the Granteerinection with the Agreement is guaranteed, aadsitantee solely shall be
responsible for any taxes, penalties or intereppgad on the Grantee under Section 409A in cororeatith the Agreement. Reference to
Section 409A of the Code will also include any Hagjans, or any other guidance, promulgated wipeet to such Section by the U.S.
Department of the Treasury or the Internal Reve3emwice.

Tax Withholding.

a) Grantees Other Than UK Grante. The Grantee shall pay all applicable income angleyment taxes (including taxes of any fore
jurisdiction) which the Company or a Subsidiarydguired to withhold at any time with respect te ®ption. Such payment shall
made in full, at the Grantee’s election, in casbktack, by withholding from the Grantee’s next nahpayroll check, or by the
relinquishment of common shares that otherwise @ébalissued to the Grantee pursuant to the Agreeftne@Ganada, these shares
relinquished must be sold on the market on the 8eambehalf. Shares tendered as payment of refwitholding shall be valued
at the closing price per share of the Com|'s common shares on the date such withholding didigarises




10.

11.

12.

b) UK Grantee:. By executing the Agreement, the Grantee agrettstiié Company (for itself and on behalf of thei@eg' s employing
company (the “Employer”)) that the Company (oit i the secondary contributor in respect of thhar®ee for the purposes of
national insurance contributions, the Employer) meppver from the Grantee (by deduction or othezpés amount equal to any
secondary Class 1 contributions payable in respfatie exercise of the Option pursuant to the Agret, together with any income
tax and primary Class 1 contributions due undePtne As You Earn system in respect of the exewfisiee Option pursuant to the
Agreement and the Grantee hereby agrees to indgtheifCompany and the Employer for such amountstieoavoidance of doubt,
a broker or trustee instructed by the Grantee $&ieadintitled to retain, out of the aggregate nunsbeommon shares issued in the
name of the Grantee and to which the Grantee wathiehwise be entitled pursuant to the Agreemenmt,safl as agent for the
Grantee, such number of common shares as in thioopf the Company or the Employer will realizeaanount equivalent to any
amount due from the Grantee pursuant to this Seatinl to pay such proceeds to the Employer to naisehit for such amour

Employment. The rights and obligations of the Grantee unldertérms of his office or employment with the Enyglowill not be affecte:
by his participation in the Plan or any right whinkh may have under the Agreement and the Agreetloesstnot form part of any contract
of employment between the Grantee and the Empldfytre Grantee’s office or employment is termirtbfer any reason whatsoever (and
whether lawful or otherwise) he will not be entitli® claim any compensation for or in respect gf @nsequent diminution or extinction
of his rights or benefits (actual or prospective)ler the Agreement or otherwise in connection wighPlan

Beneficiary Designatio. The Grantee may, subject to compliance withglliaable laws, name, from time to time, any begiafy or
beneficiaries (who may be named contingently ocsssively) to whom any vested benefit under tha Rlao be paid in the event of the
Grantee’s death before the Grantee receives aaly of such benefit. Each designation will revolepaor designations by the Grantee,
shall be in the form as may be prescribed by thmi@ittee, and will be effective only when filed thetGrantee in writing with the
Committee during his or her lifetime. In the abse=p€any such designation, benefits remaining uhpbthe Grantee’s death shall be paid
to his or her estat

Governing Law. The Agreement shall be governed by and consiruadcordance with the laws of the State of Flogdd the laws of th
United States applicable there

Severability. The invalidity or unenforceability of any prowsi of the Agreement shall not affect the validityeaforceability of any othe
provision of the Agreemer

Entire Agreemen.

a) The Grantee hereby acknowledges that he or shesbeived, reviewed and accepted the terms andtammslapplicable to th
Agreement, and has not been induced to enterhieté\greement by expectation of employment or cortihemployment with the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries. The grantinghefOption and the issuance of common shares exentise of the Option are
subject to the terms and conditions of the Pldrofakhich are incorporated into and form an intdgrart of the Agreemer




b) The Grantee hereby acknowledges that he or sbhec@isult with and rely upon only the Grar's own tax, legal, and financi
advisors regarding the consequences and riske #dgheement and the award of the Opt

c) The Agreement may not be amended or modified exneptwritten agreement executed by the partiestber their respectiv

successors and legal representatives. The catidhe Agreement are not part of the provisiongbgand shall have no force or
effect.

13. Counterpart. The Agreement may be executed in counterpartishvitbgether shall constitute one and the saménatic

*kkkkkk



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Cott Corporation has causeddpeeement to be duly executed by one of its dularized officers, and
the Grantee has executed the Agreement, effecdioé the day and year first above written.

WITNESS: COTT CORPORATION
By: By:
Print Name Print Name

Title:

GRANTEE:

By:

Print Name




Exhibit 10.24
September 17, 2012

Carlos Baila

3 Rivington Way
Danbury, Connecticut
06810

Dear Carlos:

| am very pleased to outline in this letter (th@ffer Letter ") the terms and conditions on which we are offgyou the position of Chief
Procurement Officer of Cott Corporation (th€bmpany”). This Offer Letter will not constitute an agreemantil it has been fully executed |
both parties. Please note that this Offer Lett&sdwt contemplate a contract or promise of empémyrfor any specific term; you will be an at
will employee at all times.

1. Position and Duties

1.1 Position. Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, youleilemployed by the Company as its Chief Procurei®éicer, effective
as of February 1, 2013 (the&Employment Date”).

1.2 Responsibilities

(a) As the Company’s Chief Procurement Officer, yolireport to the Chief Executive Officer and leasuch duties and
responsibilities as may be assigned to you frore tiontime by the Chief Executive Officer.

(b) You agree to devote all of your business time attention to the business and affairs of the @omg and to discharging the
responsibilities assigned to you. This shall nechrde you from (i) serving on the boards of dimesiof a reasonable number of charitable
organizations, (ii) engaging in charitable actedtiand community affairs, and (iii) managing yoeirsonal affairs, so long as these activities do
not interfere with the performance of your dutied aesponsibilities as the Company’s Chief ProcemnOfficer.

1.3 No Employment Restriction. You hereby represent and covenant that, excefselosed to the Company, your employment by the
Company does not violate any agreement or coveaoamtich you are subject or by which you are boand that there is no such agreement or
covenant that could restrict or impair your abitityperform your duties or discharge your respalitsds to the Company.

2. Remuneration.

2.1 Base Salary Your annual base salary will initially be at théeraf US $290,000 per year Ahnual Base Salary”), paid on a bi-
weekly basis, pro-rated for any partial periodseldasn the actual number of days in the applicabteg@. Your performance will be evaluated at
least annually, and any increase to the level af yanual Base Salary will be determined as pathefregular annual review process. You will
receive an annual car allowance in the amount o$L&E500 annually and a cell phone allowance iratheunt of US $2,025 annual



2.2 Bonus. You will be eligible to participate in the Compasynnual bonus plan and may earn a bonus basedhganhievement of
specified performance goals. The amount of yogetaoonus is 50% of your Annual Base Salary. Theubgear is the Company’s fiscal year
and any payments made to you for bonus year 20l Bevpro-rated based on your Employment Date aB@6aday year. Currently the
maximum potential payout permitted under the bagians is two (2) times the applicable target borassathievement of performance goals
significantly in excess of the target goals, aaldighed by the Human Resources and Compensatiom@tee of the Company’s Board of
Directors. Please note that the bonus plan iseytiliscretionary and the Company reserves indsekte discretion the right to terminate or
amend it or any other bonus plan that may be estedul.

2.3 Onetime LTI Grant . You will be entitled to receive a one-time longmeincentive (“LTI") award equivalent to US $ $21@%Bwhen
the 2013 annual awards are made to other senioutixes of the Company. The LTI award, including thesting terms, will be governed by the
2010 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) and youraad/agreement.

3. Benefits.

3.1 Benefit Program. Effective as of the Employment Date, you will bigille to participate in the Comparsybenefit programs genere
available to other senior executives of the Comp@ny benefit programs include health, disabilitgl dife insurance benefits. Employee
contributions are required for our benefit prografau will also be eligible to be reimbursed or thempany will pay directly for the costs of an
annual medical examination in an amount not to ectd¢éS $1,500 per year.

3.2.401(k) Plan. In addition, on the first day of the first fiscalayter following your completion of six (6) montbsemployment, you wil
be eligible to participate in the Company’s 401%kvings and Retirement Plan.

3.3 Vacation. You will be entitled to four (4) weeks vacation patendar year. You are encouraged to take vacatithe calendar year it
is earned. All earned vacation must be taken bych&d st of the year following the year in whiclisiearned; otherwise it may be forfeited. If
you should leave the Company, the value of any meglvacation taken by you will be considered & ttethe Company. All vacation perio
require the approval of the Chief Executive Officer

3.4 Reimbursement You will be reimbursed for expenses reasonablyriecliin connection with the performance of yourekitn
accordance with the Company’s policies as estaddisitom time to time.

3.5 No Other Benefits. You will not be entitled to any benefit or perqtésother than as specifically set out in this Offetter or
separately agreed to in writing by the Comp:




3.6 Relocation. You will be provided with a relocation allowanceugf to US $115,000, which must be used for costsried during your
relocation from Connecticut to the Tampa, FL aRayments will be made against US $115,000 at the teceipts are presented to the
Company for reimbursement. As a condition of cargshemployment with the Company, you will be expddb complete your relocation to
Tampa, FL within the six-month period following tBenployment Date.

4. Repayment In view of the amounts being provided you in acemak with Section 3.6, you will be required to sefiee Company if you are
terminated for Cause (as defined in Exhibit A) oluntarily resign your position, as follows: (a)lftepayment if such termination or resignation
occurs prior to the one year anniversary of the lBympent Date; (b) for a termination or resignatamturring after the one year anniversary but
on or before the three year anniversary of the Bympént Date, the repayment amount will be redueed pro-rata basis for each full month
worked from the Employment Date.

Repayment of any amounts due pursuant this segtéhrall be made to the Company on or before thed2y after the date of resignation or
termination.

5. Preemployment Processing Prior to your employment the Company requires ss&foécompletion of its pre-employment processiriys
includes a background investigation of your quedifions and references. To comply with the ImmigraReform and Control Act of 1986, the
Company must verify your identity and authorizatiorwork in the United States. The back of the esetl INS Form 1-9 contains a list of
documents that provide such verification. Pleaggghwith you on your first day either one origimidcument from List Aor one original
document from List Band one original document from List. @ you have any difficulty producing the requirddcuments, please call the
Human Resources department of the Company immédibpon acceptance of this offer, you acknowledgd agree that Company has the
right to disclose confidential information regamgliyou, this Offer Letter or your employment to @hiyd party or publicly as determined by the
Company to be required by law.

6. Termination; Payments and Entitlements Upon a Tenination .

6.1 Termination . The Company may terminate your employment: (alCfause (as defined in Exhibit A), (b) upon your Ditty (as
defined in Exhibit A), or (c) for any reason or m@@ason, in all cases, upon reasonable notice toaur employment with the Company will
terminate upon your death.

6.2 Involuntary Termination . Subject to Sections 6.3, 10.9, and 12.11, if youpleyment is terminated following the date of t@ier
Letter (i) by the Company without Cause other thgmeason of your Disability or (ii) by you for God&eason (either (i) or (ii), an “
Involuntary Termination ), you will be entitled to the following paymenrasid entitlements:

(a) Cash Severance Paymelfbu will receive a cash payment in an amount etguaine months of your then Annual Base Salary
(the* Severance Amount’) . The




Severance Amount will be paid in a lump sum, lélsapplicable withholding taxes, within thirty (30ays after the Involuntary Termination,
except in the case of an Involuntary Terminaticat th part of a group termination program, in whigise the payment shall be made within ¢
(60) days. The Severance Amount will not be considlas compensation for purposes of determiningfiisrunder any other qualified or non-
qualified plans of the Company.

(b) Accrued Salary and Vacatiofyou will be paid all salary and accrued vacatiay earned through the date of your termination,
less all applicable withholding taxes, on the fiegular pay date following the date of your teration.

(c) No Other PaymentdJpon payment of the amounts to be paid purswe8ettions 6.2(a) and 6.2(b), the Company shak nav
further liability hereunder.

6.3 Release RequiredYou will not be entitled to receive the paymentfeeth in Section 6.2(a) and, if applicable, Sect® unless you
execute, at least seven days before the date paysraue to be made, and do not revoke, a releabe iform of Exhibit B in favor of the
Company and related parties relating to all claamabilities of any kind relating to your employmt with the Company and the Involuntary
Termination of such employment.

7. Other Termination . If your employment is terminated by (a) your resitjon, (b) your death, or (c) by the Company fou§taor as a result
of your Disability, then you shall not be entitledreceive any severance or other payments, enétiés or benefits other than Annual Base
Salary earned through the date of termination eimdbursement for expenses through the date of patioh and, in either case, not yet paid.
greater certainty, with respect to a terminatiorrdgson of death or by reason of a Disability, imgtlin this Offer Letter shall derogate from any
rights and/or entitlements that you may be entittececeive under any other equity compensatidreoefit plan of the Company applicable to
you.

8. Resignation. If you are a director of the Company or a directoan officer of a company affiliated or relatedtie Company at the time of
your termination, you will be deemed to have resiyall such positions, and you agree that uponitation you will execute such tenders
resignation as may be requested by the Companyiderece such resignations.

9. Rights under Equity Plans. The provisions of this Offer Letter are subjecttte terms of the Company’s equity plans in effeatftime to
time. Any equity awards granted to you under thdgtgglans shall be forfeited or not, vest or raid, in the case of stock options and stock
appreciation rights, become exercisable or ngpragided by and subject to the terms of the applecaquity plan




10. Restrictive Covenants

10.1_Confidentiality .

(a) You acknowledge that in the course of carngng performing and fulfilling your obligations the Company hereunder, you v
have access to and will be entrusted with inforamathat would reasonably be considered confidetditie Company or its Affiliates, the
disclosure of which to competitors of the CompanitoAffiliates or to the general public, will beghly detrimental to the best interests of the
Company or its Affiliates. Such information inclejevithout limitation, trade secrets, know-how, keting plans and techniques, cost figures,
client lists, software, and information relatingetmployees, suppliers, customers and persons trectumal relationship with the Company.
Except as may be required in the course of carmgutg/our duties hereunder, you covenant and abegeyou will not disclose, for the duration
of your employment or at any time thereafter, amghsinformation to any person, other than to tlieadors, officers, employees or agents of the
Company that have a need to know such informationshall you use or exploit, directly or indirggtsuch information for any purpose other
than for the purposes of the Company, nor will gaclose or use for any purpose, other than fadtal the Company or its Affiliates, any ot
information which you may acquire during your emyt@nt with respect to the business and affaire®Qompany or its Affiliates.
Notwithstanding all of the foregoing, you shallditled to disclose such information if requiradguant to a subpoena or order issued
court, arbitrator or governmental body, agencyfbicial, provided that you shall first have:

(i) notified the Company;

(i) consulted with the Company on whether therarniobligation or defense to providing some opthe requested
information;

(i) if the disclosure is required or deemed adbige, cooperate with the Company in an attempbtain an order or other
assurance that such information will be accordedidential treatment.

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, you may disclogermation relating to your own compensation aedefits to your spouse,
attorneys, financial advisors and taxing authaitilease note that pursuant to rules promulgatéldebU.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission under the Securities Exchange Act o##i8Zffect on the date hereof, the amount and corapts of your compensation are
required to be publicly disclosed on an annualdasi

10.2_Inventions. You acknowledge and agree that all right, title amidrest in and to any information, trade secradyances, discoveries,
improvements, research materials and databasesanadaceived by you prior to or during your empi@nt relating to the business or affairs
of the Company, shall belong to the Company. Imegation with the foregoing, you agree to executeassignments and/or acknowledgements
as may be requested by the Chief Executive Offioen time to time.

10.3_Corporate Opportunities. Any business opportunities related to the businé#ise Company which become known to you during
your employment with the Company must be fully lised and made available to the Company by youyandgree not to take or attemp
take any action if the result would be to diveanfrthe Company any opportunity which is within seepe of its busines




10.4 NorrCompetition and Non-Solicitation .

(a) You will not at any time, without the prior wgn consent of the Company, during your employmeéttt the Company and for a
period after the termination of your employment fsaequal to the number of months used in theutation of the Severance Payment under
Section 6.2(a) (regardless of the reason for serchihation or whether the Severance Payment is Jnaitieer individually or in partnership,
jointly or in conjunction with any person or perspfirm, association, syndicate, corporation or pany, whether as agent, sharehol
employee, consultant, or in any manner whatsoelectly or indirectly:

(i) anywhere in the Territory, engage in, carryoorotherwise have any interest in, advise, lendeyda, guarantee the debts
or obligations of, permit your name to be usedannection with any business which is competitivéhieoBusiness or which provides the san
substantially similar services as the Business;

(ii) for the purpose, or with the effect, of compgtwith any business of the Company, solicit, ifetee with, accept any
business from or render any services to anyoneisvaelient or a prospective client of the Compangny Affiliate at the time you ceased to be
employed by the Company or who was a client dutfiegl2 months immediately preceding such time;

(iii) solicit or offer employment to any person elayed or engaged by the Company or any Affiliatéhattime you ceased to
be employed by the Company or who was an employegagithe 12-month period immediately precedinghstirme.

(b) Nothing in this Offer Letter shall prohibit cestrict you from holding or becoming beneficialyerested in up to one
(1%) percent of any class of securities in any camypprovided that such class of securities aredish a recognized stock exchange in Canada
or the United States or on the NASDAQ.

(c) If you are at any time in violation of any preien of this Section 10.4, then each time limdatset forth in this Section 10.4 shall
be extended for a period of time equal to the pleoittime during which such violation or violationscur. If the Company seeks injunctive re
from any such violation, then the covenants sehfshall be extended for a period of time equah&pendency of the proceeding in which re
is sought, including all appeals therefrom.

10.5 Insider and Other Policies You will comply with all applicable securities lawasd the Company’s Insider Trading Policy and
Insider Reporting Procedures in respect of anyritegsiof the Company that you may acquire, and wducomply with all other of the
Company’s policies that may be applicable to yamftime to time.

10.6 NonDisparagement. You will not disparage the Company or any of if§liates, directors, officers, employees or other
representatives in any manner and will in all respavoid any negative criticism of the Compe




10.7 Injunctive Relief.

(a) You acknowledge and agree that in the eveatlach of the covenants, provisions and restnistin this Section 10, the
Company’s remedy in the form of monetary damagdlseiinadequate and that the Company shall bejsahdreby, authorized and entitled, in
addition to all other rights and remedies availdbl#, to apply for and obtain from a court of qoatent jurisdiction interim and permanent
injunctive relief and an accounting of all profésd benefits arising out of such breach.

(b) The parties acknowledge that the restrictionthis Section 10 are reasonable in all of theuorstances and you acknowledge
the operation of restrictions contained in thist®&cl0 may seriously constrain your freedom tcksmber remunerative employment. If any of
the restrictions are determined to be unenforceabgoing beyond what is reasonable in the circamests for the protection of the interests of
the Company but would be valid, for example, if $aepe of their time periods or geographic areas Vimited, the parties consent to the court
making such modifications as may be required aotl sestrictions shall apply with such modificatiasmay be necessary to make them valid
and effective.

10.8_Survival of Restrictions. Each and every provision of this Section 10 shalise the termination of this Offer Letter or your
employment (regardless of the reason for such textioin).

10.9_Forfeiture . Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 6.2 adlldwing any Involuntary Termination it shall betdemined that the
you have breached (either before or after suchit@tion) any of the agreements in this Sectiontti® Company shall have no obligatior
liability or otherwise to make any further paymenter Section 6.2 from and after the date of suehdh, except for payments, if any, that
cannot legally be forfeited.

11. Code Section 409A

11.1.In General. This Section 11 shall apply to you if you are subje Section 409A of the United States Internaléteie Code of 1986
(the “Code”), but only with respect to any paymeéuaé hereunder that is subject to Section 409A®{hde.

11.2 Release Any requirement that you execute and not revokelease to receive a payment hereunder shall applyptiyment describ
in Section 11.1 only if the Company provides tHease to you on or before the date of your InvalnTermination.

11.3_ Payment Following Involuntary Termination. Notwithstanding any other provision herein to tbhatcary, any payment describec
Section 11.1 that is due to be paid within a staexibd following your Involuntary Termination shhé paid:

(a) If, at the time of your Involuntary Terminatioyou are a “specified employee” as defined in 8act09A of the Code, such
payment shall be made as of the later of (i) the gayment is due hereunder, or (ii) the earlighefdate which is six months after your
“separation from servi” (as defined under Section 409A of the Code), odtte of your death; ¢



(b) In any other case, on the later of (i) last dhthe stated period, or if such stated periagbismore than 90 days, at any time
during such stated period as determined by the @agnpithout any input from you, or (ii) the dateyafur “separation from servicea¢ definec
under Section 409A of the Code).

11.4 Reimbursements The following shall apply to any reimbursement tisad payment described in Section 11.1: (a) végpect to any
such reimbursement under Section 12.8, reimburseshafi not be made unless the expense is incdugdg the period beginning on your
effective hire date and ending on the sixth ansiasr of your death; (b) the amount of expensesbididor reimbursement during your taxable
year shall not affect the expenses eligible famtairsement in any other year; and (c) the timinglisuch reimbursements shall be as prov
herein, but not later than the last day of youabd& year following the taxable year in which tkeense was incurred.

11.5 Offset.If you are subject to Section 409A of the Code, affiyet under Section 12.11 shall apply to a payrdescribed in
Section 11.1 only if the debt or obligation wasumed in the ordinary course of your employmentwtite Company, the entire amount of the
set-off in any taxable year of the Company doesroeed $5,000, and the set-off is made at the sameeand in the same amount as the debt ot
obligation otherwise would have been due and c@tefrom you.

11.6 Interpretation. This Offer Letter shall be interpreted and congirse as to avoid the additional tax under Sect@®4a)(1)(B) of
the Code to the maximum extent practicable.

12. General Provisions

12.1 Entire Agreement. This Offer Letter, together with the plans and duoeuts referred to herein, constitutes and expreéksashole
agreement of the parties hereto with referenceyooéthe matters or things herein provided foherein before discussed or mentioned with
reference to your employment. All promises, repnegtéon, collateral agreements and undertakingexptessly incorporated in this Offer Let
are hereby superseded by this Offer Letter.

12.2_ Amendment. This Offer Letter may be amended or modified onhabwriting signed by both of the parties hereto.

12.3 Assignment This Offer Letter may be assigned by the Compargntosuccessor to its business or operations. Nghits hereunder
may not be transferred by you except by will ottty laws of descent and distribution and exceptfarsas applicable law may otherwise
require. Any purported assignment in violationted preceding sentence shall be void.

12.4 Governing Law; Consent to Personal Jurisdictio and Venue. This Offer Letter takes effect upon its acceptasmoe execution by
the Company. The validity, interpretation, and perfance of this Offer Letter shall be governeckripteted, and construed in accordance with
the laws of the State of Florida without givingesff to the principles of comity or conflicts of laswhereof. You hereby consent to personal
jurisdiction and venue, fc




any action brought by the Company arising out bfemch or threatened breach of this Offer Lettexutrof the relationship established by this
Offer Letter, exclusively in the United States BittCourt for the Middle District of Florida, TamDivision, or in the Circuit Court in and for
Hillsborough County, Florida; and, if applicableetfederal and state courts in any jurisdiction ih@u are employed or reside; you hereby
agree that any action brought by you, alone oomlanation with others, against the Company, whreghising out of this Offer Letter or
otherwise, shall be brought exclusively in the EdiStates District Court for the Middle Districtkibrida, Tampa Division, or in the Circuit
Court in and for Hillsborough County, Florida.

12.5_Severability. The invalidity of any one or more of the words, gg®s, sentences, clauses or sections contained Dffer Letter
shall not affect the enforceability of the remamportions of the Offer Letter or any part therefof which are inserted conditionally on their
being valid in law, and, in the event that any onenore of the words, phrases, sentences, clansestions contained in the Offer Letter shall
be declared invalid, the Offer Letter shall be ¢ared as if such invalid word or words, phraselmapes, sentence or sentences, clause or
clauses, or section or sections had not been étsert

12.6_Section Headings and GendefThe section headings contained herein are foraaéer purposes only and shall not affect in any way
the meaning or interpretation of this agreemeritp&Ainouns and any variations thereof shall be @kt refer to the masculine, feminine or
neuter, as the identity of the person or personsneguire.

12.7 No Term of Employment Nothing herein obligates the Company to continueniploy you. Where lawfully permitted in any
jurisdiction in which you perform employment respitilities on behalf of the Company, your employingmall be at will,

12.8_Indemnification . The Company will indemnify and hold you harmlesshi® maximum extent permitted by applicable lawirzgia
judgments, fines, amounts paid in settlement aasaable expenses, including reasonable attc fees, in connection with the defense of, or
as a result of any action or proceeding (or anyapfiom any action or proceeding) in which you mugle or are threatened to be made a party
by reason of the fact that you are or were aneffiaf the Company or any Affiliate. In additionet@ompany agrees that you shall be covered
and insured up to the maximum limits provided by msurance which the Company maintains to indeynisfdirectors and officers (as well as
any insurance that it maintains to indemnify thenpany for any obligations which it incurs as a hestiits undertaking to indemnify its office
and directors).

12.9_Survivorship. Upon the termination your employment, the respedtights and obligations of the parties shall stg\duch
termination to the extent necessary to carry aeiiftended preservation of such rights and obbgati

12.10_Taxes All payments under this Offer Letter shall be sabje withholding of such amounts, if any, relatiogax or other payroll
deductions as the Company may reasonably deteamihahould withhold pursuant to any applicable dawegulation.

12.11 _SefOff . Except as limited by Section 11.5, the Company s&\off any amount or obligation which may be owlryygyou to the
Company against any amount or obligation owinghgy@ompany to yot



12.12 Records All books, records, and accounts relating in anyimea to the Company or to any suppliers, custoneersljents of the
Company, whether prepared by you or otherwise cgrinito your possession, shall be the exclusive gntgpf the Company and immediately
returned to the Company upon termination of emplaythor upon request at any time.

12.13 Counterparts. This Offer Letter may be executed in counterpadsh of which shall be deemed to be an originabbwif which
together shall constitute one and the same insttume

12.14 Consultation with Counsel You acknowledge that you have conferred with youn @ounsel with respect to this Offer Letter, and
that you understand the restrictions and limitatitdrat it imposes upon your conduct.

Carlos, please indicate your acceptance of thex & returning one signed original of this Offeatter.

Yours truly,

LA

Jerry Fowden, CEO Cott Corporati

| accept this offer of employment and agree todngnll by the terms and conditions listed herein.

/sl Carlos Baile September 17, 201
Carlos Baila Date




Exhibit A
Definitions

“ Affiliate ” shall mean, with respect to any person or erftigrein the ‘first party "), any other person or entity that directs or redtly

controls, or is controlled by, or is under commontcol with, such first party. The term “control$ ased herein (including the terms “controlled
by” and “under common control with”) means the ges$on, directly or indirectly, of the power t9: \{bte 50% or more of the outstanding
voting securities of such person or entity, ordiflerwise direct or significantly influence themagement or policies of such person or entity by
contract or otherwise.

“ Business’ shall mean the business of manufacturing, seltindistributing carbonated soft drinks, juicestevand other non-alcoholic
beverages to the extent such other non-alcoholierbges contribute, or are contemplated or prajetcteontribute, materially to the profits of
the Company at the time of termination of your emgpient.

“ Cause” shall mean your:

(a) willful failure to properly carry out your des and responsibilities or to adhere to the paliofethe Company after written notice
by the Company of the failure to do so, and sudbriaremaining uncorrected following an opportyriidr you to correct the failure within ten
(10) days of the receipt of such notice;

(b) theft, fraud, dishonesty or misappropriationtte gross negligence or willful misconduct, inkot the property, business or
affairs of the Company, or in the carrying out ofiy duties, including, without limitation, any bodeof the representations, warranties and
covenants contained herein;

(c) conviction of or plea of guilty to a criminaffence that involves fraud, dishonesty, theft alence;

(d) breach of a fiduciary duty owed to the Company;

(e) refusal to follow the lawful written reasonahled good faith direction of the Board; or

(f) failure to relocate to the greater metropolifeampa, Florida area within six months of the Empient Date.

“ Disability ” shall mean any incapacity or inability by youclmding any physical or mental incapacity, disedbess or affliction, which has
prevented or which will likely prevent you from peming the essential duties of your position for(6) consecutive months or for any
cumulative period of 125 business days (wheth@&obconsecutive) in any two (2) year peri



“ Good Reasor! shall mean any of the following:
(a) a material diminution in your title or assignmhéo you of materially inconsistent duties;

(b) a reduction in your then-current Annual Baskiyeor target bonus opportunity as a percentagenofial Base Salary, unless
such reduction is made applicable to all seniocetiees;

(c) relocation of your principal place of employrhéma location that is more than 50 miles awayrfyour principal place of
employment on the Employment Date, unless sucleaitm is effected at your request and with yoyraypal;

(d) a material breach by the Company of any prowssiof this Offer Letter, or any employment agreetnte which you and the
Company are parties, after written notice by yothefbreach and such failure remaining uncorrefectbaiving an opportunity for the Company
to correct such failure within ten (10) days of theeipt of such notice; or

(e) the failure of the Company to obtain the asgionpn writing of its obligation to perform thisft@r Letter by any successor to all
or substantially all of the business or assetd®@ompany within fifteen (15) days after a mergensolidation, sale or similar transaction.

“ Territory " shall mean the countries in which the Company itsmdubsidiaries conduct the Business or in wktiehCompany plans to conduct
the Business within the following 12 mont|



Exhibit B
Form of Release

RELEASE AGREEMENT

In consideration of the mutual promises, paymentsteenefits provided for in the Offer Letter betwe&&OTT Corporation (the Corporation ™)
and Carlos Baila (the Employee”) dated September 17, 2012, the Corporation aadethployee agree to the terms of this Release Awee
Capitalized terms used and not defined in this &s&eAgreement shall have the meanings assignextdhierthe Offer Letter.

1.

The Employee acknowledges and agrees that the 2diqrois under no obligation to offer the Employke payments and benefits
forth in Section 6.2 of the Offer Letter unless Eraployee consents to the terms of this Releaseekgent. The Employee further
acknowledges that he/she is under no obligatimotsent to the terms of this Release Agreementretdhe Employee has entered into
this agreement freely and voluntari

In consideration of the payment and benefits sih o the Offer Letter and the Corporaf's release set forth in paragraph 5,

Employee voluntarily, knowingly and willingly relses and forever discharges the Corporation arkffitmtes, together with its and their
respective officers, directors, partners, sharedrslcemployees and agents, and each of its andptieeiecessors, successors and assigns
(collectively, “Releasee$), from any and all charges, complaints, claimenpises, agreements, controversies, causes ohaatib
demands of any nature whatsoever that the Emplolykis/her executors, administrators, successaassigns ever had, now have or
hereafter can, shall or may have against the Redsdsy reason of any matter, cause or thing whagsaeising prior to the time of signing
of this Release Agreement by the Employee. Thaseldeing provided by the Employee in this Reldageement includes, but is not
limited to, any rights or claims relating in anyyua the Employee’s employment relationship with @orporation or any its Affiliates, or
the termination thereof, or under any statute uidiclg, but not limited to thEmployment Standards Act, 200heHuman Rights Codge
theWorkplace Safety and Insurance Astemployment provisions, tl@ccupational Health & Safety ActhePay Equity Act theLabor
Relations Ac, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964theAge Discrimination in Employment Achs amended by ti@lder Workers’
Benefit Protection A¢, theFamily and Medical Leave A¢ctand theAmericans With Disabilities A¢tor pursuant to any other applicable
law or legislation governing or related to his/kerployment or other engagement with the Corporafible Employee is aware of his
rights under thédluman Rights Codand represents, warrants, and hereby confirmsthat not asserting such rights, alleging thatsargf
rights have been breached, or advancing a humhts ri¢gaim or complaint. In no event shall this Reke apply to the Employee’s right, if
any, to indemnification, under the Employee’s ergpient agreement or otherwise, that is in effecthendate of this Release and, if
applicable, to the Corporation’s obligation to main in force reasonable director and officer iaswe in respect of such indemnification
obligations.

The Employee acknowledges and agrees that he/alash) directly or indirectly, seek or further batitled to any personal recovery
any lawsuit or other claim against the Corporatioany other Releasee based on any event aristrgf the matters released in paragraph
2.



Nothing herein shall be deemed to release: (i)arlie Employe’s continuing rights under the Offer Letter; or @iy of the veste

benefits that the Employee has accrued prior tal#te this Release Agreement is executed by thddyegunder the employee benefit
plans and arrangements of the Corporation or aiitg éfffiliates; or (i) any claims that may arisdter the date this Release Agreement is
executed

In consideration of the Employ’s release set forth in paragraph 2, the Corpor&tiowingly and willingly releases and forever diaades
the Employee from any and all charges, complaghsns, promises, agreements, controversies, cafisesion and demands of any
nature whatsoever that the Corporation now haggditer can, shall or may have against him/heehgon of any matter, cause or thing
whatsoever arising prior to the time of signingha§é Release Agreement by the Corporation, providedever, that nothing herein is
intended to release (i) any claim the Corporati@y fmave against the Employee for any illegal cohduarising out of any illegal
conduct, (ii) any recovery of incentive compengapaid to the Employee pursuant to the Dodd-Fraall Btreet and Consumer
Protection Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002esutegulations and listing standards promulgdteretinder, or Company policies
implementing the same as may be in effect from tionEme.

The Employee acknowledges that he has carefulty aed fully understands all of the provisions afidats of the Offer Letter and th
Release Agreement. The Employee also acknowletigeshie Corporation, by this paragraph 6 and elsesythas advised him/her to
consult with an attorney of his/her choice priositgning this Release Agreement. The Employee septs that, to the extent he/she
desires, he/she has had the opportunity to revieaRelease Agreement with an attorney of his/heice.

The Employee acknowledges that he/she has beerdatige opportunity to consider the terms of thideRse Agreement for a period o
least forty-five (45) days, although he/she may sigooner should he/she desire. The Employebdughall have seven (7) additional
days from the date of signing this Release Agre¢noerevoke his/her consent hereto by notifyingwiiting, the General Counsel of the
Corporation. This Release Agreement will not becefifiective until seven days after the date on wiiiehEmployee has signed it without
revocation,

Dated:

Carlos Baila (Employee



COTT CORPORATION

Per

Name:
Title:

Per

Name:
Title:
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EXHIBIT 21.1

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES OF COTT CORPORATION

Name of Subsidiary
Cott Holdings Inc

Cott USA Finance LL(

Cott USA Corp.

Cott Beverages Iné

Northeast Retailer Brands LL

Cott Vending Inc

Cott Luxembourg S.ar.

Interim BCB, LLC

Northeast Finco Inc

Cott NE Holdings Inc

Caroline LLC

Cliffstar LLC

Cott U.S. Acquisition LLC

Cott U.S. Holdings LLC

Star Real Property LL!

Cott IP Holdings Corg

BCB International Holding

BCB European Holding

Cott Acquisition Limitec

Cott Acquisition LLC

Cott UK Acquisition Limited

Cott Retail Brands Limite

Cott Europe Trading Limite

Cott Beverages Limite

Cott Limited

Cott Nelson (Holdings) Limite

Cott (Nelson) Limitec

Cott Private Label Limite

Cott Retail Brands Netherlands E

2011438 Ontario Ltc

804340 Ontario Ltd

Cott Embotelladores de Mexico, S.A. de C

Mexico Bottling Services, S.A. de C.

Servicios Gerenciales de Mexico, S.A. de C

Cott do Brasil Industria, Comercio, Importaca
Exportacao de Bebidas e Concentrados

Cott International Trading, Lt

Cott International SRI

Cott (Barbados) IBC Ltc

Cott Investment, L.L.C

967979 Ontario Limite:

156775 Canada In

Cott (Hong Kong) Limitec

Cott (Shanghai) Trading Co., Lt

Cott Maquinaria y Equipo, S.A. de C.

AD Personales, S.A. de C.

Direct or
Indirect
Percentage

Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization of Ownership

Delaware 10(%
Delaware 10(%
Georgia 10C%
Georgia 10C(%
Delaware 51%
Delaware 10(%
Luxembourg 10(%
Delaware 100%
Delaware 100%
Delaware 100%
Delaware 10(%
Delaware 10(%
Delaware 100%
Delaware 100%
Delaware 100%
Delaware 10(%
Cayman Island 10(%
Cayman Island 10C(%
United Kingdom 10C%
Delaware 10(%
United Kingdom 10(%
United Kingdom 10(%
United Kingdom 10C%
United Kingdom 10(%
United Kingdom 100(%
United Kingdom 10(%
United Kingdom 10(%
United Kingdom 10(%
Netherland: 100%
Ontario 10(%
Ontario 10(%
Mexico 10(%
Mexico 100%
Mexico 100%
Brazil 10(%
Barbados 10(%
Barbados 100%
Barbados 100%
Delaware 10(%
Ontario 10(%
Canads 10(%
Hong Kong 100%
China 100%
Mexico 10(%
Mexico 10(%

This entity also does business as Cott Beveragds O8tt International, Cott Concentrates and RCaGoternational, each of which is
division of Cott Beverages In



EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referéme¢lee Registration Statements on Form S-8 (FienNer 333-151812, 333-122974,
333-108128, 333-56980 and 333-166507) and FornfFHe8Number 333-182100) of our report dated Felyr@a, 2013 relating to the financial
statements, financial statement schedule and feetieeness of internal control over financial repa, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers L
Tampa, Floride
February 27, 201




EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jerry Fowden, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Cott Corporation

Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omsttéde a material fact necessanr
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts under which such statements were made, nigtagiisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ cdimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi:
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, angdtfie periods presented in this rep

The registrar's other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contamld procedures (as defin
in Exchange Act Rules13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) atetrial control over financial reporting (as definie Exchange Act Rules13a-15(f)
and 15«15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and proceduites tiesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhsibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrithe period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipg; or caused such internal control over finaheagorting to be designed unc
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuraryagdang the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegsitierally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regis’s disclosure controls and procedures and presémthis report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #pent based on such evaluation;

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regit’s internal control over financial reporting thatored during the registré' s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fofigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo# ttas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrar's other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdzhon our most recent evaluation of internal abmatver financial reporting
to the registrar's auditors and the audit committee of the regit's board of directors (or persons performing thevedent functions)

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contra¢iofinancial reporting which ai
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and repmhcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmagement or other employees who have a significéain the registra’s
internal control over financial reportin

/sl Jerry Fowdel

Jerry Fowder

Chief Executive Office
Dated: February 27, 20:




EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jay Wells, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Cott Corporation

Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omsttéde a material fact necessanr
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts under which such statements were made, nigtagiisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ cdimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi:
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, angdtfie periods presented in this rep

The registrar's other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contamld procedures (as defin
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))imtetnal control over financial reporting (as definin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15«15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and proceduites tiesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhsibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrithe period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipg; or caused such internal control over finaheagorting to be designed unc
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuraryagdang the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegsitierally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regis’s disclosure controls and procedures and presémthis report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #pent based on such evaluation;

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regit’s internal control over financial reporting thatored during the registré' s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fofigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo# ttas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrar's other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdzhon our most recent evaluation of internal abmatver financial reporting
to the registrar's auditors and the audit committee of the regit's board of directors (or persons performing thevedent functions)

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contra¢iofinancial reporting which ai
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and repmhcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmagement or other employees who have a significéain the registra’s
internal control over financial reportin

/sl Jay Wells

Jay Wells

Chief Financial Office
Dated: February 27, 20:




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 ASADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION
906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002.

The undersigned, Jerry Fowden, Chief Executivec®ffof Cott Corporation (the “Company”), has exeduhis certification in connection
with the filing with the Securities and Exchangen@oission of the Company’s Annual Report on FornKlf@r the year ended December 29,
2012 (the “Report™).

The undersigned hereby certifies that to the bielsiscknowledge:
The Report fully complies with the requirementsSeftttion13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExchangeoAd934; and

The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial cbadiand results of operations of the
Company.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executiscctrtification as of the 27 day of February, 2013

/sl Jerry Fowdel
Jerry Fowdet
Chief Executive Office




EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 ASADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION
906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002.

The undersigned, Jay Wells, Chief Financial Office€ott Corporation (the “Companyfas executed this certification in connection
the filing with the Securities and Exchange Cominis®f the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-Ktfee year ended December 29, 2012
(the “Report”).

The undersigned hereby certifies that to the bielsiscknowledge:
The Report fully complies with the requirementsSeftction13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExchangeoAd934; and

The information contained in the Report fairly @ets, in all material respects, the financial cbadiand results of operations of the
Company.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executiscctrtification as of the 27 day of February, 2013

/sl Jay Wells
Jay Wells
Chief Financial Office




